he ubiquitous
Wikipedia defines
sustainable
development as ‘a pattern of
resource use that aims fo meet
human needs while preserving
the environment so that these
needs can be met not only
in the present, but also for
generations tc come... The field
of sustainable development
can be conceptually broken
into three constituent parts:
environmental  sustainabhility,
economic sustainability and
socio-political sustainability’.
The Chamber recognises

a fourth pillar of sustainable

development, in that it

seperates social equity and

effective government.

If one were to relate the above guotation to the mining industry in general and to the Chamber in particular,
one would find innumerable instances where the values and aims of sustainable development go hand in hand
with the values and aims of the mining industry. The Chamber’s decision to-support government's white paper
on mining rights ownership is a case in point as are the 16 priority issues that emanated from the Mbulwa
meeting, which fundamentally changed the attitude and approach of the mining industry and the Chamber.
Another example can be found in the Chamber’s response to the economic crisis and the establishment, by the
tripartite partners, of the Mining Industry Growth, Development and Employment Task Tearm (MIGDETT), The
focus of which is to develop long-term strategies for the industry to again take up its historical role as the most

valuable contributor to the country’s growth and socio-economic development.

The Chamber and the mining industry are committed to promote the sustainable growth and development of

mining and the entire economy of our country.
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' s | retire at
A the end of
. this year, this

is my last review as
Chief
the

Executive  of
Chamber of
Mines, Given these
circumstances, | thought
it would be appropriate
to  highlight some of
the evenis that have
characterised my 12-year
journey at the helm of
this organisation.

My jourmmey at the
Chamber of Mines of
South Africa started in
1988, when | joined the

organisation as

Zoli Diliza
Chief Executive chief
executive. It has been a

fascinating, yet challenging journey on which | have
enjoyed many vigorous debates with stakeholders
both locally and internationally on a wide variety
of mining matters and other related topics, some
of which have helped to shape the mining industry
and elevated the profile of the Chamber to where

it is today.

Oursuccess and effectiveness as an organisation
have largely been buoyed by the wisdom, support
and encouragement of the Chamber's Executive
Council, our stakeholders, government and
labour. We have been able to overcome even the
most vexing impasses faced hy the industry over
the iast decade because of a common vision of

prosperity for the industry and the country.
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During my tenure as chief executive, the Ghamber
was confronied with a number of difficult issues,
but we managed to navigate these successfully
and contribute effectively to the strategic direction
of the industry. Looking back at some of these
challenges and at the Chamber’s interventions, |
am exceedingly proud to have been associated
with this organisation during these sometimes

difficult times.

| joined the Chamber four years into South
Africa’s new democracy. The fledgling government
was on the verge of changing certain legislation
and introducing a number of policies in different
sectors. It was, therefore, not a surprise when,
in 1898, changes in mining and mineral policies
were also proposed. The Chamber’s decision to
support government’s white paper on mining rights
ownership was a strateg'ic one. The expectation
was that the industry would resist change and
object to the state being the custodian of the
country’s mineral resources. This expectation
reflected the perceptions that the new government
had of the mining industry. Supporting government
on this ground-breaking issue indicated that the
industry was committed and willing to change the
profile of owners'h’lp in mining.

In the late 1980s, government, labour and
business (represented by the Chamber) attended
the Gold Crisis Summit at Mbulwa in Mpumalanga
in an effort to rescive the adverse conditions in the
gold sector. The gold price in 1998 had reached a
20-year low of US$294.14, about 11% lower than
the average of 1997, The threat of gold sales by
central banks was a major contributor and cause

of the persistent decline in the gold price. This,

nhl¢
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From left to right: Bobby Godsell, Zoi Diliza and Nick Segal

coupled with a number of upheavals in the financial
markets put a strain on the gold mining industry and
draslic steps had to be taken to keep the industry
functioning. The conditions proposed at Mbulwa
meant that the gold industry had to restructure and
reorganise itself. While retrenchments, in relation
to restructuring, meant that the industry had to
deal with labour relations cases, the situation also
presented an opportunity for companies ic address

work-place transformation.

The momentous Mbulwa meeting prompted
the Chamber to propose 16 priority issues to
stakeholders, most of which were accepted and
later published as the Mbulwa Minute, Mbulwa
was a defining moment for the Chamber, as it
changed from being a service provider for the
mining industry tc an advocacy and lobbying
agency dedicated to the promotion of the mining

industry and management of its concerns.

This willingness of the Chamber to engage and

chamber of mines cf south africa

support government in its transformation agenda,
led government to consult the Chamber on a
number of important mining-related legislative
issues. Some of the policies that the Chamber
influenced included the Minerals Development
Bill, on which the Chamber lobbled government
on fundamental principles that were subsequently
reflected in the Bil. From 1997 to 1998, the
Chamber participated in Nedlac’s Private Sector
Export Advisory Committee in & successful attempt
to influence export and trade policy. The Chamber
also gave substantial input into the drafling of the
Mineral and Petroleum Resources Davelopmant
Act, the Precious Metals and Diamond General

Amendment Bill and many other pieces of

_legislation; and was instrumental in shaping the

broad-based economic charter,

The Chambers influence was alsc felt
internationally. For example, in 1992 during

the gold price crisis that was a result of the

M
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announcements by the [nternational Monetary
Fund {IMF) and the British Treasury to dispose of
some of their reserves, the Chamber succesfully
lobbied the Department of Finance not to support
the IMF in this endeavour. The Chamber, together
with the National Union of Mineworkers (NUM)
marched to the British High Commission and the
Swiss Embassy o persuade their governments
1o reverse their central bank decisions to dispose
of their reserves. This was closely followed by an
international road show by the triparﬁte partners
to protest the proposed IMF sales and seek wider
support for the suspension of future ceniral bank

sales.

In 2004, the Chamber lobbied vigorously against
the World Bank extractive industries review, which
sought to curtail World Bank investment support for
mining projects. [n 2008, the Chamber embarked
on an advocacy and lobbying campaign against the
propesed European Parliament’s legislation known
as the Registration, Evaluation and Authorisation of
Chemicals (REACH). While the Chamber endorsed
the objectives of REACH (to protect human health
and the environment), it expressed its concerns
that the scope included ores and concentrates of
inorganic minerals, which regulations would have
been disastrous to the sub-Saharan region, that
exports mainly to couniries that are members of

the Eurcpean Union.

The well-being of mining industry employees has
always been a priority for the Chamber. In 2003,
in an effort to reduce fatalities on the mines, the
Chamber committed to specific safety targets and
10-year milestones at the Ming Health and Safety

Surmmit. The mining industry committed %o a target
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of zero fatfalities and injuries, to occupational
safety, and the elimination of occupational silicosis
and noise induced hearing loss. There has been a
significant improvement in the safety performance
of the industry since the mid-1990s and today the
number of fatalities has declined by more than
50%. However, the Chamber and its members are
still not satisfied with the industry’s safety record
and have embarked on & proactive health and
safety programme and launched several important
initiatives. One of which, in 2008, was when chief
executives of Chamber member companies came
iogether to strategise, share best practices and
learn from each other on the best ways to improve
These

executives committed their companies to a policy

the working environments on mines.

of zero harm in the mining industry and the view

that safety must come before profit.

On the economic front, 2008'was a very difficult
year for the world economy, global industry and,
closer to home, the mining industry. it was during
the period of the worst global recession since the
1930s that Eskom imposed a ‘force majeure’,
effectively closing the mining industry for almost a
week; mines were reduced to an immediate 50%
electricity usage level. The Chamber was involved
in the task teamé established to find solutions
to the electricity crisis and to promote electricity

conservation and efficiency.

In 2008, in response to the economic crisis,
the Chamber partnered with government and
labour in establishing the Mining Industry Growth,

Development Task Team

and Employment
(MIGDETT). The focus of the task team was initially

on shott-term survival strategies, while striving

M¥ chamber of mines of south africa




e

From laft to right: Senzeni Zokwana

to develop a long-term strategy to reposition
the mining industry as a valuable contributor
fo the country's growth and socio-economic
development. MIGDETT also aimed to identify
impediments to the growth of the sector since
it was becoming clear to all stakehoiders that
the industry’s reputation as a good investment
sector was deteriorating. According to the
Strategy for Sustainable Growth and Meaningful
Transformation of South Africa’s Mining Industry
document compiled by MIGDETT for the summit,
“a regression analysis over a petiod of 16 years to
2009 indicates that the aggregate performance of
South Africa’s mining industry has contracted by
one per cent relative to a global average [growth]
of five per cent”.

MIGDETT participants agreed that higher levels of

giobal competitiveness were needed in the sector

(NUM), Minister Susan

Shabangu (DMR) and Sipho Nkosi (Chamber of Mines)

chamber of mines of scuth africa
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and the task team developed a mining industry
strategy for sustainable growih and meaningful
transformation. Existing hindrances were identified
and the role players agreed that transformation
ahd competitiveness issues were interdependent,
The draft strategy was made public and further

enhanced after the mining summit in March 2010,

The agreement reached at that summit
cuiminated in the signing of a joint mining
declaration by government, labour and business
in June 2010. The joint declaration, over which
the minister of mineral resources, Minister
Susan 8habangu, presided, has the following 13

commitments:

s promote investment
» establish a long-term infrastructure planning
mechanism

* innovate

M
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* accelerate exploration

» add value through beneficiation

* promote the country’s ranking as an
investment destination

¢« develop skills

* advance employment equity

* boost near-mine communities

¢ convert hostels into family units by 2014

¢ develop enterprises through procurement

+ realise 26% equity ownership by 2014

* moniter and evaluate the implementation of

the joint declaration.

The significance of this declaration is that
it is a joint government, labour and business
initiative. All the stakeholders agree that growth
and transformation are interdependent and the
achievement of these two vital objectives will
ensure that South Africa is well positioned for
the next global commodities boom. This is the
reason our theme for this year's annual report is:

“Sustainable growth and development in mining”.

The commitments in the declaration were also
contained and expanded upon in the revised
Mining Charter, which was published on 20
September 2010. In the revised Charter, some of
the targets weré specified in more detail and new
targets relating 1o the sustainability of the mining
industry were added, and the scorecard was
improved. Contrary to what some stakeholders
havereportedly asserted, the Department of Mineral
Resources (DMR) had in fact consulted with ali
stakeholiders in the process of drafting the revised
Charter. The Chamber is satisfied that the outcome
is a reasonably balanced Charter. The views of no

single stakeholder are fully accommodated, but
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the Chamber and iis members are fully committed
to ensure that the revised Charter is implemented

not only in the letter hut aliso in the spirit,

in 2009, the Chamber celebrated 120 years of
service to the mining industry. At an event to mark
this important milestone, the country’s deputy
president, the Honourable Kgalema Motlante,
remarked that, “the success of the next 120 years
of South Africa’s mining industry can be greatly
facilitated by creating an environment that enables
the industry to perform optimally and perpetuate
its established role as a creator of jobs and a

generator of wealth”.

The role of the Chamber in creating such an
environment cannct be underestimated. In the
publication, 720 years... and counting, produced
to commemorate the event, | indicated that
the Chamber has succeeded because of its
unequivocal commitment to ‘promote, serve
and protect’ the mining industry in South Africa.
It is this dedication, iogether with its ability to
embrace change, that has made It possible for
it to succeed where other such affiliations have

falled.

There were many ofher issues of concern for the
Chamber during the year under review. The call for
the nationalisation of mines by the youth leagus
of the African National Congress reverberated
around the media and in debates for most of the
year. Athough the Chamber has a position on the
issue, the organisation feels thai it is premature
to engage in this debate, since it was made quite
clear by government, (Minister Susan Shabangu
and President Jacob Zuma) that it is not an ANC or

government policy.

AN
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Bheki Sibiya
Chief Executive Designate

Environmental matters, especially legacy issues
continued to dominate media reports, The two most
contenticus issues during the year under review
were derslict and ownerless mines and acid mine
drainage. The Chamber joined the debate and made
presentations to government portfolio committees
on these issues. The Chamber emphasised the fact
that most of the problems were legacy issues, and
therefore government’s responsibitity. However, it
must be stressed that mining companies and the
industry in general are assisting in rehabilitating
abandoned sites. The Chamber is also intimately
involved in finding ways to manage acid mine
drainage.

As | retire at the end of 2010, | am comfortable
that, although there are still a number of unresolved
challenges, the organisation | leave behind is equal
1o the task and has willing, capable and responsible
officlals and leadership to steer it forward. | now
leave the Chamber in the most capable hands of
Bhekokuhle “Bheki” Sibiya, who takes over as chief

executive on 1 January 2011,

Mr Sibiya joined the Chamber in July 2010 as

chamber of mines of south africa

chief executive designate and is working very
closely with my team and me. | am confident that

when he takes over in 2011, the transition will be

seamless.

A highly respected member of the South African
business community, he has ¢considerable business
experience and a well-developed management
profile. The Chamber president, Sipho Nkosi, put
it well in his media statement of 2 February 2010,
which stated that: “he [Bheki Sibiya] wili be of
great value to the Chamber in all of its strategic
and operaticnal activities, | have no doubt that he
will be most effective in adding value to the well-
structured and successful foundations of Chamber

business activity”.

In conclusion, | am cognisant of the fact that my
journey would not have been possible if it Weré not
for the support and willingness of the Chamber and
its stakeholders to work together for the benefit
of the sector. | have grown in the industry and am
humbled that | was given an opportunity to steer
this organisation through the economic, political,
legal, social and other irals that threatened its
existence. | am deeply aware that | would not have
managed this demanding challenge were it not for
the Chamber’s workforce, government and union

ieadership,

| can only advise the Chamber's new chief
executive to listen to the voices of the Chamber
staff, who serve the Chamber with dedication and
distinction. The Chamber members will support you,
as they did me. They are unequivocally dedicated
to the success of the secter and the upliftment

and increased prosperity of all the people of South

i<

Africa.
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effot  to

reposition the South

n an
African mining
industry, the sector has
developed strategies
¢  address identified
shortcomings, signed a
E joint mining declaration
with 13  commitments,
reviewed and

the

and
amended Mining

Charter. The recent policy

changes have created
a great deal of expectation both nationally and
internationally. In such circumstances, where
strategic devalopments occcur, communication is
essential. Communications with stakeholders on
such major develo_pments and changes provides
much needed information and helps to manage

uncertainty and perceptions,

Understanding that clear, consistent and
honest communication is vital to the successful
implementation of strategies and policies, the
Chamber's Communications Department has,
in partnership with the Department of Mineral
Resources (DMR), begun work on an industry-
wide communication strategy. A communication
strategy framework has already been developed
and the task team is now working on an extensive
communications, marketing and stakeholder

engagement strategy.

Key to the success of this strategy is awareness
that strategic and continuous communication will
lend credibility to the industry’s endeavours to

sirategically reposition itself. However, it should also

be noted that disparity or lack of communication
and poorly communicated or packaged information
could lead to distrust, dissatisfaction, skepticism,

cynicism and even resistance.

Media engagement

The Chamber procured the services of Media
Tenor to conduct a media analysis on the
Chamber’s media coverage in an effort to estabiish
whether or not there was an improvement in its
engagement with the media during the vyear
under review. The findings of the analysis and the
compariscn between the previous year and the
current year indicate that the media’s perception
of the Chamber in the previous year fluctuated
as the industry battled challenges such as power
rationing, labour issues and political debates.
However during the year u'nde.r review, the media’s
perception of the Chamber was that it managed to
navigate some of these as well as a host of other

issues much more consistently.

The report further indicated that the Chamber’s
share of coverage improved by 35% during the
reporting period, but showed there is a noticeable
dearth of stakehoidersupport within the media. The
analysis also revealed that the tone of journalistic
input on the mining industry is greatly influenced
by context, resulting in often ‘sensational’
coverage. However, one observable trend is that
journalists displayed increased optimism when
reporting on the measures mining’s tripartite
pariners (government, labour and business) have
taken during this period to lessen the impact
of the economic recessicn and the strategic

engagements undertaken by the sector.

M
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During the year under review the Chamber
intensified its media engagement strategy in both
print and electronic media. Media coverage was
mainly on environmental issues; processes around
MIGDETT; safety in mining; the 120 year anniversary
of the Chamber; the imminent retirement of the
chief executive, Zoli Diliza and the appointment
of the chief execulive designate, Bheki Sibiya.
Besides the mainsiream media, publications with
a longer sheif life were also targeted. Coverage
was recelved In publications like Deep SA where
the focus was on health and safety, transformation
in mining, African Analyst Quarterly and Upper
Reach.

Publications

The Chamber continues 1o publish a range

of books, reports and newslstters, which

contain information related 1o ' its lobbying
and advocacy role. Sorﬁe of the publications are
regular and some ad hoc and are used to inform
with the Chamber's different

and interact

audiences;

Mining: the Chamber’s flagship
publication

After numerous requests from its stakehoiders, the
Chamber revived its flagship pubtication, Mining.
This high quality, informative publication represents
the best thinking on mining relaled issues and
promotes greater global awareness of ail‘faceis of
mining in South Africa. It covers a range of mining-
related issues and impartially analyses on the state

of the industry in South Africa.

The publication continues to be produced

guarterly and targets a selected local and
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international investment audience comprising
analysts, financiers, and policy and decision-
makers in government and elsewhere.

Mining News

The GChamber the

information needs of the industry’s worldforce. This

continues tc recognise
important Chamber stakeholder is kept informed
of events taking place in the industry via Mining
News, a widely distributed and interactive monthly

newspapet.

Mining News focuses on all levels of mine
erhployees and their families. Miners are
encouraged to contribute to the publication, since
their perspective is vital to the success and future
of the industry. The information contained in the
newspaper empowers employees to become
better informed and respone;ible partners in the
economic prosperity of the mining sector in South
Africa. The newspaper has also become a useful
teaching tool in adult basic education and training

(ABET) classes.
Website

The Chamber website (WWW.buIIion.org.za OF Www,
chamberofmines.org.za) is a highly informative,
user-friendly communication teol, It aiso provides
links to a host of important sources. The Chamber
continues to extend the range of the website to
provide up-to-date informationforinvestors, market
analysts, researchers and other interested parties,
The information on the website is concise and well
packaged; the pages are clearly differentiated and
product focused,

Facts & Figures

Facts & Figures provides statistical mining sector

N
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data as well as supporting information, comments
and analyses. This is an annual publication,
which highlights data that can be used to support
decision-making. ft is an invaluable source of
mining information and statistics on the mining
industry in South Africa, bringing together general
mining industry information and product-specific
data from a host of sources, including Statistics
Scuth Africa, the Minerals Bureay, the South African
Reserve Bank, the mining houses and government

departments,
Introduction to the Chamber

This is an annual publication that gives an overview
of the Chamber and how this organisation functions.
It is a useful publication for new members in the
Executive Council, Gold Producers and Colliries
commitiees as it gives insight into the Chamber
committees; benefiis of chamber membership;

current projects and programmes; challenges, ete.
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Ad hoc

During the year under review, the Chamber
produced a publication #7120 years... and counting”,
to commemorate 120 years of service to the mining
industry. The pubilication highlighted the history
of the Chamber, the role this organisation played
in the development of the country’s economy,
the challenges it faced during its 120 vear
history and it also iooked at the future of the

organisation.

Stakeholder engagement

During the vyear under review, the Chamber
celebrated its 120-year anniversary. Chamber
stakeholders joined in the celebration and helped
o ensure that the event that marked this milestone

was a great success.

Some stakeholders, lke the Johannesburg
Museum, provided most of the material and props
used for the exhibition. Government, labour and
some Chamber members exhibited at the event
while others provided sponsorships. Support was
also received from the Presidency, as the deputy
president, the Honourable Kgalema Motlanthe,

graced the event as a guest speaker.

Some high-level meetings between the Chamber
office bearers and the leadership of the DMR were
organised by the Communications Depariment
during the year. The discussions proved invaluable
as they affrmed the critical role piayéd by ali
stakeholders in the mining industry and the need
for the alliance partners to continue working

tegether.

Engagements with the Portfolic Committee of

Mineral Resources and its chairperson, Fred Gono,

M{Q chamber of mines of south africa
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continue. The Chamber
was also invited by this
committee to introduce
presentalions on various
issues. Several meetings
+ werearranged betweenthe
Chamber's chief executive
and the chairperson of the

Portfolio Committee.

International
Relations

In promoting the interests
of the mining industry in
South Africa, the Chamber
participates in a number
of forums that are active
in international debates and the development of
policy positions on issues affecting the mining

industry.

Mining Industry Association of
Southern Africa

MIASA, an association of the six Chambers of
Mines (Botswana, Namibia, Seuth Africa, Tanzania,
Zambia and Zimbabwe) operating in the Southern
Africa Development Community (SADC), to play a
sighificant role in fhe mining sector. The Chamber
continues to provide secretarial services to this

organisation.

During the period under review representatives
of the members of MIASA met twice, in Zanzibar
on 7 August 2009 and in Cape Town on 6 February
2010. Major policy issues considered included the
harmonisation of mining policies in the SADC, the

nationalisation of mines, government involvement

5l

-

in mining operations and the declaration of
strategic minerals. It was agreed that a position

paper should be prepared on strategic minerals.

Members also adopted a strategy for MIASA

based on the following principles:
¢ MIASA is an independent organisation,

o  MIASA represents the regional mining

industry.

«  MIASA will interact with any legitimate
structure or organisation iﬁ Africa and
elsewhere to advocate positions that will
henefit the mining indus‘rry.

e MIASA will not compromise its independence
by allowing itself to become subservient to

any other regional or international structure,

Animportant aspect of the strategy was to maintain

and strengthen the strategic alliance with the SADC.

Other

While the Chamber’s presence continued 1o be
maintained in bodies such as the African Mining
Partnership and the Nepad Business Foundation,
the Chamber’s international relations aciivities
were more focused on associations such as
the Internationat Council on Mining and Metals
(ICMM). The issues addressed In these forums
were perceived o be more pertinent to the needs

of the Chamber during the year under review.

Through its membership in the ICMM, the
Chamber participated in and drew on international
experience on issues of sustainable development,
environmental management, health and safety,
mine closure, and relationships between large-

scale and smail-scale mining.
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he world
economy  expe-
rienced its first
recession in over B0 years
in early 2008 as global
gross domestic product
(GDP) contracted by 0.6%
and gicbal trade volumes
10.9%.

While the world economy

plummeted by
began to recover in
late 2009 and early
¢ 2010, the risk of further
financial market contagion spreading info the
real economy continues to weigh on the impetus
of the global recovery. Slow gains in advanced
gconomies, which are weighed down by sluggish
momentum and risks in the financial sector, the
need o gradually withdraw fiscal stimulus, the
modest improvement in consumer spending and
high unemployment rates, means that growth in
these regions is still performing below potential.
However, developing countries, especially in East
Asia, are providing a stimulus for growth and by
2014, based on a purchasing power parity basis,
they will comgprise over half of global GDP. The IMF
expects developing countries to grow by 6.8% in
2010, with Asia growing by 9.2%. Overall, global
economic improvement is expected to be higher
than 4% in 2010, and represents a reasonable

recovery from ihe global recession.

The mining industry was hard hit by the
recession, especially in the first half of 2009 as
concerns about stabilising the world economy

and falling commodity prices impacted on the
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sector. However, the global mining industry
responded quickly and mining companies cut
back on uneconomic production and restructured
their balance sheets. Tne gradual recovery of
the global ecohomy and strong growth in key
countries like China, helped stabilise commodity
markets. By mid-2008, mineral commodity prices
had bottomed and begun to recover. By the end
of 2009, the market capitalisation of the world’s
top 40 mining countries had improved to nearly

pre-crisis levels.

The PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) publication
Mine called its 2010 edition “Back io the Boom”. It
states that the global economy, driven by materials’
grth in developing countries, would provide
a collar or underlying support to commodity

markets.

By 2025, the McKinsey Materials Institute
projects that the Chinese economy will have a
billion urbanised people, which in turn requires the
construction of another 86 mega cities, each with

a population greater than 10 million peopie.

Despite having the world's largest in situ
mineral resource deposits by value (Citibank:
US$2.5-trillion}, the South African mining sector has
underperformed, In the 2001 to 2008 commodities
boom, the world’s top 20 mining countries achieved
an average mining GDP growth rate of 5% a year,
while South Africa’s mining sector GDP shrank by

1% a vyear.

South Africa, with its large mineral resource
base, established minerals clusters and world-
class companies should be achieving much

nigher growth rates. The potential of the industry

chamber of mines of south africa
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is recognised by government and industry, which
led to the formation of the MIGDETT.

The MIGDETT task tfeam

importance of competitiveness and transformation

recognised the

and conducted detailed research into the factors
inhibiting sustainable growth and meaningful
transformation. This culminated in a stakeholder
declaration signed at the end of June 2010, setting
out a range of issues that must be undertaken 1o
overcome growth and transformation constraints.
The prognosis is promising, and MIGDETT has
already achieved success by getting the mining

sector back onto government’s list of priorities.

The global economy

The worid’s economy weathered the global
financial storm and in early 2010 moved out of

recession and back 1o an above 4% growth rate.

e

Global trade and industrial production climbed to
higher levels, consumer confidence continued to
improve in early 2010 and economic developments
confirmed the expected gradual recovery from the
worst of the recession. However, confidence in the
recovery fell in mid-2010 as the unfolding Greek
sovereign debt crisis sent further shockwaves
through the world’s financial system, especially in
the Euro region. The relatively weak initial policy
response in Europe further fuelled concern over
the strength of the recovery, resulting in a scaling
back in the risk appetite of investors and sell offs
in various equity markets. The implementation of
the Euro Stabilisation Mechanism and the policies
aimed at restoring confidence in the banking sector,
should result in financial conditions improving in
the Euro zone, which in turn wilt diminish the risks

of further financial market contagion. Overall, the

IMF outlook for world economic growth for key regions
(source: IMF WEO April 2010 and July 2010)
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developing countries, driven by China and
India, will achieve high growth rates over the
next two years while advanced economies
recover, but with growth rates less than half

that of developing countries,

In the first quarter of 2010, global growth
on an annualised basis reached 5% and
this forced many economists to upgrade
growth prospects for 2010. The IMF World
Economic Outlook (WEQ) upgraded its growth
forecast for 2010 from 4% to 4.5% in the July
2010 WEQ update. The global recovery is
becoming more entrenched and the pace of
the recovery into 2011 will depend on credible
consolidation of fiscal support measures
and the gradual restoration of consumer and

business confidence.

At the olobal level there are a number of

indicators that show the pace of the recovery:

——

Composite leading indicator for key economies

=100

Index 2005

¢ The volume of global trade was 9.8% in the
firstquarter of 2010 and 14.3% in the secend

Growth rate in world trade in goods and services

{volume), both y-0-y and g-o-q (source: SAAR)
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gquarter. The World Trade Organisation
suggests that global trade could grow by

13.5% in 2010, the fastest ever expansion

in global trade since records were first keptv

in the 1950s.

The composite leading indicators of all
advanced economies and China improved
markedly.' Composite leading indicators
provide indicators of turning points in an
ecohomy inrelationtothat country’s potential
economlc growth rate (and so touch on
output gaps), which assist in providing an
indication of prospects for future economic

growth.

The global manufacturing purchasing

managers index (PM) reached 50 in July

M

United States —a— Eurcarea —¢— OECD-Total —— China
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Global steel production has recovered to pre-crisis levels {source: [ISI)
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2009, the so-called neutral point for the
first time since May 2008. The speed of
the recovery in the PMI, combined with its
sustainablity above pre-crisis levels, isa sign
that recovery in the global manufacturing
sector is taking hold. While the global
manufacturing PMI appears to have come
off its recent early 2010 highs, it remains in

strong positive territory.

Global steel production recovered to
above pre-crisis levels, despite continuing
weak recovery in key production areas like
Europe. The pressure of the global economic
crisis on steel production was mostly felt

in the advanced economies in late 2008,

21

S - 2010

. Total - North America

B ow-cis®

. Total — Other Europs

Total - European Union (27)
. China

although China’s production also siowed,
However, annualised global production
of steel in 2010 (based on the first six
months) at 1.4 billion tons, is the same as
the peak production recorded in 2008.
China is currehtly producing 45% of global
steel, driven by its own substantial indus-

trialisation and urbanhisation requirements.
Most metal and commeodity prices recovered

o pre-crisis levels, despite some inventory
overhang.

There are risks thal cculd temper the global

recovery, for example:

Financial contagion of the sovereign debt

crisis in certain European countries slowed
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Unemployment rates in the industrialised countries
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Euro zone recovery and weakened Europe’s
growth prospecis. However, the weakening
of the Euro exchange rate coupled with the
Europsan Stabilisation Package, should
cushion the impact, boost exports and help
compensate for the impact of the sovereign
debt,

Unemploymentratesinadvanced economies
remain high, which could continue to
dampen consumer confidence and affect

the pace of recovery.

There is also concern that the fiscal stimulus
and support provided by the advanced
sconomies to their financial sectors to avoid
a prolonged recession, may negatively

affect the advanced sconomies through

22

continued high fiscal deficits and rising
debt levels. A key risk factor to the global
recovery is the pace of withdrawal of fiscal
support measures by advanced economies
in the face of continued weak consumer

confidence.

{p"'“'--...__'_ Impact of the global recovery on

commodity prices

‘| Demand and prices for most minerals experienced

sharp declines in late 2008 and early 2008.
Traditionaily, commodity prices remain weak at the
end of a recession as the impact of over investment
in mine supply and weak demand caps commodity
price movements. However, at the end of this
recession, commodity prices rebounded relatively
quickly in the second quarter of 2008, despite
high inventory levels for manly commodities. The
change in sentiment, once the global economic
crisis was over and the demand drivers in emerging
economies were again in play, pushed up prices,
By 2010, the prices of most minerals had returned
fo pre-recession levels and most composite
commuodity indexes were on the road {o recovery.
In July 2010, the recovery in commodity prices
appeared to stutter, but by the beginning of August
2010 had resumed their upward trajectory.

There is a growing body of evidence that
suggests that the global financial crisis temporarily
paused the structurally driven commodity
boom that had been in play from 2001 tc 2008.
According to the United Nations, an additional
three billion people are expectaed to move to urban

areas between 2010 and 2050. This has important

- implications for the demand for industrial and steel

y
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Economists All Metals Index, US$ terms, base indexed to October 2001 to August 2010
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making minerals such as iron ore, manganese,
chrome, zinc, coppet, aluminium and platinum

group metais.

China dominates the demand for a wide range of
commodities and this is likely to coniinue over the

course of the next decade.

By 2014, developing economies, including fast
growing China and India, will comprise over half
of global GDP and more than 82% of the world’s

population.

Fixed investment rates in deveioping countries
will remain high to accomrmodate new cities and
assoclated infrastructure. The IMF expects that
gross fixed capital formration rates in developing
countries will remain above the 30% of GDP for

the foreseeable future.

2008 2007 2008 2008 2050

Impact of the economic crisis on
the mining industry

Investment and exploration in mining peaked at
USs$116-billion in 2008. To sustain this investment,
mining companies increased their exposure to debt
gearing to an average of 32% in 2008 from a low of
12,6% in 2005. As aresult of the recession and the
retraction in derﬁand and prices of minerals, mining
companies began to cut costs. They reviewed their
expenditure on capital investment and exploration,
with the result that global mining investment and
exploration declined to about half the 2008 peak
in 2009.

According to the Metals Economics Group,
global non-ferrous metals exploration budgets
fell by 456% in 2008 to US$7.3-billion, when

Mk
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compared to US$13.2-billion spent in 2008.
(Grassroots expioration was hit hard as established
mining companies concentrated on core projects.
Similarly, exploration by junior resource companies
fell sharply. Cutbacks in exploration expenditure at
the greenfields level may have implications for the
number of new projects available to be developed

in the next five to 10 years.

Not only did mining companies cut back on
discretionary exploration expenditures, they also
cut back on uheconomic production and set about
restructuring their debt. By 2009, the gearing ratio
for the top 40 mining companies had fallen to 17%,
making the companies much more robust.

In its 2010 publication, PwC highlights the
periormance of the top 40 mining companies,
2008 was a tough year for them as revenues

declined by 15%, profit was down 26% and cash

24

flow from operations declined by 27%. The market
capitalisation of the mining companies has now

returned to pre-crisis levels.

A key factor for the top 40 mining companies is
that they managed to sustain capital investment on
long-term, low-cost projects during the recession,
which should assist their recovery. The level of
capital investment for the top 10 minerals by the top
40 mining companies did not fall precipitousty and
US$64-billion was spent on capital investment in
2009, The confidence of the large mining companies
should feed through inte growing production in
2010 and 2011, The minerals with good long-term
prospects atiracted the most investment, with iron
ore getting US$9.5-billion, gold US$7.5-billion,
copper US$7-billion and coal US$5.6-billion.

The Introduction of an EBIT profit-based royalty
in South Africa, which is a subset of the country’s
minerals policy reform process, illusirates the
adoption of cutting-edge global practice, as

opposed to a tax grab. This royaity provides a

Large-scale non-ferrous global exploration

{source: MEG)
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PwC survey of top 40 mining companies Mine: back to the boom key indicators, 2009
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smooth mechanism for government to share in
the upside and downside of mining. The royalty
recognises and encourages capital investment
and obviates or neutralises any proposal for a

super profits tax.

The recession and the South
African mining industry

South Africa, with the world’s fifth largest mining
secior by GDP value, experienced a decline in
commeodity pricesanddemandinlate 2008 and early
20089. This prompted companies to cut production
demand. The South
African mining industry’s total production index
fell by 6.6% and mining GDP declined by 7.2%.
Employment levels fell by over 20 000 people

to match lower global

and the industry cut back on capital expenditure,

Net profit

25

Return on equity
Effective tax rate
EBITDA margin

exploration and also restructured balance sheets.

If one compares the performance of the country’s
mining sector to othet sectors of the economy, the
underperformance of the sector is noteworthy. For
example, at the global level (on the x-axis in the
chart on page 26) the average annual growth rate
for construction valué added was weak. However,
the South African construction sector achieved
growth rates of 11% (shown on the y-axis) in
the 2002 to 2008 period, mostly because of an
increase in domestic infrastructure in preparation
for the 2010 Socecer World Cup, The top 20 global
mining couniries averaged 5% real growth rates,
while South African mining shrank by nearly 1% a

year during that period.

While it is correct to apportion some of the blame

Ul
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Relative to other South African industries and global trends, South African mining is lagging in

terms of real growth (source: Global Insight, DMR and McKinsey & Company analysis

industry value creation in South Africa versus the world

2001 - 2008 real CAGR %

Saiith Africa’ - \
ndustry value add real growth & Mining is one of Sputh
11 Afriea’s most important
10 Gonstruction ) § sectors
o Motor vehicies, trailers and parts
@ Retall - motor vehicles and gasoline ® Global mining grew by »>5%
; A fetall trade? // p.a., bu}:l South African .
B Food and bevarages ) ) Financlal intermediation - n;[l)l’g:‘lg 2gg;eased by 1%
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j i e ivities* . .
4 | Sociatand parsonal setvices —iaalesiate and Buelness activities # If South Africa’s mining
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; L Educ/a;r; ik | Public admin, defence and so_ci_al_se’nurt‘ty by $8-billion
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o 4 2 3 4 5 & 7 >45 000 mining johs®
Represents stze of -
South African industry World
value add in 2008 Industry value add real growth

1 South Africa’s largest Industries by valve add are shown
2 Excluding vehicles

3 At currant dollar value add per employaa leval
4 Intlotes roel estate, leasing of i and

for the country’s poor mining sector performance
on the decline in production of the mature gold
mining sector, most of the rest of the minerals
also performed poorly. In the two decades up 1o
2009, total South African mining production fell
by 0.4% a year, mostly driven by the 5.3% annuat
decline in gold production and the 0.4% decline

in diameond production. Platinum group metals

compuler p and related ssrvices, research and development and relatad senices

{pgms) production increased by 4.8%, iron ore by
3.3% and manganese by 2.3% in the same period.
The rate of decline in gold pro;ﬂuction over the last
decade increased fo 7.7% a year and diamond
production fell by 2% a vear. Pgm production
between 2000 and 20082 increased by 2.6% a year,
coal production by orily 1.2% a year and iron ore

by 6.5% a year.

Table: South African mineral production growth rates {source: StatsSA)

Total Manganese |
mining :

o MK

Chrome Diamond;a? Gold

I A . S
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The non-gold mining sector grew production by South African reserves for key minerals, 2008
1.8% a year between 1993 and 2009. # ol giobal

While certain detractors may have painted the

South African mining sector as a mature declining

industry with limited. potential, the reality is ;
somewhat different, In the 26 April 2010 report by af;-ﬂ -
CitiBank, Metals and Mining Strategy, the richest ;Mm —
country in the world is defined as the country P""“"*HL': :-
< with the largest in situ value of minetral resources UML{;:S: : |
(excluding energy minerals), which, according to ;S-:ﬁ}.:

the report, is South Africa, with a current valtue of

Us$2.5-trillion.

i rtant player in terms of global mineral
While this mineral wealth below the ground an Impo piay of global minera

. reserves, but is also a major producer of minerals
does not actually represent wealth unless it can

with the world’s fifth largest mining industry by
GDP value.

be profitably mined in a safe and environmentally
sustainable way, the report iliustrates the huge

potential of the minerals industry for the country.

MIGDETT
The MIGDETT task team has two specific

South Africa is the world's largest reserve
holder of pgms, manganese, chrome, gold and
alumina-silicates and is a major reserve holder of mandates: one is to manage the impact of the

vermiculite, vanadium, zirconium minerals, titanium global economic crisis on the mining sector and

L minerais, coal and iron ore. The country is not only 10 reduce the number of retrenchments, and the

second is to help position the South African mining
Citibank survey of the richest ‘in sifu’ mineral

resource holders in the world (excluding energy industry to take better advantage of the next

minerals} (source: COM/DMR/USGS) commodity cycle. - -

Peru

in February 2010, the MIGDETT task team agreed
that MIGDETT should develop a tripartite Strategy

Ukraine

for the Sustainable Growth and Meaningful
Transformation of the South African Mining Sector.

Two work streams were established. The first would

concentrate on the competitiveness and growth of

Ganada

the mining sector, whiie the second would focus

Austrafia

on transformation in the sector and the Mining

Russfa

Soulh Arica Charter review,

) - T 1 - T T )
0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

5 vaiue
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Projected trends in the mineral weighted production profile of South Africa’s
mining sector, 2010 to 2020 (source: MIGDETT/Chamber of Mines)
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The tripartite stakeholders

Biamonds

recognised that
growth and transformation are mutually inclusive
and reinforcing concepts and they have worked to

shape a strategy for growth and transformation.

The MIGDETT Competitiveness Task Team
developed a set of simulations on what would
constitute a realistic growth potential of the
South African mining industry in a scenario if the
constraints hindering growth and competitiveness
were lifted. For example, to satisfy domestic
energy coal requirements for electricity generation,
another 100 million tons of ceal production would
be required by 2020. This implies a growth rate in
coal production of 3.5% a vear for the next decade.
The simulations and scenarios run for each mineral,

when aggregated, provided a perspective for the

28

- Manganese

pgms

MIGDETT stakeholders on what sort of economic
growth rate was achigvable by the local mining
sector between 2010 and 2020. The total mining
sector can achieve an overall growth rate of about
3% avyear from 201010 2020. If gold were excluded
from the equation, the non-gold mining growth
rate would average 3.9% a year over that period.
About another 100 000 jobs couid be created by
2020, based on the above estimate and using
correlations of labour intensity in the production
process with modest technology improvements.
The graph above illustrates the likely weighted
production growth of South Africa’s minerals
over the next decade, based on this conservative

growih rate scenario,

The estimates for potential growth forthe minerals

K
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Lack of growth is as a result of a combination of drivers eroding the sector's competitiveness

Competitiveness drivers

Fdarka:

Factor market efficiéhcy %

Industry structure B

Inherent potential Enabling {actors

Natural resource
endowment

Infrastructure

-

Product demand The key. t.hreats to
— competitiveness of
Accessibllity of markets = | [SA mining are

Fase of doing business
*  Socldl licence

*  Security of tenure

* Rule of law

Human capital/skills

Geographical factors

Regulatory and legal
requirements

Competitiveness threat s
Mixed picture .
Competitive advantage

* Infrastructure
{electricity, rail
*  Social licence to

operate

» Human capital/
Doemestic demand [ sidlls

* |nstitutional
International demand & capacity

Institutional capacity 4

listed above are deliberately conservative, and a
higher growth rate is possible. Running the same
forward-looking scenario with geld production
declining by 2% a year, platinum growing at 4%,
coal by 4%, and diamonds at an average of 5.8%,
then the overall mining secter’s growth rate would
be 3.5% a year. If gold is excluded the mining
sector’s growth rate could be 4.3% a year In the
pericd from 2010 to 2020, This is a very respeciable
growth rate and would be a major fillip for
exports, employment and local economic activity.
According the McKinsey’s Mining Competitiveness
Benchmarking study deone for the Chamber in
November 2009, simulations and scenarios for the
industry based on the most favourable outlook,

another 200 000 jobs are possible by 2020,

The non-gold mining sector could more than

offset the declines in gold production. The averall

29

sector could achieve a considerably higher annual
growth rate in production. The critical Issue is 1o
create the enabling foundation for the industry
to enhance its competitiveness and growth and
{0 enable the mature components of the sector
to extend their life cycles with all the associated

economic bensfits.

The task team also conducted an in-depth
analysis of the factors affecting the competitiveness
of the jocal min-ing sector. This included using a
competitiveness framework traditionally used by
Michael Porter, but adapted specifically for the
mining sector. Twelve other mining countries were
then used in a competitiveness benchmarking
exercise. The resuits were mixed. The country
showed significant mineral potential, weli-
developed capital markets, world-class financial

services, g well-developed and capable mining

LN
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sector, good support services, well-developed

supplier markets and infrastructure, but struggled

with problems in the regulatory framework,
institutional capacity, infrastructure and human
capital constraints, a volatile exchange rate and a
perceived weak social licence 1o operate. Most of
the factors holding back the sector are within the

control of stakeholders.

In the post-problem identification exercise, the
next critical issue was how to fix the constraints
while building on the .country’s competitiveness
strengths. The MIGDETT process then developed
a declaration that was sighed by the stakeholders
on 30 June 2010 and contalned the following 13

commitments:

1. Promoting growth and transformation
(s mutually reinforcing and inclusive
concepts).

2. Resolving infrastructure constraints

3. Promoting innovation, productivity and
cost competitiveness (including prometing

exploration)

4. Committing to sustainable development
in mining (improving health and safety,

environmental management, etc.)

5. Encouraging greater beneficiation

6. Improving the regulatory framework
(including  mining and environmental
permitting)

7. Promoting human resource development
8. Promoting empleyment equity
9. Faciiitating mine community development

10. Improving housing and living conditions for

workers

11. Facilitating greater transformation through

industry procurement

i2. Achieving transformation  in

greater

ownership in mining

13. Improving menitoring of both transformation

and competitiveness.

There are industry representatives involved in
many of the national debates on infrastructure.
For exampile, industry representatives are involved
in the National Stakeholder Advisory Gouncil con
Electricity, the National Electricity Response Team
and in the expert group advising the Department
of Energy on the Integrated Resource Plan 2, The
chaiienge for mining is the lack of a comprehensive
needs analysis and plan that couid be used as a

basis on which to engage the counry’s leadership.

The MIGDETT stakeholders agreed to establish
a long-term Integrated infrastructure Planning
Mechanism to unpack the needs of the mining
industry and serve as a conduit through which
the industry’s requirements could be properly
communicaied. The stakeholders are developing
terms of reference for the establishment of the

mechanism.
The stakeholders recognise that, despite the

the

outcomes of the mineral policy reform process

good intentions’ of the 2004 legislation,

and the implementation of the laws, improvements
are necessary. Thus the DMR has begun a
comprehensive review of the Mineral and Petroleum
Resources Development Act, in an attempt io
resolve any grey areas and reduce licensing times
and create a more conducive framework for dealing

with Jicensing issues, including environmental

M{O chamber off m/i?es of south aftica
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permits. Stakeholders are invited to provide inpuit.
A collaborative problem solving approach would
help resolve the issues. Mining and prospecting
companies have a role to play in improving
applications and helping the process, The minister
of the DMR, Ms Susan Shabangu, introduced a
six-month moratorium on applications for new
prospecting rights and the DMR is undertaking
a comprehensive audit of prospecting rights to

overcome recent problems in this area.

Contribution of mining to the
South African economy

The mining sector remains a pillar of the South

African economy. In 2009, the sector contributed:
= About 18% of GDP (8.8% direcily)
e Over 50% of merchandise exporis {if

secondary beneficiated mineral exports are
added)

s About one million jobs {about 500 000 jobs
indirectly)

+ About 18% of
(10% directly)

gross  investment

s Approximately 30% of capital inflows inio
the economy via the financial account of the
balance of paymeants

¢ About a third of the market capitalisation of
the JSE

= 03% of the country’s electricity generating
capacity

» About 30% of the country’s liguid fuel
supply

¢ The largest contributor by vaiue to black

economic  empowerment (BEE) in the

31

T

gconomy {in terms of the value of BEE

transactions completed)

+ R10.5-bilion  of

receipts.

direct corporate tax

The mining sector provides the critical mass for
the development of a number of indusiries that
either supply the mining sector or use its products.
This cluster of industries includes energy, financial
services, water services, enginsering services, and
specialist seismic, geological and metallurgical

services,

In 2008, the total income of the South African
mining sector was R332-billicn, down by 8.8% on
2008 (StatsSA). The industry’s total expenditurs,
excluding dividends, taxes and capital expenditure,
was R312-billion, implying a small gross surplus
of R20-billion. However, if taxes, dividends and
capital

expenditure  were the total

expenditure of the mining industry was R399-

included,

billion in 2008, implying that a deficit of R67-billion

was incurred.

Only a small portion of the expenditure in the form
of capital equipment and dividends was acquired
or paid for from offshore. A high percentage of
the procuremeqt of timber, steel, cement and
explosives, for example, was sourced ilocally,
while all the industry’s electricity, rail, port and
road transport and water were procured locally. In
essence, a very high perceniage of the industry’s
expenditure feeds through into the domestic

econocmy.

Contribution to investment
and GDP

The rate of growth in real mining fixed investment

MK
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dropped from 27.7% in 2007, 13.2% in 2008 to
only 2.7% growth in 2009. In the first quarter of
2010, real fixed investment spending by mining
was down 15.2% vyear-on-year, indicating that
the industry has some way to go before real fixed

investment spending recovers.

In 2009, mining GDP fell by 7.2% as the industry
was hit by the recession and domestic constraints,
In the past two years, mining GDP, in rsal terms,
fell by 12.2% and the sector is effectively smaller in
real GDP terms than it was in 1894, The MIGDETT

process should help reverse this trend,

Mining production fell by 8.6% in 2008, following
the 5.7% decline in 2008. Key reasons for the
decline in 2009 include a production decrease of
52.8% in diamcnhds, 32.8% in manganese, 29.1%
in chrome, 7.1% in gold and 1.6% In pgms. The
only substantive preduction increased was iron
ore, which grew by 12.9% to 55.3 million tons.
Between 2006 and 2009, mining sector GDP shrank

on average by 3.3% a year, aginst an overali South

73/

African average economic growth rate of 3.2% in

the same period.

In the first half of 2010, mining production staged
a modest recovery of 3.8% vyear-on-year, as a
recovery in diamend preduction and continued
double digit growth in iron ore production were
abie to offset the decline in gold production and

the decline in pgm production.

Miningaccountedfor10% oftotalfixed investrment
in the economy and 16.9% of total private sector
fixed investment, The sector continued to be a key

component of the JSE.

South African mineral sales and
exports

In 2008, the depreciation in the rand exchange
rate fo R8.44/dollar, was not enough to offset the
decline in most commodity prices, which resulted
in the value of local mineral sales falling by 19.6%
to R241.3-billion.

The decline in mineral sales was driven by the

Income and expenditure of the SA mining industry, 2009 {source: StatsSA)
Total expenditures: R399-billion; total income: R332-billion

Capital expanditure R51.5-billion

Dividends R25.5-hillion

Taxation R10.1-biflion

Depreciation and impairments
R35.3-billion

Interest paid R12.2-billion

Labour costs R71.2-billion

32

Other purchases and operating costs
R182.8-billlon

MA& chamber of mines of south africa



South Africa: trends in real GDP (real 2005 rand terms)
per sector, base indexed o 1993 {source: StatsSA)
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decline in sales of manganese (down 67.8%),
pgms (down 36.7%) and coal {down 9.8%). Coal is
the largest component of the South African mining
industry by sales value, with total sales of R65.4-
billion, followed by pgms at R58-billion and gold
at R48-billion. These top three minerals accounted
for 71.2% of South Africa’s total mineral sales in
2008.

In the first half of 2010, total primary mineral
sales were at an annualised R274-billion, an
improvement of 13.7% on the 2009 figure of
R241-billion. This was hecause of a modest
recovery on overall mining production and the

recovery in the prices of most minerals.

Total primary mineral exports sales fell by 19.7%
to R176.4-billion in 2008. Primary mineral exports
accounted for 31.7% of South Africa’s total
merchandise exports. The additicn of secondary
beneficiated minerals to primary exporis, such

as pgm catalytic converters, ferro-alloys, steel,

33

chemicals, plastics, raised the exports of the
mineral complex tc about R280-billion or about

50% of total merchandise exports.

Employment and wages

The local mining sector employed 481 822 people
in 2009 compared to 518 519 in 2008, a decline
of 5.1%. Mining accounted for 8% of total non-
agricultural formal employment and 7.8% of total
private sector non-agricultural employment. If the
indirect and induced effects of mining are included,
then another 500 000 johs are believed to exist in
addition to the direct mining jobs. In 2009, R71-
billion was paid to workers in the form of salaries
and wages. This contributed substantially to
the economy and tc the purchasing power of

workers.

Chrome

- Chromium production and

reserves

World chromite resources are estimated at more
than 12 billion tons of export grade ore, which
would be sufficient 1o meet demand for centuries.
Almost 952 of the world’s chromium resources are
concentrated in soputhern Africa and Kazakhstan,
with about 70% of world resources in South Africa.
Kazakhstan has 51% of the world’s total shipping
grade reserves, followed by South Africa with
37%.

South African chrome ore is mined primarily in
ihe UG2, LG and MG chromitite seams in the North
West and Limpopo provinces. The UG2 seam
also contains significant amounts of pgms, thus

several platinum mines produce chrome ore as a
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South African mineral sales for the top 10 minerals, 2008 and 2009 (source: DMR/StatsSA)

Million tons

1. Goal
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3. Gold

4, lIron ore

by-product. The primary chrome mires provide
chrome ore feed-stock to the large ferrochrome
industry. Most of South Africa’s chrome mines
Bushveld
Complex in the Steelpoort Valley in the Limpopo

are developed along the Eastern

Province.

South Africa’s production of chrome ore declined
by 28.1% in 2009 to 6.2 million tons, from a 2008

World production of chrome ore, 2009
{source: USGS/DMR), total 20.7 million tons

Inclia 19%

Other 31%

Kazakhstan 17%

South Africa 33%

annual report 2009 - 2010

34

=]

&. Diamonds
Manganese ore

9. Aggregate & sand
10, Ghromite

[}

e
figure of 8.7 million tons. Scuth Africa’s total sales
velume of chrome ore fell by 25.2% to 5.9 mitlion
tons valued at R3.3-billion. Local sales realised
R2.1-billion, while export sales generated income
of R1.2-billion.

Ferrochrome and stainless steel
production

About 90% of chrome ore is used in the production

of ferrpalloys for stainless steel,.

In 2009, ferrochrome

deciined by 17.5% to 6.2 milion tons, with a

global production
large 32.7% decline in production by the world’s
largest producer, South Africa. The decline in
production was attributable to the impact of the
global economic crisis en prices and demand as
producers cut back on production. South African
producers placed furnaces on maintenance during

the electricity crisis and economic recession, which
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Global ferrochrome production {kt}, 2007 to 2009

{source: Pariser/Merafe Resources)
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hetped Eskom maintain the electricity grid.

Around 70% of world ferrochrome production
capacity was suspended in the first quarter of 2009,
with the Xstrata-Merafe joint venture operating
at 20% of capacity and Samancor Chrome
suspending all production, Despite the drop in
production in other key producing centres, China’s
ferrochrome production increased by 17.6% to 1.5
million tons. This supplemented continued strong
demand for ferrochrome in China for its growing

stainless steel production.

The fail in globaiferrochrome production is related
to the decline in global stainless stee! production,
which fell by 1.7% to 26 million tons in 2009.
However, the aggregate global statistic hides the
major differences between China and the rest of
the world. Based on China’s continued high level
of economic growth, stainless steel production in

that country grew by 32.8% to 9.8 million tons in
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2009, while stainless stesl| production in the rest of

the world shrank by 15% to 16.2 million tons.

The global stainless steel industry consumed 7.3
millien tons of ferrochrome in 2009, up by 7.7%
onh a year-on-year basis, although this can be
attributed to continued stainless steel production
growth in China, and higher Chinese ferrochrome

production.

The roughly 19.9% increase in global stainless
steel production in the first half of 2010, on an
annualised basis, bodes well for the recovery in

chrome ore and ferrochrome production in 2010,

Markets

The outlock for chrome is relatively favourable
because, unlike nickel, ferrochrome cannot be
substituted in the stainless steel production.
Ferrochrome is cheaper than nickel, which lends
It an advantage in terms of consumption and the

cost of inputs.

Giobal stainless steel production (kt), 2007 o 2009

(source: Pariser/Merafe Resources)
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Demand for chromium chemicals declined in
recent years, as environmental concerns brought
tightening legislation that limited its use in two other
main end-uses: [eather tanning and metal finishing.
Strong growth in the aerospace industry in recent
years meant that the demand for chromium metal
increased sharply, albeit off a low base. World
consumption of chromium metal increased by
around 13% in 2008 1o 40 Kkilo tons, with demand
for super alloys, the primary end-use market for
chromium metal, driving the market. The graduai
recovery in the global economy should support
demand in the aerospace industry.

Prices

The average price received for chrome ore per
ton in 2009 was R554. Local chromium prices
decreased by 26.6% in 2009, when compared to
prices obtained in 2008, Export prices decreased
by 30.6% in 2009, from a 2008 figure of R1 664
per ton. In March 2009, European importers paid
around USc86/b for South African ferrcchrome,
about 80% lower than prices paid in September
2008. Demand for chromium during this period fell
sharply, as it did for stainless steel, the primary

end-use for chromium.

However, demand recovered and prices started
to rise and ferrochrome smelters were reopened in
the final months of 2009, In the first quarter of 2010,
ferrochrome prices settled at about USc101/lb and
recovered to UUSc136/lb by the second guarter of
2010, before a slight softening in the third quarter.

Labour

The South African chrome mining industry

employed 10 893 people in 2008, a downturn of
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11.3% when compared to 2008 figures. Even with

the lower employment numbers, the total salaries
paid in 2009 were higher. Salaries increased by
13.3% to R1.5-billion in 2008, from a 2008 figure
of R1.3-billion. The total labour force in the chrome
sector represents about 2.2% of the total South

African mining labour force.

Developing the South African
economy through chrome

Chromium is animportant metal in the development
of industry in a country. Gommercial sources of
chrome are limited to a few countries and the
current and projected demand for the metal is
growing. As with other important mirerals, the
country has an opportunity, through the structurally
driven commaodities boom, tc expand productipn of
chrome with all the associated economic benefits

for the ceuntry.

Coal

Despite the impact of the global economic crisis,
which reduced electricity and steel production in
many advanced couniries, overall globat hard coal
production rose by 2.5% to six billion metric tons
in 2009. There were large regional variations in
coal production, with Asia, led by China, growing
phenomenally and most advanced economies
experiencing demand and production downturns.
China's hard coal production rose by 7.6% to three
billion tons, which is half the total global production,
whereas North American production fell by 8,7% to
919 million tons. The rapid increase in electricity
production in China and India also resulted in these
couniries becoming large net - importers, which

contributed to arise of 4.7% to 830 million tons. The
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improvement in global economic growth o about

4% in 2010, the stabilisation in electricity demand

in advanced econcmies and the strong growth in
slectricity production in China and India, continue to
support a structurally driven higher demand profile
for hard coal. However, it is the pace of production
and limited reserves in certain countries that pose
sustainability guestions and the ability of certain
countries to maintain high production rates over an
extended period of time. The introduction of carbon
faxes over the next decade will challenge the coal

mining and energy industries.

The key issug in the South African industry is the
need for sustained growth in production to meet
increasing domestic power generation and export
growth requirements, which will necessitate an
extra 100 million tons of production by 2020. This
will require about R100-billion worth of investments
in the existing large coal fields (Wi’cb'ank), aswell as
inthe northern coal fields {Limpopo and Waterberg)
and investment in associated infrastructure. To
achieve an extra 100 million ton capacity by 2020
wifl require the South African coal mining industry

to grow by more than 3.5% a year.

[n 2009, South Africa's coal mining industry
became the Iargegst compenent of the local
mining industry by sales value, with total sales of
RB5.3-billion, ahead of platinum at R58-billion and
gold at R48-billion. During 2008, South Africa’s

- coal production fell by 0.6% to 250.5 million tons,
axport velumes increased by 4.4% to 60.5 million
tons and domestic sales volumes fell by 6.3% to
184.7 milliontons. The coalmining sectoremployed
70703 people and paid R12.8-billion in wages. The

industry accounted for 5.6% of total merchandise

37

Global hard coal reserves, 2009 (source: BP)
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experts and continued to play a major role in the
domesiic economy as the key source of primary
energy for electricity and the production of, for
example, liquid fuels, fertilisers, plastics, polymers

and lubricants.

Global hard coal production, 2008 and 2009
(source: |[EA)
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Hard coal: years of production left at current
production rates and known reserves

(source: IEA)
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World hard coal reserves and
production

Total world hard coal reserves (i.e. anthracite and
bituminous) was 411 billion tons in 2008, with
the United States holding the largest reserves of
26.4%, followed by China (15.1%), India (13.1%),
Russia (11.9%) Australia (8.2%) and South Africa
(7.3%).

In response to continued high economic and
electricity production growth rates in the developing
Asian region, there were large increases in hard
coal production by India {up 7.6%), Indonesia (up
6.9%) and Australia {up 3.1%).

An interesting aspect of the global minerals
industry is the pace of mineral extraction versus
the known local reserve base that can support
future production. Based on known global reserves
of coal and current production rates, the world

has 68 years of production left. There are large

38

variations, with Kazakhstan, Russia, South Africa,
the United States, Australia and India having over
100 years of preduction, while countries like China
and Indonesia have reserve to production profiles
that imply only 21 and seven years respectively.
This is nei an accurate assessment of reserves,
as much of the resource base and exfra reserves
tend to be added to those countries on an annual
basis (i.e. reserves tend to be added as brownfield
exploration around existing mines shows more
reserves). Nevertheless, it does appear to have
impiications for countries with high economic and

electricity production growth,

World coal consumption was essentially flat in
2009, the weakest year since 1999. For the first
time since 2002, coal was not the fastest growing
fuel in the world. [n North America and Eurbpe/
Eurasia, consumption fell by 11.5% and 11.4%
respectively, while consumption in the Asia-Pacific

region increased by 6.6%.

Global primary energy

Global primary energy consumption fell in 2009
by 1.1%, driven by a 0.8% decrease in electricity
demand, Again there were regicnal variations, with
OECD electricity production falling by 4%, while
the Asia-Pacific region {excluding Japan) grew
by 4.7%. Although the United States comprises
nearly 21% of total global electricity production,
the country is rapidly being reeled in by the
growth rate of China. By 2010, China is expected
to overtake the United States as the largest
generator of electricity in the world. The expanding
urbanisation and industrialisation trends in China

and other key developing countries, means that
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electricity production growth will continue to be
high. China grew its 2009 electricity produciion by
6.9% to 3 721.5 terawatt hours and now has an
18.5% share of total global electricity production.
India’s electricity production increased by 5.8%
to B69.8 terawatt hours, making it the world's fifth

]érgest electricity producer.

China’s electricity production has increased by
500% from 1980 to 2009. South Korea's electricity
production grew by 284% and India’s production
by 206% during that period, while South Africa’s
electricity production grew by only 57%.

World hard coal export market

According to [EA, hard coal exports, which include
thermal coals and coking coals, increased by 4.7%
to 830 million tons in 2008. Australia is the largest

hard coal exporter, with a share of 31% followed

Electricity produced in terawatt hours, base indexed to 1990 (source: BP energy statistics)
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World hard coal exports, 2007 to 2009

{source: IEA)
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by indonesia (27.7%), Russia (11.2%), Golombia
{8.3%) and South Africa (7.3%). Russia grew its
hard coal exports by 22.4% to 93 million tons in
2009, followed by Indonesia, which increased hard

coal exports by 13.3% to 230 million tons.

World thermal coal market

A substantial portion (89%) of the world hard coal
export market is thermal coal, which is mostly used
for etectricity and heat generation. In 2009, the
world thermai coal trade grew by 4.7% to 737.3
million tons, owing to strong import demand from
developing economies like China and India and
large export growth from the Russian Federation
and Indonesia. Thermal coal imports in China
grew 160% to 92.1 miilien tons in 2009, driven by
high domestic production costs, low internationa
shipping freight rates and geographic factors,
which prompted Chinese power producers to

acguire increasing levels of foreign supplied coal.
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China’'s thermal coal imports reached record
levels of 34 million tons in the first quarter of 2010,
which, on an annualised basis, implies imports
of over 100 million tens. India’s rising electricity
demand led to an increase in thermal coal demand
by 59% to 54 million tons in 20098. According to
the Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource
Economics (ABARE), China’s thermal coal imports
will reach 98 million tons in 2010 and India is
expected to increase its imports to 68 million tons
in 2010. The impact of the global economic crisis
oh Europe meant that that region’s production of
electricity fell by 5.1% in 2009, As a result, demand
for thermal coal decreased from 222.5 million tons
in 2008 to 211.4 million tons in 2009. ABARE
expects European Union demand for thermal coal

to increase to 220 million tons in 2010.

Indonesia is the largest thermal coal exporter,
with 233.5 million tons of exports in 2009, followed

by 138.1 millien tons from Australia, 91.7 million

“tons from Russia, 63.4 million fons from Colombia

and 61 million tons from South Africa,

Local production and sales

Seuth African coal production fell by 0.6% to 250.5
million tons in 2009. Export volumes increased by
4.,4% to 60.5 million tons, albeit off a low base, and
domestic sales volumesfell by 6.3% to 184.7 million
tons. Domestic sales volumes decreased because
of the {ocal economic recession and the high base
effect created in 2008 by the replenishment of
coal stockpiles by Eskom. The 22.1% increase in
domestic coal prices meant that iocal sales rose
14.4% to R34.5-billion. The increase in local sales

was sufficient to offset a 27% decline in export

M%\ chamber of mines of south africa
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SA thermal coal exports by destination
{source: SACR, 2009)
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sales that fell by 27% to R30.8-billion. Total coal
sales were RB65.4-billion, down by 2.8% on the
2008 sales figures, but still making coal the largest
component of the South African mining industry by

sales vaiue.

South African coal exports

The country’s coal export railing was 12 million
tons below export capacity, however, the industry
is expected to boost future performance. Problems
(RBCT)

computerised terminal management system, mine

in the Richards Bay Coal Terminal
production challenges and inefficiencies on the
Cealink heavy haul coal line, must be addressed.
The export industry is faced with changing markets
as declines in coal sales to the weak European
market are offset by growth to the Indian and

Chinese markests.

Coal exports to Europe slowed in the aftermath
of the global recession, large stockpiles and the
fall in the price of natural gas. In 2005, Europe

accounted for 78% of South Africa’s coal exports
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and Far East/Asia less than 6%, but by 2009,
Europe’s share had declined to 43.5% and Far
East/Asia’s share had risen to 41%. This helped
sustain South African exports over the past
few ysars and mitigated the worst effects of the
recession. Exports to India have risen since early
February 2009 and amounted to 18.6 million tons,
accounting for 30% of total coal exports in 2009.
India imports coal because of the geographic
location of its power plants, vis-&-vis the internal
coal mine production plants, which make it easier
for the coastal power plants to import coal. Lower
freight rates and spot prices also boosted Indian
imports. India’s state owned mining companies
have struggled with permitting issues and
production delays. India is expected to continue
growing thermal coal imports to match increasing
electricity production. According to ABARE, india
should import 77 million tons by 2011, up from 54
million tons in 2008. South Africa’s coal exports to
the Ametica’s and Middle East fell by 40.8% and
6.7% respectively. Exports 1o Africa and lsiands

increased by 10.5%, but off a low base.

Local and export coal prices

Local coal price.per ton on a free on rail (FOR)
basis averaged R187 in 2008, up by 22.2% on
2008's figure. The average price received for
exports on a free on board (FOB) basis averaged
'R512 a ton. Average export prices fell sharply from
the middle of 2008 as the global economic crisis
unfolded, from highs of R836 a ton FOB in June
2008, to a low of R465 a ton in June 2002. The
average export price gradually recoverad {6 around
R570 a ton in the first quarer of 201 O

W
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International shipping freight rates followed a
similar trend to coal export prices. Freight rates
from the RBCT 1o the Amsierdam, Rotterdam,
Antwerp market fell precipitously in late 2008 as
the global economic crisis curtailed trade volumes
and an oversupply of freight capacity hit the freight
market. Freight rates reached a iow in early 2009
and have since been gradually recovering, as

world trade volumes recover,

Export facilities

Export capaci'ty at RBCT was increased to 91
million tons a year, with its phase V expansion
completed in earty 2010. BEE companies have a
dedicated allocation of 22 million tons. However,
{otal exporis through RBCT at 60 million tons was
far short of the expected export capacity of 72
million to 74 million tons a year, implying a deficit
of more than 12 million tons. Limited rail capacity
and integration problems in the new computerised
terminal management system, led to the fall in

export capacity.

200

6]

RECT to Rotterdam, Capesize freight rates
(source: SACR)
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Transnet Freight Rail (TFR) has bottleneck
problems in its rail transport system. Currently
TFR’s capacity to the portis 72 million tons of .coat
a year, but plans are in the pipeline to increase this
to 81 million tons a year by 2014. Further upgrades
are expected beyond 2014. The strike by Transnet

employees during the first half of 2010, did not

180

900

160

—800

140

A
)

120

/P
;

=600

;ij ‘M u 700

100

E
) o EB0D
Pl

Rand per ton FOR

|-400

80 [N e — ,,""-i“cr

B0 el

Rand per ton FOB

300

40

200

20

[1o0

0

2006
2007

—=— Randperton FOR = -

2008

42

0

2009
2010

Rand per ton FOB

(N

2010/07

SA coal prices average for export and domestic markets, actual revenues received (source: SACR)

chamber of mines of sguth africa
e e




chamber of mines of south africa

42

Comparison of shipments by TRF and RBCT (annualised) versus South African spot coal price
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materially affect export volumes as coal stocks at
the RBCT were used to buffer the drop in Transnet
railings.

Durban’s Bulk Connection Terminal exported 0.2
million tons of coal in 2008, Coal exports decreased
by 6.4% from 0.93 million tons in 2008. The Matola
Coal Terminal’s exports increased in 2009 by 19.2%
to 1.2 million tons, compared to one million tons in
2008, Work is underway to increase the terminal’s
- capacity to six millien tons a year by September
2010, of which 4.5 million tons will be committed
to coal exports and 1.5 million tons to magnetite

exporis.

South African coal mining growth

A key issue in the South African coal mining
industry is the need for production growth to
meet domestic power generation expansion and
increased export requirements. This will necessitate

an extra 100 million tons of production by 2020.

[l =zcrshipments .

43

US$ per ton (FOB)

SASC Price

Eskom consumes about 125 million tons of coal a
year and this is expected o increase by between
80 million to 100 million tons over the next decade.
The construction of the Madupi and Kusile power
stations will increase Eskom’s demand. The first
génerating unit of the Medupi power station is
expected to come on stream in 2012 and the final
generating unit should be commissioned by 20186.
Eskom’s Kusile power station will begin operating
in 2014 and should be completed by the end of
2018. ‘

To achieve an extra 100 million tons capacity by
2020, will require the local coal mining industry to
grow by more than 3.5% annually to 350 million
tons. This impacts on investment, the number
of mining engineers frained and infrastructure

development to support the industry.

Diamonds

In line with most other products in the luxury

N
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Russia 28%

Russia 27%

Gilobal diamond production per country by
volume, 2009 (source: KPCS)
(total carats 124.8 million)

Other 3%
Scuth Aftica 5% -

_Angola 11%

B Australia 13%

Botswana 14%
Namisia 1% 4

Canada 9%
Congo 17%

2009 (source: KPCS) (total value $8.6-billion)

Other 4%

Angola 14%
South Africa 10% h

R Ausiralia 4%

Botswana 17%

Canada 17%

Namibia 5%

Congo 3%

annual report 2008 - 2010

Global diamond production per country by value,

market, the diamond industry was severely affected
by the giobal economic crisis in 2009. Significant
retraction in demand‘in the key consumer centres
of the United States, Europe and Japan, which
traditionally account for 75% of total demand for
polished diamonds, had a negative impact on the
entire diamond pipeline. There were country and
regional differences as the large growing markets
of China and India sustained growth in diamond

demand despite the weak global economy,

The curtailment in demand for cut diamonds,
combined with the high levels of stockpiles of
diamonds, resulted in diamond mining companies
being faced with a fall in consumer demand and a
virtual collapse in demand for rough diamonds as
the downstream sectors tried to reduce inventories.
Mining companies were forced to curtail production
and the entire value chain entered the worst
recession in the diamonds business in the past half
century, The downstream diamond pipeline was
then faced with a liquidity crisis as high diamond
stock levels and the high cost (or non-availability) of

debt impacted negatively on the pipeline,

In 2008, global diamond mine production fell
by 23.4% to 124 million carats and the value of
rough diamond production dropped by 32% to
USs%$8.6-billion. The sales of rough to the diamond
cutting centres fell by 51.1% to US$7-billion, the
value of polished diamonds decreased by 35.9%
to US$12.6-billion and the retail sales of diamond
jeweliery fell by 9.4% to US$58.7-billion.

The South African diamond mining industry was
not spared the impact of the recession. Domestic
production shrank by 52% to 6.1 miilion carats, as

the industry responded to the collabse in demand
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Recession in the diamonds pipeline,
2009 vs 2008

2008 2008
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and prices. The local industry faced further
challenges because of the activities of the State
Diamond Trader and the Precious Metals and
Diamonds Regulator. Nevertheless, all indications
point to a recovery in production in 2010. The global
economy has rebounded, the prices of polished
diamonds are recovering and South African
diamond production was up by 82.9% in the first
half of 2010 on a year-cn-year basig, indicating that

production of about 11 million carats is possible.

The pressure faced by the iocal diamond mining
industry resulted in the number of employees in
the sector falling to an average of 12 046. These

workers earned R1.8-billion in wages and salaries.

Global production

According to the Kimberley Process Certification
Scheme {KPCS), the global preduction of rough
diamonds decreased in 2002 by 283% to 124
million carais. Mining companies had to use

innovative ways of curtailing supply, including
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production holidays, the extension of maintenance
shifts and the closure of some high-cost facilities,
The countries that bore the biggest brunt of the
production cuts were South Africa (down 529%),
Namibia (down 51%} and Botswana {down 45%).
The physical volume of mine producticn in Congo
fell by 36% and Canadian production dropped
by 26%. Production in Angola increased by 55%
and production in Russia fell by only 5.8%, which
implies that these countries did not necessarily
play their role in helping restructure production
to match the lower giobal demand. The [ack of
production cut-backs in Russia meant that the
country remained the largest diamond producer by
volume in 2009 at 28%, followed by Botswana at
14% of the total.

Global demand

According to the International Diamond Exchange,
2009reflectsithemost severe single year contraction
of the diamond pipeline since Worid War 1. The
downstream diamond industry {(cutting, jeweilery
fabrication and retail} all heid high diamond stocks
before the downturn. The economic recession also
severely affected the availability and cost of debt
funding, which is a crucial part of the diamond
business. The éntire downstream pipeline was
forced 1o restructure and reduce stock levels.
Despite these challenges, most bankruptcies in
the downstream businesses were avoided.

I 2009, rough sales to the cutting centres
was down by 51.1% to US$7-billion, while the
value of polished diamond content in retail sales
fell by 13.5% to US$15.9-billion, The retail sales

of diamond jewellery contracted by 9.4% to
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Index Global Polished Diamond Price Index (source: Idex)
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US$58.7-billion. Retail consumer demand in  9.4% in 2009 to $58.7-bilion. By the beginning of

the United States contracted by 16%, followed
by Japan with a 10% drop. In the Asian and

- Middle Eastern markets the decline in demand was

smaller at around 2%.

The prognosis for 2010 is more promising. Cutting
centre demand improved, excess inventories were
eliminated and consumer demand stabilised in the

worst affected markets.

Polished diamond prices

The collapse in demand In key diamend markets
such as the United States and Europe, combined
with high stocks of diamonds in the inventory
pipeline of the diamond fabrication industries, also
resulted in a material fall in the globa! polished
diamond price index. Polished diamond price index
averaged 109 in 2006 compared te 2008’s 122.8.

Accordingly, retail sales in diamond jewellery fell by
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2010, the inventory overhang had been eliminated
and a small deficit in supply helped push up prices.
There are further signs of Increasing momentum
in the recovery of global polished diamond prices
as demand is improving. The index of polished
diamonds prices averaged 114.1 in the first half
of 2010, which was 7.7% higher than June 2009
prices. As demand 'iﬁcreases, the diamond pipeline

will begin restocking in 2010.

South African production

South Africa’s diamond industry was hit hard by
the recession. In the first half of 2009, diamond
production fell by over 60% as producers tried to
cut back on supply in the face of falling demand
and lower rough diamond prices. South African
diamond production fell by 52% to 6.1 millien

carats in 2009, and the value of that production feli

AL
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by 28% to US%885-million. Unfortunately, in late
2008, diamond mining companies were negativety
affected by the implementation of the Diamonds
Amendment Act, which resulted inthese companies
experiencing difficulties in accessing mined stocks
for sale in the face of declining prices. Industry and
government worked hard to reduce the legislative
impacts, but the problems surfaced again in the
first half of 2010, It Is vital that the stakeholders
work together to resolve these issues and grow
the entire diamonds value chain - which includes

diamond mining.

The total number of people employed in South
African diamond mining operations fell by 33%
from an average of 18 169 people in 2008 to
12 046 employees in 2008, with salaries and

wages paid to these workers at R1.8-billion.

Gold

2009 will be defined as a year where the safe
haven status of gold was reconfirmed as investment
demand for the metal rose to record levels and
aven exceeded jewellery demand. Global investors
at both the instifutional and private levels, bought
unprecedented levels of gold in the face of global
concerns about the fragility of the economic
recovery. In 2009, the quantum of net central bank
selling of gold fell to negligible levels, continued bar
hoarding and producer de-hedging and invesiment
demand outweighed the slight increase in new mine
supply and rising levels of sales of gold scrap. Not
surprising, the ptice reached a new average annual
record in 2009 of US$972 an ounce, 11.5% higher
than in 2008.

Unfortunately, the higher gold price and the

47
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economic crisis led to jewellery demand falling by
19.8% to 1 759 tons, the lowest level of demand
in over two decades. Other fabrication demand
declined by 5.5% in 2009 to 658 {ons. However,
the surge in investment demand to 1 429 tons
more than compensated for the poor performance

in the other traditional categories.

According to GFMS, global primary mine
production increased in 2009 for the first time
since 2005, and this was by 6.8% to 2 571 tons.
However, production continued to fall in the more
mature producer countries such as South Africa
and the United States. Continued high prices and
the benefits of strong exploration expenditure in
the preceding five years, fed through into higher
production in most areas. China reaffirmed its
status as the world’s largest producer, with an
increase in production of 11% to 324 tons, while
Australia was second at 222.8 and South Africa
third with 219.8 tons (a decrease of 6%). The
GFMS figure for South Africa at 219.8 tons, is
slightly more than the 204.9 tons recorded by the
Chamber, as GFMS’ figure includes an estimate
for the production of illicit gold from the country.
In addition, scrap supply surged in 2008 by 27.2%
to 1 674 tons, as various gold consumers took
advantage of the high gold price and the difficult

global economic environment,

Nevertheless, the gold mining sector remained
a key contributor to the South African economy
in 2009 and early 2010. In 2009, gold mining
accounted for R489-billlon in foreign currency
earnings{SARB),8.8% oftotalmerchandiseexports,
and about 2.4% of GDP (if the multipliers and

induced effect are included). The sector employed
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Gold price in rand and US dollar terms
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159 925 people and the wage bill was R17.4-
biflion. Gold is the second largest export earner
after pgms. The local industry invested R10.3-
billlon In capital expenditure, paid an estimated
Rt.4-billion in direct taxation and R566-million in
dividends. Gold still accounts for 19.3% of total
fixed investment in the mining sector and for

32.5% of all the peopie employed in the sector.

Prices

In 2009, the gold price rose to a record average of
US$972.35 an ounce, an 11.5% increase on 2008
and the eighth year of consecutive gain., During
the fourth quarter of 2009, the price breached
the US$1 000 an ounce level, reaching a high of
US$1 218 an ounce in early December 2008.

The average price was US$1 100 an ounce in the
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2008 2010

—— oz

fourth quarter of 2008, driven by a combination
of the purchase of 200 tons of gold by the Bank
of India, unemployment reaching a 26 year high
in the United States plus the suspension of the
Dubai World debt repayment. According to GFMS,
while the nominal price of gold coniinued to break
records, in reai terms the inflation adjusted record
gold price belongs to 1980 when the price averaged

over US$1 800 an ounce in 2009 real doilar terms.

While there were variances in the factors driving
the gold price during 2009, on average positive
demand and supply-side features provided upward
momentum to the price. Gains in the demand for
gold for investment more than offset the declines
in jewellery and other fabrication demand. Mining

companies continued to remain a source of demand
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for gald in terms of closing out hedge positions,
and net central bank sales fell to the lowest level
since 1988, where central banks were the last
net buyers of gold. In particular, the increase in
implied investment demand, which was up by
333% to 1 429 tons, was the key driver.

In the first half of 2010, the gold price
continued fo consolidate above US$1 000 an
ounce and averaged US$1 152 an ounce during
that period. The gold price improved on the
back of continued positive supply and demand
factors, the weakening dollar exchange rate and
the official sector emerging as net buyers of gold
supported the price rise, Virtual Metals predicts
central bank sales of 161 tons (mostly driven
by 144 ions of sales by the IMP) and 223 tons
of purchases, which means positive net central

bank purchases for the first time in 22 years.

The rand exchange fell to over R10.20/
dolar at the start of 2009, which, combined with

Annual growth rate (decline) in gold production

from key countries (source: GFMS)
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World gold mine production by source country

{source: GFMS)
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the stronger dollar price of gold, sent the rand price
to an average of B301 581 a kilogram in February
2009. The rand exchange rate then sppreciated
by about 27% to R7.40/dollar by September that
year, and despite the US$996 an ounce gold price,
the rand price fell to R239 496 a kilogram. During
the last quarter of 2009 and first quarter of 2010,
the rand exchange rate stayed at below R7.50/
dollar and the risin.g_ dollar gold price resulted in
the rard price increasing to R270 000 a kilogram,.
in the second qﬁarter of 2010, a slightly weaker
rand exchange rate combined with higher dollar
price, sent the rand price back to just beiow
R300 000 a kilogram.

Global reserves and production

The world has an estimated known gold reserve of
about 47 000 tons (USGS) of which South Africa
is the largest holder with a 12.8% share, followed

closely by Australia and Russia WIth shares of
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12.3% and 10.6% respectively. Despite the global
economic crisis and the fall in global expioration
expenditures of 44.5% to US$7.2-billion (MEG)
in 2009, the rise in gold prices to record average
fevels in 2009 and then furiher in 2010, resulted
in the portion of global exploration expenditures
attributable to gold rising 48% in 2009, However,
aggregate expenditures on gold fell from about
US$5.1-billion in 2008 to USE3.5-billicn in 2009
as grassroots projects were cut at the expense of

more mature or brownfieid exploration.

[n 2008, total world goid production increased
by 6.8% to 2 571 tons, the first such increase since
2005. Large prodﬂc’{ion increases were recorded
in Indonesia {up 66%), Ghana {up 12.3%]), China
(up 119%), Brazil (up 10.4%), Russia (up 8.7%} and
Australia {(up 3.6%), which more than offset the 6%
plus production declines in South Africa and the
United States. Over the past five years, production
has declined mosily in the established preducer

regions (the United States, Australia, Canada

World gold supply by main source
{source: GFMS)
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and South Africa) while production has increased
in China, Russia, Peru, Indonesia, Papua New
Guinea, Ghana and Brazil.

China consoclidated its position as the world’s
largest producer, with a 12.6% share of gl.obal
producticn followed by Australia at 8.7%, South
Africa at 8.5% and the United States at 8.5%
(GFMS).

The global gold market

Over the past five years, total supply to the gold
market increased by an average of 2.2% a year,
driven by the rise Ih mine supply of 0.7% a year
and the increase in gold scrap, which grew by
15.5% a year over the past five years. In 2009,
mine supply rebounded by 6.8% to 2 572 tons
making it responsible for 63.1% of total gold
supply. By 2009, scrap recovery was 1 674 tons,
which comprised 24.9% of total supply. Central
bank sales, which in the four years up to 2008

contributed an average annual 436 tons of gold to
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supply, was reduced to only 41 tons in 2009 as
central bank purchases of gbld nearly rmatched
sales. Central bank net sales, as a source of gold,
declined by an average of 21.7% over the period
2005 to 2009. Scrap recovery was influenced
by price, with higher prices inducing some gold
jewellery holders to liquidate holdings as scrap.
Net producer hedging and implied disinvestment,
were not features of the gold market during the

past five years.

At the macro level, the total demand for gold
rose by 8.3% to 4 287 tons in 2009, as the 333%
rise in investrment demand fully compensated for
“the declines across the other demand areas. The
impact of high gold prices, the effect of the global
economic ctisis and the retraction in world-wide
consumer expenditure, all impacted negatively on
jewellery and other fzbrication demand. The rush
by many investors into the gold market during

2009 and 2010, gave rise to concerns about the
Structure of demand for goid, 2000

{source: GFMS)

Investrnent and bar hoarding 6%

Producer de-hedging 0%

Jewellery 800
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Investment and bar hoarding 38%
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volatility in currency and equity markets. The
uncertain world economic outlook encouraged
traders to diversify investments and to use gold
as a safe haven. While by the first half of 2010
the world economy appeared to be back on track
for a sustained recovery, certain investors remain
concerned about the possible large inflationary
effects of the massive fiscal and monetary policy
stimulus provided by most governments and
the dampening impact of the withdrawal of this

stimulus on the economic recovery.

In 2000, jewellery accounted for 80% of demand,
with other fabrication making up 14% of the total
and implied investment and bar hoarding making
Up 6% of the total. In that year, there was no
broducer'demand in the form of de-hedging. By
2009, jewellery demand had fallen to 41% of the
total, while fabrication demand had risen to 15%,
investment demand had risen to 38% and demand

for gold by mining companies for de-hedging

Structure of demand for gold, 2009 (4287 tons)
(source: GFMS)

Jewellery 41%

Producer de~hedging 6%

s

Other fabrication 15%
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Structure of demand for gold, 2009 as in 2008. Total production costs for Australia,
]

(4287 tons) {source: GFMS) South Africa, Canada and the United States in

2009 increased by 7% to an average US$672 an
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ounce. This compares to the 19% increase in costs
120 000,

experienced by these countries in 2008. in 2009,
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South Africa’s average production costs in dollar
ferms rose by 18%, which Is much higher than the

20 D00-4

other mature gold mining countries.

South African production

Tons of steel production per month

South African gold preduction, as recorded by the
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purposes increased to 8% of total demand.

Central banks are expected to emerge as net
buyers of gold in 2010, which will further change
the gold market. Expectations are that continued
high levels of investment demand and a modest
recovery in jewellery and other fabrication areas
will provide a further collar to the gold market. This
will offset the likely decline in gold demand from
mining companies that have reduced their hedge

positions over the past five years.

Costs of production

Despite the global economic crisis and failing
capacity utilisation rates in the manufacturing
sectors of most countries, mining companies
continue to face rising cost pressures, although

these pressures in 2009 were not as exaggerated
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Chamber, fell by 5.8% in 2008. This is the lowest
level of production since 1907. This siower rate of
decline in total production was an improvement
on the 14.5% decline recorded in 2008, which can
be ascribed to closure of gold mines during the

electricity crisis.

In 2009, Chamber m.ember gold production
declined by 6.7% to 170.3 tons. This was mostly
because of an 8.1% decline in the average grade
processed through the mills that fell o 3.28 g/
ton. in the first haif of 2010, total South African
gold production feli by 7.2% to 93.4 fons when
compared to the first half of 2008.

Revenues and costs
In 2009, the 11% rise In the dollar gold price

combined with the 2% depreciation in the rand
exchange rate meant that the rand gold price
increased by 13.6% fo an average of R260 644
a kilogram. The 5.8% decline in overall gold
praduction, combined with the 13.6% rise in the
price, meant that total revenue for the gold mining

sector rose by 5.9% to R49-billion.

Total revenue for Chamber members was

LS
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R42.2-billion in 2009, an increase of 6.6% year-on-
year. Most of the benefits of the marginally higher
ptice were eroded by the combination of lower
production and higher input costs, which resulted
in total production costs before capital expenditure
rising by 16.5% to R33.4-billion in 2009. The high
rate of increase in electricity costs was a major
concern for the industry. Chamber member gold
companies then spent R10.3-billion on capital
expenditure, which meant that total production
costs, including capital expenditure, rose to R43.7-

billion, before taxation and dividends.

In the first half of 2010, revenue rose by 3.1%
1o an annualised R41.2-billion, as higher prices
offset any further fall in preduction. The industry
received an average of R278 029 a kilogram, which
cost R229 227 a kilogram (excluding capex) to

produce.

Iron ore

Given the interconnectedness of the iron ore and
steel fabrication to the health of global infrastructure
investment, consumer markets, the transport
industry and GDP growth, it is not surprising that
iron ore mining and the steel fabricaticn industries
were hard hit by the global economic ctisis, In
2009, global steel production fell by 15.2% to
1.2 million tons, despite the 13.7% increase in
production from China. Nen-Chinese global steel
production plunged by 31% as most other steel
producers in the advanced economies cut back
on preduction in response to the recession. Global
pig iron production fell by 7.7 % to 860 million tons,
despite China’s production rising by 14.6%.

Iron ore, which is the key ingredient of pig iron and
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Global steel production trends, China versus
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directly reduced iron, both used in the production
of crude steel along with coke, were also materially
affected by the global slowdown in 2009. In
response to the decreases [n pig iron and steel
production, global iron ore production decreased
by 7.6% to 1.6 billion tons in 2008. However, the
global trade in iron ore increased by 6.3% to 851
million tons, as import demand from China surged.
As a result Austraiia, India and South Africa were

still able to grow exports of iron ore.

South African iron-ore production increased by
12.5% 1o 55 miliion tons in 2009, with total sales
amounting to R27.1-billion. Export sales grew
by 36.4% to 44.6 million tons in 2009, because
of the improved export facilities between Sishen
and Saldanha being increased to a capacity of
47 million tons. In the first quarter of 2010, South
Africa produced 15.1 miltion tons of iroh ore, which
implies an annualized rate of 60 million tons for
2010. Iron ore Is the fourth largest component of

the South African mining sector and continues
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to grow its contribution to the economy. Large
capital projects such as the mine developments
at Kolomela and Khumani, combined with further
upgrades 1o the Sishen-Saldanha heavy haul
railway line, will continue to support growth in this

sector.

The local iron ore sector employed 13 722
people in 2009, which is an increase of 3.56% when
compared 1o 13 256 people employed in 2008.
R2.2-billion in salaries and wages were paid in
2008.

The global steel market

Historically the stee! industry has been cyclical and
is influenced by general economic conditions. After
a period of continuous growth between 2004 and
2008, the sharp fall in demand for stee| resulting
from the 2008/2009 recession led to a correction
in global steel production, especially in the most
hard hit advanced economy markets, Stee| is 2 key
input in the construction, mechanical engineering
and transport industries, sectors that were among

the worst affected by the worldwide recession.

The impact of the economic downturn on the
global steel industry in 2009 was significant. Total
world steel output was down 15.2% to 1.2 billion
tons, according to the World Steel Association, but
this masked vast differences between developed
and developing markets. Whereas production in

the European Union, North America and Japan feli

by over 25% on average, China's production was

up 13.7% 1o 587 million tons. China accounted for
47% of total global steel output in 2009 and while
most non-Chinese steel companies were cutting

back on capacity, Chinese steel mills raised
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production and added capacity to cater for the

resilient domestic economy.

The overall steel market started to recover
gradually in the second half of 2009, and by the
first half of 2010 demand for steel had risen to pre-
crisis levels. Based on the first six months of 2010,
on an anhualized basis, global steel production
is set to rise by 17.9% 1o 1.4 billion tons, led by
continued growth ih China, which is expected to
grow production by 14% to 646 million tons. Non-
Chinese steel production is set to increase by about
21% to 764 million tonhs, based on the gradual
economic recovery in advanced economies. This
is still some way below the record 917 million tons

produced by non-Chinese producers in 2008,

The growing influence of the so-called BRIC
countries (Brazil, Russia, India and China) and
other emerging economies, has been evident for
some years. Nevertheless, their resilience in the
face of the financial downturn and the speed at
which they have resumed growing, has taken
many by surprise — evidence of the important role
they now occupy in the global economy. Whilst per
capita GDP in these economies stili lags behind
that of the more developed economies, there is
little doubt that they will play an even larger role in
the world economy in the future. The IMF predicts
that by 2014 developing countries will comprise
over half of global GDP. The continued materials
intensive growth in these countries will support a
structurally higher level of demand for steel and
iron ore into the future.

South Africa unfortunately has not shared in
the fortunes of the BRIC countries. The economy

shrank by 1.8% in 2009 and almost one million

e

chamber of mines of south africa



South Africa 5%

chamber of mines of scuth africa

World iron ore exports, 2009 (source: ABARE)
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jobs were lost during the recession. The two
industrial sectors that make up almost 80% of
steel sales, namely manufacturing and building,
and construction were all affected, despite
government's capital investment programme
in the build-up to the 2010 Soccer World Cup.
The South African Iron and Steel Institute (SAISI)
estimates that local steel consumption in 2008
declined by 13% overall to 4.6 million tens from
5.3 million tons in 2008, The decreases were more
pronounced among long steel product sales in the
construction sector, which plunged by 28% to 1.8
million tons. Flat product volumes slipped by 1%

to 2.8 million tons.

Global production and exports of
iron ore

Accerding to the United Nations Conference on
Trade and Development (Unctad), werld production
of iron ore fell by 8.2% in 2002 to 1.6 billion tons,
while demand, driven by Chinha, increased. Qutput
of iron ore decreased in most producing countries,
except for South Africa and Australia. China,

which had been the worid’s largest producer of
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iron ore for years, dropped to fourth place behind
Australia, Brazil and India. Chinese production for
2009 amounted to 234 million tons, while Australia

produced 394-million tons during the year.

Notwithstanding the decline in global iren ore
production in 2009, the iron ore trade climbed to
a record level of 951 million tons in 2009, up 6.3%
on the comparable 2008 figure. The global trade
in iron ore traditionally represents about half of
globat production. The increase in the global trade
in iron ore can mostly be attributed to the closure
of high cost Chinese production, which in turn
resulted in the need for increased iron ore imports
to fuel continued growth in steel production in that
country. China is by far the largest importer of iron-
ore, acceunting for iwo-thirds of world imports.
Australia grew iron ore exports by 17.2% to 362
million tons, Brazilian exports feil by 5.7% o 268
million tons, India's exports grew by 4% to 105
million tons and South African exports increased
by 36.4% to 45 million tons.

Prices

Renchmark iron core prices are normally set in

annual negotiations betwesn steel producers
and major ore gupp]iers such as Rio Tinto, BHP
Billiton and Vale SA of Brazil. However, in 2010
there was a departure in the traditional pricing
process with agreement being reached between
Chinese buyers and the large iron ore exporters on
a new quarterly pticing mechanism. Between the
beginning of 2008 and June 2009 spot prices for
$3.5% Fe content iron ore fell from over US$150
per ton FOB to just above US$50 per ton. By June

2010, spet prices for this quality of ore had risen

MIC
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to pre-downturn levels. The 2008 contract prices
of about US$90 per ton FOB, fell to about US$60

per ton in 2009. Contract prices in the June and

September quarters of 2009, indicated a 90% and
further 23% increase in contract prices {ABARE).

The average sale price of iron ore for South
African produced iron ore was R225 per ton FOR
in 2009 and the export price averaged R566 per
ton FOB. In 2009, local iron ore prices increased
by 28.5% and the export market sales ptice
decreased by 8.6%.

South African iron ore production
and exports

South African iron ore production increaséd by
12.5% to 55 million tons in 2009. Total sales were
valued at R27.1-billion, an increase of 23% year-
on-year. Local iron ore sales decreased by 25%
to 8.4 million tons and export sales increased by
36.4% to 44.6 miilion tons in 2008, Export Sales
revenue increased by 24% year-on-year to R25.2-
billion and local sales revenue decreased by 4.4%
to R1.9-billion, reflecting poor domestic economic
conditions. In the first quarter of 2010, 15.1
million ions of iron ore were produced, giving an

annualized production rate of 60 million tons.

Infrastructure
In December 2008, the heavy haul Sishen to

Saldanha iron ore railway line achiesved a new
throughput record of one million tons railed in &
week, which would franslate to an annualized 52
million tons if the same efficiencies were maintained
and demand matched production. Transnet rail

has 152 locomotives, 4 505 wagens and a network
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of B61 km on this line. Ageing locomotives and
wagong, some iron ore mine delivery cancellations,
cable theft and internal operational issues affected
the efficiency of this heavy haul line, Nevertheless,
Transnet and the mining companies are trying to
address the various probiems that continue to
inhibit further growth and performance.

The Transnhet expansion plan for the Sishen-
Saldanha line has a target of 50 million tons by
2011 and 61 million tons by 2014, Additional
locomotives and wagons will be added to the
system. A combination of diesel and electric
motors will be used to optimise operations and te
achieve 61 million tons. The Postmansberg iron ore
corridor is being used to transport iron ore to the
domestic market and possible capacity upgrades

are being investigated.

Manganese

The manganese mining industry was severely
affected by the recession, as poor demand
conditions and destocking of inventories by
customers forced mining companies to cut back
on production to match both lower demand
and lower prices. B_oth the manganese ore and
manganese alloy markets reflected the decline in
world crude steel production. in 2009, global steel
production fell by 15.2% to 1.2 million tons. Mine
production of manganese fell by 22% to 35 million
tons, while the actual production of manganese
units amounted to 11 millien tons, a decrease of
23% (IMI). The price of manganese ore declined in
the first half of 2009 and then gradually recovered
in the second half of the year as market conditions

improved.
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South Africa, traditionally the world’s [argest
producer of manganese, cut back production by
32.8% to 4.6 milllontons in response tothe collapse
in demand and prices in the firét half of 2009.
The country’s ore production was down by over
41% in the first half of 2009, but the rate of year-
on-year production decline slowly eased during
the remainder of the year as market conditions
gradually improved. South African manganese ore
sales dropped by 67% to R5.6-billion in 2008, with
expori sales falling by 67% to R5-billion. Local
manganese produciion was up by about 67% in

the first half of 2010, on a year-on-year basis.

In 20089, the manganese mining sector employed
4 988 people, up 21% on the previous year’s figure.
These workers were paid R866-million in salaries

and wages.

Global reserves and production

South Africa accounts for about 80% of the worid’s
identified manganese rescurces, while the Ukraine
accounts for 10% of the ore deposits. In terms
of identified mineral reserves according to metal
.content, the world has about 540 miilion tons of
which South Africa has a 25% shars, while the

Ukraine has the largest reserve at 26%,

The first half of 2009 was particularly challenging
as ferroalloy production and steel production,
mostly in the advanced economies, experienced
reductions in production. During the remainder
of 2008, market conditions continued to recover
in line with a recovering global economy and

improvements in worldwide steel production.

China, with its burgeoning steel industry,

increased manganese metal production to 2.7

Manganese metal production by region/country,
2009 (source: IMI)

Other 13% o Australia 16%
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India 8% % China 25%
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milion tons and became the largest global producer

ahead of South Africa at 1.9 million tons.

Global ferromanganese
production

Alloy smeliers cut capabity utilisation to maich

the drop in consumer demand and total
ferromanganese production declined by ajmost
18% in 2009 to 11.7 million tons. This is roughly
equivalent to production levels last seen in 2006.
Towards the end of 2009, as steel production
began rising incrementally month-on-month, alloy
smelters were slowly brought back on stream. Each
of the three main manganese alloys experienced
negative growth in 2008, as the global recession

greatly reduced the demand for ferroalloys.

Global unit consumption of manganese ferroalloys
continued to vary from region to region, owing to
different steel production processes, the guality of
the raw materials used (such as iron ore grades)
and types of steel produgts produced. The overall
average continued to be around 10 kilograms

of manganese alloy per ton of steel produced
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in 2009. China remained the largest producer of
ferromanganese in 2009, producing 8.6 million tons

and accounted for 57% of global preduction.

The world market for ores

In 2008, about 15 million tons of the 35 million tons
of mine production of manganese ore was declared
as imports. China accounted for 80% of imports,
with Australia, South Africa and Brazil were the

largest exporters.

Prices

The manganese ore contract price followed the
decrease in the average international price for
metallurgical-grade ore that was set between
Japanese consumers and major suppliers in
2009. The average weekly spot market price for
48% manganese ore, CNF China, also decreased
by 28% to US$5.84 per metric ton unit through
the first 10 months in 2008, owing to high leveis
of manganese ore stocks in China and pricing
competition between major manganese ore
producers. However, the United States’ average
weekly spot prices for high-carbon ferromanganese
and silicomanganese through October 2009 were
4% higher and 44 % higher, respectively, than those
ai the start of the yvear, owing to fower inventory
levels caused by production cuibacks, by one

major domestic producer, and reduced imports.

South African production

Local sales of manganese produced revenue of
R583-millien with exports amounting to R5-billion
~ and total sales amounting to R5.6-billion. This
meant that 89.6% of manganese revenus was

generated from export and 10.4% of the revenue

was generated from local sales. In the first half

of 2009, the production of manganese (h South
Africa declined by 41% and ultimately the country
achieved primary production of 4.6 million fons for
2000. This represents a drop of 32.8% in production
when compared to 2008’s production of 6.8 million
tons. The actual manganese metal produced for
2009 was estimated at 1.9 million tons, which is
a drop of more than 34% from the figure of 2.9
million tons achieved in 2008, four million tons of
manganese ore was exported and 0.6 million tons

was consumed locally.

Infrastructure

Rail capacity to Port Elizabsth is not sufficient to
transport manganese, thus an afternative means of
transport in the form of road trucks is now being
used. But road trucking has cost and distance
problems. The preferred mode is rail, but delivery is
not guaranteed owing to Ifmited availability of slots
as a result of & shortage of wagons and capacity
constraints on the Transnet general freight line
from Hotazel to Port Elizabeth. Even though export
capacity on the Pott Elizabeth line could rise to
six million tons a year by 2012/13, this general
freight line remains relatively expensive versus the
heavy haul long-distance lines such as the Sishen-
Saidanha Crex line. While the Department of
Transport and Transnet envisage that the Nggura
Port will be the port of choice for manganese
ore in the future, it may be preferable to raise
export capacity on the Orex line to provide cost

competitive transport for the manganese industry.

Platinum group metals

Pgms have a wide range of industrial and high

MS
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SA share of pgm reserves and production,
2008 and 2009

Palladium % share of production

Platinum % share of production

Rhodium % share of production

Feserve base

- 2009

technology appilications and are also used
extensivelyinthe jewelleryandinvestmentmarkets.
With 63% of the demand for the three main pgms
— platinum, palladium and rhodium — used in
catalytic converter and industrial applications, it
is not surprising that the giobal economic crisis
had a negative impact on the pgm markeis and
pgm mining sector as global car production and
industrial production plummeted. Global demand
for the three main pgms fell by 8.6% to 482.9 tons
as the 25.6% increase in pgm jewellery demand
and 31.8% rise in investment demand were not
sufﬁbient to offset large falls in demand for pgms
for catalytic converters (down 22%} and industrial
applications (down 20.4%). In late 2008 and early
2009, the autometive and industrial centres cut
back on pgm demand from primary sources as
they tried to reduce inventories, Total supply of
the three main pgms, including scrap recovery, fell

by 4.6% to 522.9 fons, meaning that about seven

59"

a0

- 2008

tons of pgms were added to stocks in 2009.

Overall, the platinum price was 24% lower, at
US$1 199 an ounce in 2009Iversus the previous
year. Given the sharp declines In palladium and
rhodium prices, the overall production weighted
basket price for South African production for the
main three pgms fell by 42.5% to US$948 per
3E ounce. In the first half of 2010, the platinum
price rose 44.9% to an average of US$1 600 an
ounce and the production weighted pgm price
rose by 58.5% to US$1 377 per 3E ounce, when
compared to the first half of 2009,

in 20089, South Africa accounted for 86.15% of
primary rhodium production, 75.5% of primary
platinum production and 33.4% of primary

paliadium production.

Maost of the correction to pgm production
by South Africa in response to the recession
cccurred in 2008, when the country’s total pgm

production was down by 9.3% to 275.8 tons. In

M
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Global pgm supply (platinum,
palladium and rhodium)
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2009, total South Africa pgm production fell by

1.6% to 271.4 tons as production from higher

cost mines was constrained. Total South African

sales of pgms with slightly lower production

volumes and much lower prices, fell by 36.7% to

R57.8-billion, a significant decling in the overall

revenue of the sector, which resulted in the pgm

mining sector falling to position two after coal in

terms of total sales value. Nevertheless, the pgm

mining industry employed the fargest number of
workers at 184 613 people and paid R24.9-billicn

in salaries and wages. The indusiry accounted for

8.6% of the country’s merchandise exports. In the

first six months of 2010, ictal South Africa pgm

production was down 2.1% on a year-on-year

basis.

Global reserves and production

South Africa is estimated to have around 87%

of the world’s known pgm reserves, with Russia
second at 8.3% and the United States third at

annual report 2008 - 2010
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2.5%. The global new mine supply of the three
main pgms decreased by 1.1% to 428.9 tons in
2009, as lower production rates from non-South
African producers affected supply. Russian
production was down 1.3% to 138.7 tons and
North American mine producticn fell by 17.8% to
32 tons. Pgm production in Zimbabwe increased
by 28.1% to 13.3 tons. The amount of the three
main pgms that was recycled as scrap in 2009 fel|
by 17.7% to 94 tons, meaning that total supply of
the three main pgms fell by 4.6% to 522.9 tons.
This was the first time in nearly 20 years that scrap

recovery levels actually feil,

South Africa accounted for 54.8%6 of global new
mine supply of the three largest pgms in 2009,
up from 53.8% in 2008. Russia was second with
32.6% of the total, North America third at 7.5%
and Zimbabwe fourth at 3.1 % South Africa is the
dominant global preducer of piatinum {76.5%) and
rhodium (86.1%), while Russia is the dominant

supplier of palladium {51.2%). Recycling of scrap

Global automotive production by key region/

country (source: CGSM and JDPowers)
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Pgm demand by application (platinum,

palladium and rhodium)

600

2006

. tndustrial . Investment

B Autotatalyst: gross

. Jewellery

pgms is the fourth largest source of supply to the

market and accounted for 94 tons in 2008,

Global demand

In 2009, according to GSM/JDPowers, global
automobiie production fell by alarge 12.2% to 57.5
million units. The advanced markets of Eurcpe,

North America and Japan were exceptionally hard

hit and experienced declines in car production of
20.6%, 32% and 30.6% respectively, or a decline
of 11.7 million units in fotal. China continued with
its substantial growth, with car production rising by
50% to 12.8 million units, but this was not enough
to offset declining production elsewhere. Given that
nearly 80% of vehicies produced worldwide have
auto catalysts fitted, it is not surprising that the
demand for the thres most important pgms fell by
22.4% to 214.6 tons. The continual rise in emission
standards, combined with the global recovery and
the recovery in automotive production, will drive

growth in pgm demand going forward.

The demand for pgm jewellery

industrial demand as the second largest user of

replaced

pgms in 2009, Pgms used in jewellery increased
by 25.68% to 118 tons, as consumers in. key
markets like China bought plétinum and palladium
jewellery at low pam prices. Indystrial demand,
driven by declines in demand for pgms for dental,

glass, electrical and petroleum applications, fell

3E production weighted pgm price for South Africa (January 2000 to September 2010)

18000

Reaon

[-140D0

|-1z0tk

USY per 2€ sunce

«
X H10000

Rland per 3 ounce

(8000

|- 8000

4000

2000

2002 2004

—— LIS§ produriion weighed prica

chamber of mines of south africa

61

2008 2007 2008 2608 2010

- Rand producian welghled price

MK

~—

A -

2

annual report 2002 - 2010



annual report 2008 - 2010

40

76/

South African pgm production, y-o-y % change in production

30

20

104

1
|
Il

% change

il st

o

s
Il

i L
'

i

-30

200C 2001 2002 2003 2004

by 20.4% to 20.3 tons. Ihvestment demand for
pgms surged by 31.8% to 40 tons, also facilitated
by electronically traded funds that helped sieer
investment into pgms. The US ETF was launched

in early 2010.

Prices

The platinum price fell precipitously to below
US$850 an ounce in November 2008, having
traded above US$2 000 an ounce just five months
earlier. The volatility of the latter part of 2008 was
replaced by a period of consolidation in 2009 as
the world economy improved. Lower platinum
prices and risk aversion by investors led to a
large increases in demand for platinum jewellery
and investment. This helped restore balance 1o

the market and the platinum price recovered to

2005

62

2006 2007 2008 2008 2010

US%1 500 an ounce by thé end of 2009. Overall,
the platinum price was 24% lower at US$1 199
an ounce in 20089 than in 2008. In the first half
of 2010, the platinum price rose 44.9% 1o an
average of US$1 600 an ounce and the production
weighted pgm price for South African production
increased by 58.5% to US$1 377 per 3E ounce,
when compared to the first half of 2009,

The marginal cieprecia’cion in the rand exchange
rate of 2.2% to R8.44/US%, mads little difference
o the fall in dollar prices. As a result the production
weighted rand basket price for pgms fell by 34.6%
tc R246 337 per 3E kilogram of pgms produced. In
the first half of 2010, the South African production
weighted basket price improved by 30.2% ip R323
379 per 3E kilogram on the back of a recovery in

deilar prices.

N
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Platinum supply by source compared to the R91.4-billion achieved in 2008,

300 Local sales of pgms to the domestic catalytic

converter fabrication industry fell by 67.8% to

R4.3-billion. The total volume of pgms exported
200 : from South Africa in 2009 increased by 12.5%

to 251 tons as the slack in local sales was
150

Tons

compensated for by foreign exports, However,
oo lower prices meant that the export sales value
actually fell by 31.4% to R53.5-billion. Both the
domestic catalytic converter fabrication and the
P o pn P “ams  global automotive industries have recovered from

their lows of 2008/2008.
Scrap recovery . Others . North America . Russia . South Africa

Platinum

The platinum market swung from a modest
6.8 ion deficit in 2008 to an 8.5 ton surplus in
South African pgm production, 2009 as a result of the 8.5% decline in demand
sales and exports overshadowed the 0.3% drop in total supply. New

Most of the correction to pgm production by mine supply of platinum fell by 0.3% to 184.1 fons

South African producers in response to the global
Platinum demand by application and

crisis occurred in 2008, where the country’s total )
country/region

pgm praduction declined by 9.3% to 275.8 tons.

100

In 2009, total South Africa pgm production fell by

1.6% to 271.4 tons, as certain production from

higher cost mines was constrained. In the first

half of 2010, South African pgm production fell

by 2.1% on a year-on-year basis, attributable

Tons

o slightly lower average grades and the impact

of a furnace shutdewn, which impacted on total

refined metal production,

Total South African sales of pgms, with slightly

Jeweliery Investment

lower production volumes and much lower prices, Autoozialyst  Industral & cther
. . ROW  [i8] North Amesica Evrope
fell by 36.7% to R57.B-billion, a substantial N u

decline in the overall revenue of the sector when B chra W e
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as the stabilisation in South African supply, which
grew 0.3% to 140.92 tons and the 27.8% tise in
Zimbabwe's production to 7.2 tbns offset the
2.5% decline in Russia's production (24.4 tons)
and North American producticn which fell 20% to
B.1 tons. The recycling of platinum scrap declined
by 23.2% to 43.7 tons, bui this still remained
the second largest source of supply after South

Africa.

Total demand fell by 8.5% to 175.3 tons, mostly
as a result of the slump in global automobiie
production. A smail degree of substitution of
palladium into diesel catalytic converters also
impacted on platinum demand. In the first half
of 2009, automotive manufacturers cut back
on demand and concenirated on ~reduc§ng
inveniories. By the second haif of 2009, the

rebuilding of inventaries and government incentive

Palladium demand by application and
country/region, 2008

Elect‘ficai Je.w'eilery Gther

. Japan Noth America
. Europe

Auto catalyst

- Fest of the world

64

schemes helped support the recovery. Demand
for platinum for industrial purposes fell by 33.7%
to 35.5 ions as lower activity in the electrical,
chemical, glass and petroleum sectors affected
offtake.

Demand for platinum in jewellery rose by 46.1%
to 93.6 tons on the back of lower prices and strong
consumer demand in China, while invesiment
demand rose by 18.9% fo 20.5 tons as investors

sought the safe havens of precious metals.

Unlike the volatiity in 2008, 2009 was
characterised by a steady recovery in the platinum
market as the global economy improved. Platinum
started 2009 at US$956 an ounce on average in
January and ended the year at US$1 450 an ounce
on average in December. The price averaged
US$1 199 an ounce in 2009, & 24% decEiné an
2008. The average rand price fell by 22.3% fo
R324 924 per kilogram in 2008, In the first half of
2010, the higher dollar platinum price, which rose
by 44.9% on a year-on-year basis to US$1 601
an ounce, resulted in the rand price of platinum

rising by 30.2% to R387 237 per kilogram.

Palladium

In 2009, the palladium market remained
oversupplied with 23.6 tons added to stocks. This
was because of the supply of palladium falling at
a slower pace {down 2.9% to 220.8 tons) than the
decline in demand, which feliby 5% to 197.2 fons.
Primary mine supply shrank by 2.9% %o 220.8
tons as the 2B.6% rise in Zimbabwe’s production
to 5.6 tons was overshadowed by the 2.5% drop

in South African production to 73.7 tons, the fall

Mk
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in Russia’s production by 0.7% to 113.1 tons and
the 17% decline in North America’s production to
23.5 tons. Russia’s stock sales were 29.8 tons in
2008 and the likelihood is that the drawdown of

Russian stockpiles is ending.

Demand side categories of palladium declined,
with the exception of investment demand, which
increased by 48.8% to 19.4 {ons. Total demand,
excluding scrap, fell by 5% to 197.2 tons. Hardest
hit was palladium for jewellery, which fell by 17.3%
to 25.3 tons, followed by the 8.3% drop in demand
for catalytic converters to 126 tons. Foﬁunateiy,
the strong growth in China’s production of
automobiles resulted in a 75.6% increase tc 21.3
tons, which helped compensate for the large

declines in Japan and North America.

[nmany respects the palladium price mirrored the
movements in the platinum price during the course
of 2008. Palladium performed relatively strongly
during the year, riding the wave of the improved
fundamentals related to the global recovery, the
positive performance of precious metais and the
weakening United States dcllar, Strong flows inic
exchange traded funds helpad boost investment
and cover other areas of weakening demand. The
paliadium price started the year at an average
of US%189.64 an ounce in January and ended
the year over double this level at an average of
1JS$375.36 an ounce in December. The palladium
price averaged US%$264 an ounce for 2009, a year-

on-year decline of 25%.

The price had recovered to about US$535 an
ounce by Aprii 2010, with an average of US$470

an ounce. In rand terms the palladium price

65

averaged R70 491 per kilogram in 2009, but this
rose to an average of R113 673 per kilogram in
the first half of 2010.

Rhodium

The rhodium market was also oversupplied in
2009, as a 10.8% increase in supply to 23.9 tons
generated a surplus. Demand fell by 21% to 16.5
tons. Almost 7.5 tons was added to stockpiles in
2009. Given the dominance of automotive uses
of rhodium, which account for about 86% of
demand, the rhodium market was especially hard
hit by the impact of the global economic crisis on
new car production. Gross demand for rhodium
for the automotive sector fell by 19.4% 1o 19.3
tons, while demand for industrial purposes fell by
24.8% to 3 tons.

Primary supply of rhodiurﬁ grew by 10.8% to
23.9 tons. Seuth Africa’s production, increased by
156.5% to 20.6 tons and, together with an increase
in Zimbabwe’s production, offset deciines in
North America and Russia. Scrap recovery fell by
17.6% to 5.8 tons, the first such deciine in over

20 years.

The rhodium price averaged US$1 592 an ounce
in 2009, a 75.7% decline on the previous year's
price of US$6 564 an ounce. Rhodium started
the year at an average of US$1 152 an ounce in
January and ended the year at an average of US$2
422 an ounce in December. In the first half of 2010,
the rhodium price rose to an average of US$2
£33 an ounce. In rand terms the price averaged
R386 880 per kilogram in 2009 and increased to
F836 833 per kilogram in the first half of 2010.
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The world
economy,
emerging from
recession

s described
in the econo-
mic overview,
the world economy Is
recovering from its worst
recession in 61 vyears
and there are risks 1o its

fragile recovery. Economic

growth remains relatively
weak in many of the large advanced sconomies,
as high levels of unemployment and low consumer
confidence are holding back faster growth, while
the developing countries move ahead at relatively
high economic growth rates. While regulators are
scrambling to pick up the pieces there is a real risk
that the pendulum of regulation will swing fowards
over-reguiation, which in turn could depress
potential growth in many countries. The need 1o
improve early warning systems about potential
financial bubbles will reguire better surveillance

and smarier reguiations.

While the corporate sectors in most advanced
economies have strengthened balance sheets
and improved productivity, investment growth
has remained constrained as invéstors wait for a
sustained pick-up in consumer confidence and
spending. The need for fiscal consolidation and
the gradual withdrawal of fiscal support measures

will also depend on the pace of recovery.

Developing countries, led by China and India,

68

.

have rebounded from the financial crisis and are
achieving high growth rates driven by their own
domestic priorities and some recovery in advanced
economies. In  particular, urbanisation and
industrialisation continue to drive high investment

and growth rates,

The Iikely pace of the economic
recovery

Research by professors Rogoff and Reinhart
highlighted that each of the banking crises since
the last world war were generally protracted
affairs that shared three characteristics. First, the
aftermath of banking crises was usually followed
by large declines in output and employment. On
average, output in the country concerned fell by
about 9% over a period of two years {from peak
to trough), while the average unemployment ‘rate
rose by over 7% over the down phase of the cycle
with the higher unemployment rate lasting for
on average of four years. Secondly, the collapse
in asset prices was large and prolonged. Real
housing prices fell by an average of 35% and took
about six years to recover. Prices of eduities fell
on average over 55% and took three 1o four vears
to recover. Thirdly, there was generally a rise of
86% in public sector debt following such crises,

as aggressive countercyclical fiscal

policies
combined with lower income tax receipts balloon

deficits and debt levels.

The 2008 global crisis appears to be no different
as large share price, housing price, output
and employment declings in the United States
and Europe, combined with large deficits and

ballooning debt levels were experienced.
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While it is correct to state that more flexible
monetary and fiscal policies have helped countries
avoid another great depression, the fallout of
the global financial crisis on asset prices and
eamployment levels will be feit for some years
to come. The advanced economy consumer is
likely to constrain growth over the next few years.
According to the IMF, economic growth in the
advanced economies is expected to be around 2%
a year in the peried 2010 to 2014, while emerging
Asian economies are expected to grow at over 8%

a year during that period.

Impact of the recession on
South Africa

South Africa’s economy shrank by 1.8% in 2009

as exports fefl by 19.5% and consumers continued
to trim expenditure, which fell by 3.1% in real
terms. Hardest hit were the mining (down 7.2%),
manufacturing (down 10.7%), agriculture (down
3.2%) and trade sectors (down 2.9%4). Fortunately
the use of countercyclical fiscal policy, which
hoosted government consumption and capital
expenditure, was able to provide at least some
cushion to declines in consumer expenditure
at the household level and the sharp cutback in
capital investment by the private sector. South
Africa experienced a fairly quick recovery, with
economic growth rising 1o 3.9% on a year-on-year
basis. Unfortunately, the country’s tradable export
sectors (mining and manufacturing) continue to

shrink because of weak conditions in key advanced

IMF outlook for world economic growth in key regions

8.0

4.0

2.0
2
[
=
E
£

= 0.0
=
=]
=
(=
)
®

-2.0

-4.0

-6.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

wdp World

- Advanced economies

2007 2008 2000 2010

—a— Developing Asia

69

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

—e— European Union

—— Euro ares

&

7

A A .

annuai report 2009 - 2010



annual report 2009 - 20710

South Africa: sector GDP growth rates in real terms, average 2001 to 2008, 2009
and the first half of 2010 (1H2010)

Construction

Finance, real estate and business services

Transpart, storage and communication

Overall GDP

Wholesale, retail, motar trade and accomodation

Personal services

Manufacturing

Electricity, gas and water

General government services

Agriouliure, forestry and fishing

Mining and quarrying

economy export markets and domestic factors.

South Africa’s economic growth
rate remains unbalanced

South Africa’s economy is increasingly taking on
the profile of an advanced economy and is being
driven more by services and consumer demand than
it is by the productive export sectors. Consumer
expenditiure makes up 80% of South Africa’s
GDP, which is comparable o the 70% share in the
United States. The problem with this profile is that
the United States is an advanced economy with a
very high GDP per capiia, whereas South Africais a
daveloping country with a low per capita GDP. The
defining features of the economic growth medel
of the United States is a credit fuelled, consumer
driven, import

intensive mode] that creates

large external imbalances. In South Africa, the

% growth rate

. 2001-2008

non-tradable service sectors of the EcCoONomy grew
by an average of 3.8% a year between 1984 and
the first half of 2010, versus a much more modest
1.6% growth rate for the country’s tradable export

sectors in the same period.

The difficulty is that the high levels of growth in
the non-tradable service sectors of the economy
are import intensive; resulting in a growing level
of imports and .increasing external and internal

imbalances.

The two biggest problemns of a growth model,
mostly based on consumer demand and services,
is that it normally provides employment for skilled
and semi-skilled workers, often on a casual or
temporary basis, and secondly it leads to the
build-up of imbalances. The tradable sectors

provide work opportunities mostly for the unskilled
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and semi-skilled workers, which is the category
where most of South Africa’s unemployed people
find themselves. The tradable sectors, if they are
able to grow at a similar pace to the non-tradable
sectors, can materially reduce external imbalances
and provide incomes that support the demand side

of the economy.

Government and business recognise that a more
balanced economic growth profile, where the non-
tradable and tradable sectors grow at a similar
rate, is preferable to an imbalanced growth profile.
in effect, it is impottant that the tradable seciors
should be provided with an enabling environment
to achieve growth rates similar to those of the non-

tradable sectors.

Balanced economic growth

is key

South Africa’s GDP is currently US$280-hillicn,
and with a population of 49.9 million people this
equates o a nominal GDP per capita of US$5 600
per person. Based on the country’s current growth
trajectory of 3.3% per annum, the economy will
only double in size every 21 years. Based on an
assumed growth rate in the country’s population
of 1% per annum, the country would then only
achieve a GDP per capita above US$10 000 by
2035.

At a 6% annual growth rate the economy would
double in size every 12 years (reaching US$560-
billicn by 2022) and the per capita GDP would rise
to US%10 204 per person by 2022. Beyond a certain
GDP growth level an economy starts creating
employment. More economic value (GDP), plus

greater numbers of people employed equals rising

71

living standards and lower levels of unemployment
and poverty.

Between 2002 and 2008, the economy grew at
an average of 4.56% per annum and 286 142 jobs a
year were created in that period. A 6% growth rate
could imply an extra 400 000 o 500 000 jobs a year,
although further work on the labour absorption rate
of a high growth is required. Thus, South Africa
needs a much higher level of economic growth to
deal with the country’s high unemployment and

poverty rates,

Higher levels of sustainable and balanced
growth will require higher levels of fixed investment,
which in turn require a facilitative and competitive
The

prudent macro-economic policies are conducive to

investment  environment. government’s
supporting long-term investment and should not be
changed. Rather, it is at the micro-economic level
where the restrictions to investment are to be found,
including infrastructure constraints, regulatory red
tape, institutional capacity challenges and human
capital limitations. The principle of promoting
collaborative partnerships must be applied to the

micro~econornic constraints.

For an economy to grow sustainably at over
5% per annum, anh investment rate of 25% of
GDP is requiredv. South Africa’s investment rate is
currently about 20.9% of GDP. Given the country’s
infrastructural capacity constraints, it could be
argued that a fixed investment rate of closer to
30% of GDP would be required to support and
sustain a higher growth rate. This would require
collaborative parinerships to drive investment in
under-capacitated infrastructure and in the private

secior.
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Scenarios for South African GDP per capita based on 3.3%, 6%
and 10% per annum GDP growth rates
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The country had a low savings rate of only 15.4%
of GDP in 2009, and had to borrow the balance
from wealthy countries. This resulted in a 5.5%
currenf account deficit, To achieve higher rates of
fixed investment, the country will need sustained
higher investment rates by the public and private
sectors, a higher rate of domestic savings and the
attraction of foreign capital to fund the savings
investment gap.

South Africa underperformed compared to the
global economy in 2009, when the econamy shrank
by 1.8% versus the decline of 0.6% recorded at

the global level,

Domestic investment growth
has stalled

South Africa’s private sector responded to the
recession by cutting investment and capital

programmes and real private sector investment

annuai repert 2009 - 2010
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spending fell by 7% in 2009 to R233-billion. Large
growth in real fixed invesfment spending by state
owned enterprises, whose investment rose by
40.7% to RB83.5-billion, helped negate the fali
in private sector investmant spending. General
government spending on fixed investment fell
by 1.2% to R59-billion. Cverall total real fixed
investmeni expenditure increased by 2.4% in
20089,

During the high growth period of 2002 to 2007,
South Africa’s economy grew at a rate above the
country’s actual economic growth potential (5%
versus 3.5% to 4%), with the result that spare
capacity in a number of infrastructure industries,
such as the electricity and rail sectors, was éroded.
The infrastructure programme for the 201 Soccer
World Cup, the Eskom and Transnei capital

programimes and the Gautrain project, contributed
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io the rise in public corporation fixed investment.
However, the slowdown in the rate of growth in
fixed investment spending by public corporations
in the first half of 2010, combined with a further
5.7% decline in private sector fixed investment
spending, resulted in cverall fixed investment
spending declining by 2% in that period.

The recent decline in the growth rate of real fixed
investment spending must be seen in the context of
the impact of the economic downturn and domestic
constraints affecting local investment. Forexample,
with a tight and declining electricity supply reserve
margin, it is difficult for private sector companies to
grow investment in electricity intensive industries.
There are a number of factors that will need to be
dealt with if investment is to grow at a much faster
pace. In particular, regulatory red iape such as the
delays in the Issuance of water use licences or in

the processes surrounding environmental impact
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assessments, have affected the building of power
stations and delayed mining projects. Despite
several commitmenis by government to reduce
red tape and lower the costs of doing business in

South Africa, actual progress has been slow.

Micro-economic reform is key to
higher growth

According to the World Bank publication, Doing
Business 2010, South Africa ranked 34 out of 181
countries in terms of the ease of doing business
in 2009. However, hidden in the numbers are
some areas where improvements are required. For
example, while the country is highly rated ih terms
of protecting investors (world rank of 10) because
of the extent of corporate disciosure and corporate
governance, it scores poorly in a number of areas
that are also critical to investment, including

trading across borders (world rank 148), the ease of

Growth rates in real fixed investment (GFCF), averages for past decade, past five years,
past two years and past year

Total GFCF
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Generat government

Private secior
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employing workers (102), registering a property (90
and costing 8.8% of the property value), closing a
business {78}, starting a business (67}, dealing with
construction permits (52) and enforcing contracts
(85).

South African policy makers and regulators
need to build on the country's strengths and must
aim to get all key “Costs of doing business criteria”
into the top quartile of the global rankings. Issues
such as the high cost of registering a propetty or
high cost of starting a business must be resolved.
Where legisiation and reguiations are not working,

such as in the case of environmental legislation,
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comprehensive reviews must be undertaken and

remedial measures initiated.

Inputs on economic policy

During the course of the review period, the
Chamber continued to be involved in providing
input on economic issues to varicus national
processes. The Chamber participates in the

Standing Committee on Economic Policy in Busa

and, via Busa, provides input into Nedlac.

The Chamber participated in presentations to
pariiament on the national budgst (economic

assessment of the budget), an economic response

M‘K_ chamber of mines of south africa
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1o the budget to the minister of finance in the Nediac
Council meetings, etc. The Chamber provided
input to the development of a New Economic
Policy for South Africa, which should be released
by the Department of Economic Developmaent in
late 2010.

The Mineral Royalty Act

As part of the minerals policy reform process, the
government began work on a royaity tax in 2003,
whereby the state would be able charge mining
companies a severance tax for the extraction
of non-renewable mineral resources. Many
discussions were held between the Chamber and
Treasury over the following six years and the final
Royalty Act was passed by parliament in 2009,
Treasury postponed the implementation of the
Royalty Act to 1 March 2010. The various parties
to the discussions believe that what has emerged
is a cutting-edge royalty system based on the
revenue and viability of a company, but which
automatically covers the requirements of providing
relief to start-up companies or marginal mines. The
royalty system has minimum and maximum rates
for refined and unrefined minerals, which effectively
means that during bull markets the state would
receive a high royalty and during bear markets a
lower rate would be calculated. During the period
under review the Chamber engaged with Treasury
and SARS on technical amendments to the Act

and implementation issues.

Beneficiation

During the period under review, the multi-
governmental task team, led by the DMR, produced

the final version of the Beneficiation Strategy for
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South Africa. This high-level strategy proposes
that task teams are established for each of the top
10 minerals and that they each undertake detailed
investigation inte the beneficiation potential of the
mineral concerned. The DMR expects that all the
commodity task teams should have completed
their work by 2011.

_The Chamber provided input into the industrial
policy formulation process, the various drafts of
the beneficiation strategy, the iron ore task team
and serves on the board of the Precious Metals

and Diamonds Regulator.

The national electricity
emergency

South Africa’s electricity supply situation remains
constrained with a smali total reserve margin of
less than 10%. Given that very fittle extra base
icad generating capacity will come on stream
until 2012, the next two years will be challenging
as the reserve margin narrows in response to the
growing economy. Of particular concern is the
lack of elsctricity availability for new projects,
which will harm the development of new electricity
intensive projects. Key issues such as developing
a comprehensive électrici’zy plan for the country,
facilitating the éntry of private power producers,
the more aggressive implementation of energy
efficiency measures, and managing the escalation
of electricity prices have been key focus areas for
the Chamber,

The Chamber participated in most of the
structures established to deal with the crisis,
including participating in the National Stakeholder

Advisory Council on Electricity, the National

M
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Electricity Response team, the Eskom Technical
task teams and by participating in the Busa task

team on elaciricity.

Energy planning

Section 34 of the Electricity Regulation Act, No.
4 of 2008, provides that the minister of enhergy
may, in consultation with the National Energy
Reguiator of South Africa (NERSA), determine that
new generation capacity is needed to snsure the
continued uninterrupted supply of electricity, the
types of energy sources from which electricity must
be generated, and the percentages of electricity
that must be generated from such sources. The
regulator, in issuing a generation licence, is bound

by any such determination.

During December 2009, the minister published
an Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) drafted in ferms
of the Act. There was no consultation with the
mining industry or organised business prior to the
release of this plan. According to the Department
of Energy, the purpose of the plan was fo allow
the regulator to continue issuing licences. The
department, however, also siated that it would
initiate a process during 2010 to review this IRP in

consultation with stakeholders.

The  stakeholder  engagement  process
commenced during May 2010, with the release
for comment of input parameters for an integrated
electricity plan. These input parameters had been
identified as critical to the modelling process for
the IRR. The Chamber submitted appropriate
comment and a draft integrated electricity plan

will be released for further comment by October
2010.
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Electricity supply

There were no major disruptions in the supply
of electricity by Eskom during the period under
review. This was partially because of the decreased
demand for electricity in the aftermath of the globat
recession and the fact that Eskom had increased
its net maximum generation capacity from 38 747
MW in 2008 to 40 870 MW in 2010. However, the
average reserve margin remained below 10%,

indicating a precarious demand/supply situation,

Eskom expects to commission an additional 1 000
MW of generation capacity during the 12 months to
31 March 2011 , followed by the next tranche of new
generation capacity during 2012 if the construction
of the first new power station, Medupi, remaing on
schedule. Medupi is to be followed by another
new power station, Kusile, which is also uhder
canstruction. Eskom is experiencing problems in
obtaining sufficient financing to complete Kusile,
althcugh these funding issues should be resolved
with government in due course. The supply of

glectricity will remain constrained until 2016,

Several proposals for the supply of electricity
to the national system from enterprises with the
capacity to co—generéte electricity, as well as from
prospective independent power producers have
been made during the pasi few years. Few of these
have materialised, mainly because Eskom, in its
confiicting roles as the system operator and as a
supplier of electricity, appears reluctant to create
the conditions that will allow the prospective
suppliers access o the system. In an effort to
resolve this situation, the minister of energy recently

announced that an independent system operator -

MIC
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would be established.

The intreduction of some form of compulsory
power conservation scheme during the next five
years appears likely. The Chamber and its members
are engaged in various forums such as the Energy
Intensive Users Group, Busa and cothers, fo prepare

for such an eventuality.

Electricity pricing

On 30 September 2003, Eskom’s first application
for the multi-year price determination period
from 2010 to 2012 (MYPD 2) was released for
public comment. The application proposed price
hikes of 45% a year for the MYPD 2 pericd.
Following various consultations, a revised Eskom
application was released on 30 November 2009,
which proposed increases of 35% a year over a
three-year period. NERSA requested interested
parties to submit comment on the Eskom
application. Written submissions were to be
followed by a series of public hearings during
January 2010,

The Chamber submitted written comment on the
application by Eskom and presented its views at the
public hearings. It aisc participated in discussions
on the envisaged electricity price increases with
NERSA, the Department of Energy, Nationa!
Treasury, the National Electricity Response Team
and the National Stakeholder Council on Electricity.
The Chamber also engaged in the debate with
other business instifutions such as Busa, Business
Leadership SA and the Electricity Intensive Users

Group.

In its stbmission to NERSA, the Chamber made

the following fundamental points:
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The MYPD2 application, in the absence of
a finalised national IRP for the economy,
effectively meant that impottant funding
decisions that would affect the electricity
supply industry for the next few decades
were being made without an overall energy
plan. At best the existing MYPD2 application
could only be an interim arrangement until

the IRP was finalised

Price increases of the magnitude envisaged
by Eskom weould have a deleterious
impact oh the economy and the mining
sector in particular. Much of the negative
impact would be contrary to the growth,
investment, industrialisation, beneficiation
and employment objectives and aspirations

of government.

The Chamber’s submission covered a wide

range of issues, but focused on two major issues

in the MYPD 2 application that materially affect the

proposed future electricity price trajectory, Two

issues in particular raise serious concerns about

the application:

First, Eskom revalued existing assets in the
middle of their operating lives thus realising a
huge revaluation windfall. The methodology
used by 'Eskom to revalue its asseis is
normally only used in fully privatised and
deregulated electricity markets and is not
applied worldwide to vertically integrated
public monopolies. This revaluation more
than doubled Eskom's regulated asset
base and resulted in a rise in the claim by
Eskom for depreciation to R31-billion in

2010, versus only R7-billion if the traditional

MK
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inflation adiusted historic cost valuation

methodology was applied

Secondly, Eskom proposed a real pre-tax
welghted cost of capital of 10,3%, which,
when applied against the regulatory asset
base, would result in a significant return
on capital values by the third year of the
MYPD 2 period. This compares o the 7.3%
weighted average cost of capital adopied
by Nersa in MYPD 1. The 10.3% real pre-
tax welghted average cost of capital is out
of synchronisation with the generally lower
weighted average cost of capital applied to
regulated monopoly businesses where the
production technologies are well known and

where the risks are low.

The Chamber therefore recommended that:

NERSA pay special attention to the windfall

78

=

gain made by Eskom, by revaluing its assets
in terms of the Modern Equivalent Asset
value methodology. Eskom is a 100% state
owned and controlled vertically integrated
public utility and comparable utilities
in countries such as Japan and France
employ the inflation adjusted historic cost
methodology

« NERSA also fully unpack the weighted

average cost of capital calculation made
by Eskom. The Ghamber believes that the
10.3% level applied by Eskom would be
relevant for a higher risk privately owned
company. The real pre-tax weighted
average cost of capital should be equivalent
to the risk-free rate plus a small premium,
as Eskom is considered 1o be a low-risk
leng-term business owned and suppo&ed
by the state. This means that the weighted
average cost of cépital calculation should
be as much as 3% lower than that proposed
by Eskom. This issue is important because,
for every 19 rise in weighted averag.e cost
of capital, the electricity price has to rise by
5%.

Through a combination of revaluation of assets
and a reconfigured cost of capital, the Chamber
believes that the price increase can be limited to
25% a year over the MYPD 2 period. A 25% annual
increase over three years would be much more
manageable and would cause much less damage
when compared to an increase of 35% annualily
for three years. The 26% x 3 rate of increase
would also be congruent with the Nedlac Energy

Summit agreement and the NERSA indicated price
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increases given in its interim 2009 proncuncement.

The Chamber recommended that the amount of
resources applied to demand-side management
should be doubled in the MYPD2 period, as
successful roll-out of demand-side management
is vital to the short-term and medium-term
stabilisation of the situation. The Chamber also
recommended that the funding for demand-
side management should be removed from the
pricing application. Rather, the special 2 cents/kW
environmental levy collected by Treasury, should

be used to fund the demand-side management

costs as demand-side management promotes

energy efficiency.

On 24 February 2010, NERSA announced that
it had approved an allowed revenue for Eskom of
R85-billien for 2010/11, R109-hillion for 2011/12
and R141-billion for 2012/13. This would result
in a percentage price increase of 24.8% on the
average standard tariff from 1 April 2010, followed
by another average increase of 25.8 % from 1 April
2011 and a further price increase of 25.8 % from
1 April 2012.

Road transport

The Department of Transport has commenced
. the development of a road freight strategy for
South Africa. To this end a steering committee
was established and a consultant engaged. Given
the imponrant role that road transport plays in the
mining industry, the Chamber, as ihe principal
represeniative body for the mining industry, was

invited to pariicipate in the steering committee.

The consultants engaged by the department

prepared a baseline report to facilitate the process.
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The baseline report comprises an overview of the

road freight industry, including road infrastructure,
freight corridors, commodity movements and
the regulatory environment. In addiiion, a review
of axle mass limits was provided together with
sections on overload control, law enforcement
and road freight inter-modalism. The report also
reflects international experience and trends in the
road freight industry, The purpose of the report is
to capture key information that would serve as an
input to the development of a comprehensive road
freight strategy for South Africa. The objectives of
the road freight strategy include:

¢ anabling sustainable road infrastructure and

investment

¢ monitoring and enforcing road freight

movement, including inter-modal facilities
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¢ providing relevant short, medium and fong-
term solutions

* analysing and reviewing current axle mass
limits

¢ assessing the proposed weighbridge net-
work

* designing the weighbridge network, i.e.
number, location and type of weighbridge
throughout South Africa.

It is envisaged that the strategy would he

developed in line with:

» the promotion of sustainable road infra-
structure

» the accepiance by the major role players
and stakeholders

e relevant, well grounded and implementable

e international best practice

* the promotion of effective law enforcement.

The process should be completed in 2011.

Late in 2009, the Department of Transport
announced that it was considering amendments
to the legislation pettaining to road firansport
to alleviate the burden on the secondary road
networks, most of which have deteriorated to a

peint where they need o be reconsiructed.

The department envisaged three pieces of

legislation:

¢ The current axle mass load of an axle fitted
with four wheels is 9 000 kilograms, which
the department intended reducing to 8 00C
kilograms in a bid to try to reduce the burden
on the secondary read networks

*  Prohibit the operation of certain axle loads

on secondary road networks to force such

report 2008 - 2010
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loads to migrate to primary road networks

* Prohibit the

commodities on both the primary and

transportation of certain

secondary road networks to compel
the migration of these io the branch rail
lines. The branch railway lines were to be
revitalised for this purpose.

The objective of the envisaged legislation is to

reduce the transport of coal by road. While one

cannot object in principle to the intention of the

department, consideration must be given to the
circumstances that caused the prevailing situation
should the
envisaged iegislation be introduced and enforced.

and the potential consequences,

The current situation developed as a result of the
increased demeand for coal, especially by Eskom.
This demand will continue to increase considerably
over the next decade. Many coal mines are served

by secondary roads and, as they do not have rall
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links, there is no alternative to read transport. In
some cases ihe expected life-of-mine does not
warrant the construction of rail links. The quality
of service provided by Transnet Freight Rail
exacerbated the problem by forcing coal producers

to resort to road transport.

The reduction of the maximum allowable axle
load would reduce the load per truck, but the

number of frucks on the road will increase. This

will exacerbate the existing congestion and may

cause further congestion in other places. The
prohibition of certain commodities, for example
coal, from being fransported by road, may result
in some producers, as well as some consumers,

being stranded.

The existing railway systern and service are not
adequate to reduce the transport of coal by road
significantly. Transnet's national infrastructure

plan does not address the coal feeder network

in Mpumalanga. The security of coal supply to

power stations is too important to risk forcing
transfer coal transportation from road to rail, only
1o discover that the requisite rail capacity was not

adeqguately planned for.

The Chamber advised the Departmeni of
Transport of the above concerns and is awaiting

a response.

Rail transport

During 2009, only 61.1 million tons of coal was
exported through RBCT. This is despite the fact
that the current rail infrastructure has a design
capacity of 74 million tons. During this period,
RBCT increased its capacity from 76 million tons
a year to 81 miilion tons and by mid 2010 was at
a capacity above 80 million tens, Coal producers
ascribed this mismatch to the inability of TFR to
provide an adeguate service to the coal industry.
Transnet in turn partially blamed the coal mining

companies for cancelled pre-booked trains.

A survey of export ceal railings during
Decamber 2008, revealed that 22% of the trains
planned had been cancelled by TFR. The reasons
tor these cancellations were Eskom power
failures, locomotive failures, minor deraiiments,
crew availability; cable theft, service adjustment,
unavailable locomotives and trucks, and signalling
problems. This variety of problems is indicative of
an organisation with serious internal inefficiencies.
The inability of TFR to provide an adequate service
for export and inland transport resulied in the
under-utilisation of coal terminal capacity, lost
export opportunities and excessive road transport

of coal.
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Consequently, a meeting was arranged between

the chief executive of TFR and the chief executive

of the Chamber to consider solutions to this

issue. An official of TFR presented the following

operational developments to the meeting:
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Ownership of branch lines for mining was
being transferred to the Department of
Transport and private operators would be
appointed later in 2010

Theft was Impacting on TFR business.
About R400-million was allocated to theft
management and crime prevention

TFR agreed with Eskom to increase coal

~ haulage of power station coal to 32 million

tons per annum and a rate of nine million
tons per annum has been achieved

Only one power station, namely Majuba,
was connected to the rail system, thus
containerisation and the use of diesel
locomotives was seen as part of the soluticn
onthe Highveld. A rail connection to Camden
power station was due to be completed by
the end of July 2010

Eskom had not yet acquired the coal
contracts for the 32 million tons of coal and
the feed of export coal from the mines was
less than expected and some trains had 1o
be rescheduled

The TFR balance sheet was not able to
handle expansions, thus public/private
partnerships were seen as a way forward
Export for smaller mines needed to be
facilitated to aid entrepreneurships and to
avoid the development of new routes that

would merely move the problem elsewhere

The low level of transparency between

coal producers and TFR was affecting
information sharing and optimisation was
inhibited. Collaboration had started with
the mining sector and TFR was improving
customer service

A study of the Waterberg was being done by
TFR, but information was difficult to gather
as companies were not disclosing their
intentions

TFR needed to develop the infrastructure to

increass to 21 milllon tons of export coal.

The parties agreed to meet again later in 2010 to

discuss progress.

During June 2009, Transnet presented its National

Infrastructure Plan to stakeholders for comment,

The objectives of the plan were to:

provide Transnet and the stakeholder
community with a framework within which
long-term planning for port, rail and pipelines
could be executed

form a basis for engagements with key
government and other stakeholders
investment

inform  Transnet's capital

programme  and future funding
requirements

act as a governance document for
infrastructure planning and investment in

Transnet.

Key components of the plan were:
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a status quo assessment of the port and
freight rail network

a 30-year integrated freight demand
forecast

the application of key planning principles,
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assumptions and operating strategies 1o
inform future devetopment of the network
an assessment of fulure capacity
requirements
» development of options and scenarios
s Transnet's five-year capital programme.
The Chamber's comment focused on the
aspects of the plan concerning the Richards
Bay coal export fine, the Waterberg coal line,
the Hotazel — Port Elizabeth manganese export
corridor and the Mpumalanga coal feeder network.
I all these cases the Chamber pointed out that
the plan did not address the needs of the mining
industry adequately and offered its assistance in
rectifying the deficiencies. Transnet responded that
it recognised the need to adjust the plan to deal

with the issues raised by the Chamber,

Coaltech Researbh Association

The year under review witnessed the gradual
recovery of the global economy and an increase in
business confidence. This was reflected in the coal
mining industry by an increase in the price of export
ceal, butwhich was unfortunately also accompanied

by increases in the cost of most mining inputs.

Against this backg‘round, the Coaltech Research
Association (Coaltech) continuedto pursuethebroad
research directions agreed to by iis shareholders
who are the primary users and beneficiaries of the
resultant knowledge and technologies. The broad
research directions are waterless beneficiation
of coal, improved utilisation of coal resources,
environment, infrastructure development, the
Waterberg coalfield, energy efficiency and clean

coal technology.

MM\ annual report 2009 - 2010
' hA. 7 ">




annual report 2009 - 2018

Some notable accomplishments during the past

12 months include:

¢ the investigation of ion exchange technology

for water treatment

+ testing a low profile load-haul-dumper in an

underground environment

* compiletion of the infill regional gravity survey

of the Waterberg

» compietion of guidelines for the socio-

economic aspect of mine closure

¢ an investigation of various coal transport

options.

From the outset the development of high-level
skills for mining related research and development
was a subsidiary objective of Coaltech. The current
approach is to involve postgraduate students in
research projects wherever possible. To date 72
people have obtained postgraduate qualifications

through Coaltech. Currently 29

registerad
postgraduate students are working on Coaltech

projects.

Following a decision that Coaltech should en-
hance its profile and publicise its work, presenta-
tions on Cealtech and various Coaltech projects
were made to meetings of the South African Col-
liery Managers Association, the South African Col-
liery Engineers Association, tha Fossil Fuel Founda-
fion and the Mine Health and Safety Council. The
Coaltech board also arranged for some of its meet-
ings to take place at universities that are engaged
in Coaltech projects. The manager of Coaltech also
participated in a conference on mining research in
Africa arranged by the Department of Science and

Technelogy. This signifies recognition of Coaltech
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as an important contributor to mining research,

Coaltechalso exhibited its wotkat the International
Water Conference and at the Department of Trade
and Industry’s Technology Exhibition, where i
received a Certificate of Achievement as a finalist
in the Technology for Human Resources in Industry

Programme’s Research Collaboration Category.

Olifants River water monitoring
project

During 2009, the Chamber’s Collieries Committee
agreed to support an investigation, to be undertaken
by the CSIR under the auspices of the Olifants River
Forum, namely the Assessment of eutrophication
and chemical pollution in surface waters of the
upper Olifants River system: Implications for aguatic
ecosystem health and the healih of human users
of water. It was also agreed that the investigation

should be managed and funded through Coaltech,

Based on the interim results from the first year of
this study and historical data of the catchment, the
main stressors in the catchment are heavy metals
and sulphates, originating frorn mining and industry
and nutrients and microbiological contaminants
originating from pocr sewage treatment and

feediots,

Heavy metals like aluminium, iron and manganese
were the most frequently detecied and in the
highest concentrations in both water quality and
bicaccumulation samples. It appears that heavy
metal accumulation occurs across all sites in the
catchment, even in areas with low mining and
industrial activity. Researchers are investigating if

acid rain could be responsible for mobilising heavy
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metals owing to its unusual acidity. 7

All the sites showed mild to heavy microbial
centamination, most likely because of untreated
or poorly-treated sewage flowing into rivers and
sireams. The samples were contaminated by
micro-organisms in the form of bacteria, viruses
and protozoan parasites such as Salmonella,
Shigella spp. (causes bloody diarrhoea, high
fever, abdominal pain but not vomiting), Giardia
(diarrhoea}, Cryptosporidium (long-lasting diarrhoea
in immunecompromised individuals), Vibrio cholera
(severe diarrhoea and vomiting and possible death
if not treated), as well as Norovirus and Enterovirus
(diarrhoea). E. coli bacteria (an indicator of faecal
matter in water) exceeded the South African water

guideline values, indicating a high risk for diarthoea.

Local communities, who use untreated water
from these sites face a high risk of contracting
disease,

Thus far sampling has taken place during
periods of high rainfall with su.bsequent high river
flows. Future sampling will continue to focus on
measuring water guality variables and ecological
health indicators to determine any seasonal trends.
All indications are that the project will identify the
frue sources of pollution in the Upper Qlifants River.
system. That would allow the real problems to be
addressed effectively without apportioning undue

blame to any party.

In view of the interim results the Olifants River
Forum has agreed to continue with financial support

for this project.
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he key highlight
of the period
under review is

the legislative duplication

| and uncertainty of
the regulatory regime
for environmental

management in the mining
| sector. Intra-government

negotiations  culminated
in an agreement between
the Department of
- Affairs

(DEA) and the DMR, that environmental issues

Environmental

in the mining sector would be managed in terms
of the National Environmental Management Act
(NEMA) and its regulations. This would streamline
the environmental management system in the

country.

Mining recently experienced heightened media
and non-governmental organisation attention on
the environmental legacies of the past century.
The environmental, safety and health hazards
associated with ownerless and derelict mines, as
manifested by acid mine drainage {AMD), were
extensively covered in the media, The media
focus led to parliamentary hearings on AMD
and subsequent visits to the areas of concern
in Gauteng were undertaken by members of
parliament and a speciai ministerial-level task

team was established to deat with AMD.

The formation of a tripartite task team to
interrogate the performance of the mining industry
was a significant milestone during the period

under review. The task team will focus on the
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competitiveness and transformation of the mining
industry. MIGDETT wasformed and various working
groups were mandated 1o investigate different
aspects of competitiveness and transformation -
includingissuesrelating to sociallicenceto operatea.
The MIGDETT process culminated in the signing
of a Declaration on Strategy for the Sustainable
Growth and Meaningful Transformation of South
Africa’s Mining Industry. This strategy endeavours
to address transformation and position the mining
industry on a sustainable growth path within the
restraints poised by the legislative environment,
the competing interests of economic growth and
environmental conservation, It also addresses
environmental legacies such as AMD and the
effective management of derelict and ownerless

mines.

Sustainable development provides a framework
for the Chamber’s input on envircnmental policy
and the The Chamber

recognises and promotes the pursuit of a

legislative process.

balance between the four pillars of sustainable
development, namely social equity, environmental
management, economic development and an

effective governance framework,

The Chamber’s'-- envircnmental department
participated in most initiatives that dealt with
environmental issues of concern o the mining
industry and provided expert and specialist
input to many legistative and policy initiatives
undertaken during 2008/10. The main vehicles for
such interaction are the Chamber’s Environmental
Policy Committee (EPC) and the Industry Forum
on Radiation (IFR). The EPC consists of a group of

environmental managers and senior consultants

N
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from the mining companies. It represents the
single most senior environmental management

grouping in the mining industry in South Africa. The

IFR consists of various radiation specialists from

Chamber member companies, and inciudes other
interest groups such as consuttants, recyclers and

scrap metal dealers.

In addition tfo engaging government on
environmental management policy and water
issues, the Chamber continues to liaise with a
wide range of stakeholders in the mining industry,
from cormmunity organisations concerned about
the environmental impacts of mining, to specialist
groups undertaking studies into various aspects of

environmental management,

Policy, legislation and
engagement

The Chamber provides specialist input on
environmental matters through its participation on
task tearmns, government anc other project steering
committees, the National Nuclear Regulator (NNR},
Busa, Nedlac, the National Business Initiative
{NBI), in public hearings of portfolic committees
on environmental programmes and to legislative
proposals in the National Assembly and the

National Council of Provinces.

The Chamber also provided expert opinion
around some of the contentious issues in the public
domain associated with the interface between
mining and environmental conservation. During
the period under review, the Chamber met with
the ministers of environmental affairs and mineral

resources to discuss issues of mutual concern.
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Alignment of the regulatory
framework

The amendments to the MPRDA and NEMA were
meant to streamline environmental management
in the mining sector. However, the uncertainty of
the legislative requirements and processes within
the two depariments tend to make applications
for the necessary authorisations and compiiance
monitoring and enforcement a nightmare for
mining companies. '

The agreement between the DMR and the DEA
meant that the minister of mineral resources
would be the compsetent authority responsible
for implementing environmental matters as
they refate to prospecting, mining, exploration,
production and related activities and the minister
of environmental affairs would be responsible
for drafting and promulgating all environmental
policies and legislation in terms of NEMA. The
two departiments concurred that this agreement
would be implemented 18 months after the last
Bill has been enacted. The agreement is thus not
yet effective as the MPRD Amendment Act has not
yet been enacted. However, this has not stopped
provincial environmental authorities demanding
that mining companies comply with the provisions
of the amended NEMA.

Subsequently, the minister of the DMR
communicated to the Chamber her intention of
reviewing the agreement as the regulations in terms
of NEMA have some unintended consequences
for the mining industry. Although environmental
affairs is a function of both provincial and national

governments, if has become apparent that NEMA
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is mainly implemented through the provincial
authorities. Mining is a national mandate and thus,
in terms of the Constitution, no provincial authority
canmake adecision on environment-related mining
matters. The Chamber has made representation

aimed at highlighting some of these issues.

The uncertainty around the environmental
authorisation landscape continues to frustrate
the mining industry and the EPC continues to

pérticipate in environmental policy developments

Implementation of the National
Environmental Management: Air
Quality Act

The National Environmental Management: Alr

90

Quality Act, No. 39 of 2004, came into law on
1 April 2010. This

municipalities to carry out the licensing provisions

legislation  mandates
in NEMA, irrespective of the readiness or not of the
authorities fo do so. The Act makes provision that
if a municipality is u'n-able to carry out this function,
the province can exercise Section 139 of the
Constitution and become the licensing authority.
Nevertheless, the problem for the mining industry
is the tmeframe and the modalities around the
implementation of this proviso.

In March 2010, the DEA published a list of
activities that result in atmospheric emissions
detrimental to the environment, health, society,

the economy, the ecology and cultural heritage. it

g
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also prescribed minimum emission standards and
provided for the application for an aimospheric

emission licence.

The DEA also published model air quality by-
laws for municipalities to either adopt or adapt,

and ultimately enforce.

implementation of the National
Environmental Management:
Waste Act

The Management:
Waste Act, No. 58 of 2008 was published in the

Government Gazette on 10 March 2008 and came

National Environmental

into force on 1 July 2009, with the exception of
Section 28(7) {a), Sections 35 to 41 and Section
48. The DEA has since embarked on several
policy developmental processes to support the
implementation of the Aci.

The
Management Strategy (NWMS) is provided for
under Section 6 of the Act. The first draft of the

development of a National Waste

NWMS and the Generic Guideline Document for
Preparing Industry Waste Management Plans were
published for public comment in March 2010.

The NWMS aims to achieve the objectives of the
Act, including:

» objectives, plans, guidelines, systems and
procedures relating to the protection of the
environment and the generation (including
the avoidance and minimisation of such
generation), re-use, recycling, recovery,

treatment, d'rsposél, use, control and

management of waste in order to achieve
the objects of this Act

* mechanisms, systems and proceduras for

"

giving effect to the country’s obligations in
terms of relevant international agreemenis

» practical measures for

achieving co-
operative governance in waste management
matiers

* guidanceonraisingawareness ontheimpact

of waste on health and the environment

* approaches for securing compliance with

the requirements of the Act, including the
monitoring of compliance

¢ any other matter that the minister considers

necessary for achisving the objects of the
Act.

The mining industry, through the Chamber, noted
that the strategy reiterates the ongoing legislative
difemma between the MPRDA and NEMA
and has not been revised to take into account
the DMR's withdrawal of the environmental
authorisation amendments the strategy proposes
and the development of a mining industry waste
management plan within three years under the
MPRDA,

In July 2010, the DEA published, for comment,
the National Waste Information Regulations for

comments,

Revision of the National Water
Resource Strategy

The Chamber is involved in reviewing the National
Water Resources Strategy (NWRS) initiated by the
Department of Water Affairs (DWA). In terms of
Section 58(4) {b) of the National Water Act, No. 36
of 1988 (NWA), the NWRS must be reviewed every
five years. The NWRS provides a framework for

the protection, use, development, conservation,

M
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manzagement and control of water resources for the

entire country, including regional and catchment

level within defined water management areas.

The approach to be followed by the department

in revising the strategy will focus on the following:

The contents of the NWRS as defined
in Sections 6 (1) and 6 (2) of the NWA

Existing strategies, frameworks and studies will be
incorporated inte the seceond edition of the NWRS.
This includes a climate change strategy, a water
for growth and development framework, an AMD

strategy and a national ground water strategy.

The revision will be underpinned by the

development of thematic issues that focus on water
resource management aspects, such as water
conservation and demand management, water
allocation reform, augmentation and infrastructure
and protection of water resources. 1t is envisaged
that these thematic issues would be supported
through enabiing strategies that consider disaster
management, institutional arrangements, investing
in people, information and monitoring, research

and innovation, and finance

The Chamber and its members participated in
workshops on water resource thematic issues, with
internal and external experts, to identify the issues

and enhance the content of the working papers.

To date only the inception report and the
overarching framework have been approved. A
number of working papers that focus on water
resource management and enabling thematic

issues are being developed.

DWA: Olifants River Reconciliation
Strategy

In an effort to review the National Water F{esource‘
Strategy, the DWA is developing reconciliation
studies in water catchment areas. The development
of a reconciliation 'sfrategy for the Olifants River
water supply system is one of the initiatives that
would feed into the revision of an overall review
of the National Water Resources Management
Strategy. In July 2010, the DWA hosted a
stakehoider workshop, the objective of which was
to conslider all possible options to reconcile water
requirements and water availability in the study
area and to decide which of the options' should

be investigated further. The mining sector was
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identified as one of the key economic stakeholders

within the Olifants Water Management Area.

The Chamber

development reconciliations studies on other

also participates in  the
catchment management areas within South Africa
to ensure that the interests of the mining industry
are taken into consideration during the processes

of water planning.

Water Conservation and Demand
Management Framework Guidelines

The Directorate: Water Use Efficiency of the DWA
commissioned a project in 2005/08 to develop
a Generic Water Conservation and Demand
Management (WC/DM}  Framework Guideline
for the Mining Sector. Since then the DWA has
collaborated with the Chamber to update the
document. The guideline will assist the DWA and
the mining industry to assess, plan and manage
the WC/DM and improve water efficiency in the

sector.

The updated document also addresses the
.implementation and relevance of the propbsed
framework in other mining activities such as
gquarrying. The final guideline document should be
adopted during 2011.

The DWA recently established a WGC/DM
reference group to faciltate and co-ordinate
the development and monitoring of an effective
sector-wide water conservation and water demand
management programme. The reference group (in
which the Chamber is represented) shouid report
on its activities to the Water Sector Leadership
Group (WSLG) by March 2011.
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Development of a national
climate change policy

South Africa, as a party to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC), is required to participate and undertake
some of the responsibilities of the convention. The
UNFCCC meeting in Copenhagen in December 2009
was expected to produce a binding agreement for
emissions reduction post-2012. However, given the
nature of clima’ce’change negotiations, which cannot
be divorced from the impact of mitigation measures
on individual countries’ sconomic development, a
proposed agreement could only be entertained
when high emissions per capita countries, such
as South Africa, commitied tc some emissions
reduction. Consequently, South Africa committed
to a greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reduction of

349 by 2020 and 42% by 2025,

e
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Government developed a national climate change
policy to facilitate the realisation of the country’s
GHG targets. The basis of this policy is the Long
Term Mitigation Scenarios (LTMS) study undertaken
by the DEA and subseqguently approved by Cabinet
in 2007. To this end, ther Chamber engaged
the DEA on the GHG data for the mining industry.
The GHG data would feed inic the national
inventory 1o determine a baseline for the country’s

emissions,

During the Busa/ERC-DEA mesting,

department expressed its

the
intention to hold
discussions on the draft green paper on climate
change by September 2010. Public engagement
on the draft green paper on climate change will

take place after government discussions.

Sustainable development debate

Economic, social development and environmental
protection are all essential elements of sustainable
development., The nexus between economic
development and the conservation of natural
resources has been a subject of recurrent debate.
One of the more visible and controversial debates
centres on the impacts of the mining industry on
the envirenment, however, mining produces goods
essential to soclety’s developmental needs and
makes a substantial contribution to the economy.
Reconciling economic and social development
opportunifies with the need for biodiversity

conservation and environmental protection,

reguires the development of more strategic and
integrated approaches to land wuse planning
and management %o assist societies in making

informed decisions. The mining and metals
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industry’s biodiversity conservation performance
is under increasing scrutiny from regulators,
NGOs, commentators and financial analysts,
Demonstrating a commiiment tfo biodiversity
conservation is now an essential element of
sustainable development for the mining and metals

industries.

Water Sector Leadership Group

The Chamber is a member of the WSLG, which was
established by the Department of Water Affairs and
Forestry (now the Department of Water Affairs), The
WSLG is the highest non-statutory stfategic sector
partnership forum for the South African water
sector. The WSLG provides a platform for dialogue,

planning, reflection and monitoring of water sector

My
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pelicy, legislation, strategies and programmes
towards improving sector performance and directly
contributing towards improved co-ordination
of plénning. The WSLG performs the following

functions:

¢ |t serves as a think fank for the water sector

and prepares a national action agenda for

water and ensures that sound policies, laws,

strategies, programmes and institutions are

developed to achieve the goals of the Water

for Growth and Development framework
document

¢ |t facilitates dialogie between government
departments, civil society and the private sector

on input, support and contributions to improve

, __

the implementation of water sector policies,
strategies and programmeas

« |t provides recommendations on policies,
legislation, programmes and strategies and
serves as a forum for stakeholder consultation
and involvement. The Chamber is a standing
member of the executive commitiee of the

WSLG and its working groups.

Nedlac: FRIDGE project
The FRIDGE project on the viability of using

economic instruments to achieve emissions,
aims to achieve a better understanding of the
policy mechanisms available to achieve emission

reductions, and the potential impacts on industry.

| The pioject focuses on direct emissions and

indirect emissions from electricity. Non-electricity
indirect emissions are excluded from the

analysis.

In terms of the UNFCCC, South Africa is a non-
annex 1 party, and as such there are currently
no firm obligatory targets for GHG emission
reductions. However, the country, as one of
the high-intensity GHG emissions countries,
committed itseif to non-binding emissions
reduction targets'during the climate change

meeting in Copenhagen.

Radiation issues

The Chamber engages with the National Nuclear
Regulator {NNR) on all radioactive issues affecting
the mining industry.

There is continuous interaction between the
Chamber and the NNR on current intiatives around

the management and prevention of radioactive

M
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contaminationinthe Wonderforteinspruitcaichment
area. The mining companies in the area have come
together to form a mining interest group and the
Chamber assists in the interaction of the group with
the NNR and other stakeholders.

National Business Initiative

The National Business Initiative (NBI)

established when the Urban Foundation and

was

Consultative Business Movement merged. [t is a
business coalition focusing on the role of business
in sustainable development. The Chamber co-
operates with the NBI on the implementation of the
Energy Efficiency (EE) Accord. The Energy Efficiency
Technical Committee oversees the EE process
and has developed a monitoring and reporting
guideline. Other issues under discussion with NBI
are climate change, sustainable development and
the UN Global Compact.

Water Institute of Southern Africa
(WISA)

WISA provides a forum for exchange of information
and views to improve water resources management
in southern Africa. The Chamber participates in
most WISA divisions and is a standing member
of the management committee of the Mine Water
Division, which was established to execute
activities aimed &t improving the practice, status
and professionalism of water management in the
mining industry,

During 2009, WISA's mine water division and
the International Mine Water Association hosted
an international mine water conference. The

Chamber’s environmenzaj department formed part
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of the co-ordinating committee and the Chamber's
chief executive delivered the opening address. Not
only was there an outstanding technical programme
coveringuniquelocalandinternationaldevelopments
in the field of mine water management, but there
were also pre-conference technical workshops and
post-conference technical tours to visit mine water

management facilities at major mines.

The Chamber is assisting WISA's mine water
division in planning a symposium for November
2010, which will mainly focus on mine water

management.

The Chamber participated at the bi-annual WISA

conference in Durban from 18 to 21 Aprii 2010.

ICMM participation

The Chamber is one of 27 national and commod-
ity association members of the ICMM. The envi-
ronmental adviser's office participates in the As-
sociation’s Co-ordiﬁation Group, Environmental
Stewardship and Biodiversity Task Force and is a
correspondence member of the Integrated Materi-
als Management Task Force and the Community

Development Task Force.

United Nations Commission on
Sustainable Development

The Commission on Sustainable Development
(CSD) meets annually in New York, in two-year
cycles with each cycle comprising of a review
year and a policy year and focusing on selected
thematic issues. The sessicn to facilitate the review
was held at the beginning of May 2010 and the
environmental adviser's office was part of the South

African delegation.

LN
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The 2010/2011 cycle focuses on transport,

chemicals, waste management, mining and

sustainable consumption and production patterns.
South Aftica submitted a report outlining progress
towards achieving sustainable development goals.
The Chamber contributed towards the drafting
of the report. South Africa's paper focused on
the implementation of the Johannesburg Plan
of Implementation targets and the Millennium
Declaration Geals and Agenda 21; lessons learnt
and best practices; and 1irends, constrainis,

chaflenges and emerging issues.

South Africa's report noted that there had
been significant change in the mining, minerals
and metals sector since the WSSD in 2002.
Substantial changes to mining legislation have
occurred and policies and guidelines have been
developed in response to the changes in the
legislation. Mining companies are taking intiative
in their sustainability policies and reporting.
The mining, minerals and metals industry still
faces numerous challenges to mest targets for
transformation, health and safety and environmental

issues.
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uring the vear

under review,

the Chamber’'s
Health Unit continued
its initiatives aimed at
improving the health of
mine employees. These
endeavours were mainly
in the areas of control of
noise and dust; control
(TB)
and HIV/AIDS; the Mine

Occupational Health and

of tuberculosis

Safety (MOSH) Learning Hub; the implementation
of the Ex-Mineworker Project; participation in Mine
Health and Safety Council (MHSC) committees;
and advice to the Compensation Fund under
the Cccupational Diseases in Mines and Health
Act {OCDMWA)}. Work was also undertaken in the

medico-legal examination of mine deaths.

State of health in mining

The challenge of poor health statistics for the
mining industry continues, with no formal report
available from the DMR for 2008.

Tuberculosis

According to data from the DMR, 4 639 cases of
occupational TB were reporied by the industry in
2008. This figure is in line with figures collated for
the Chamber’s Sustainability Report, which has
around 4 000 cases reported annually from 2005
to 2007.

Chamber data from 2005 to 2008 (ﬁgure 2)
suggests that TB incidence rates in all mines,
including gold mines, declined. The industry’s
incidence rate fell from 1 259/100 000 in 2005 to
884/100 00C in 2008, while in the gold industry it
dropped from 2 581/100 000 in 2005 to 2 267/100
000 in 2008. The incidence of all forms of TB in
South Africa was 948/100 000 in 2007.

Figure 1: Total diseases reported in mines (source: DMR, 2009}
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Figure 2: Estimated incidence of TB in SA
mines and SA general population
{source: Chamber, WHO)

3poo

- //I\L

2000

150

- Aate per 100 80D

1000 e

500

2005
2006
2007
2008

—— Gold All commodilles  —k— South Africa

The key driver of the TB epidemic in the mines is
HIV/AIDS, with silicosis also being a factor.
Silicosis
Preliminary statistics for 2009 reveal an increase of
silicoses cases year-on-year (figure 3).

Owing to the long latency period for the

devetopment of silicosis, which can be up to 20
years, the more critical indicator of progress on
exposure 1o dust is dust measurements, The
percentage of silica dust samples below the
legislated occupational exposﬂre limit {OEL) has
increased over time, which shows an improvement

in dust control.

Noise Induced Hearing Loss
(NIHL)

The preliminary statistics for N[HL. cases show no
improvement compared to 2008. The overall trend
of NIHL cases is, however, much lower than from
1998 to 2005.

The policy environment

The Mine Health and Safety Amendment Act was
promulgated in 2009 and its implementation is now
being refined The introduction of Section 11 of the
Act brought a fundamental shift in investigations

into heakh threatening events. The Chamber is

Figure 3: Number of new silicosis cases recorded in the mining industry
(source: Chamber, DMR})
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Figure 4: Percentage of silica dust samples below OEL (source: S & T Report)

Parcentage

“‘"“-——"“‘""m"‘i
]
I

Coal 2005
old 2005

(&}
— Milestone (35%)

Diamends 2005 |~

. % Bilica samples < 0.1mg/m3 for coal

B2 % Slbies samples < 0.1mg/m3 for dlamands

E % Sliica sampies < 0.1mg/m3 for gold

engaging the DMR in an effort to reach consensus
on the interpretation of this section and the

expected actions required for various outcomes
such as NIHL.

The introduction of a Nationa! Health Insurance
(NHI) and its anticipated effect on the industry

shouid be clearer ohce an officiai policy document

4

Other 2005
2008

2007

2008
Flatinurn 2005
2006

2007

2008

- % Silica samples < 0.1mg/m3 for other commodities

. % Bilica samples « 0.1mg/m3 for platinum

is made available by government for public

comment.

Review of strategic focus areas
for 2009/10

Control of TB, silicosis and HIV/AIDS

Because these three diseases are interlinked,

Figure 5: Cases of NIHL (source: Chamber, DMR)
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Table 1 : Initiatives at tripartite and Chamber level

the mining industry tends to approach them as a
single entity wherever poésible. Interventions on
TB, silicosis and HIV/AIDS are at three levels: the
tripartite level {DMR or Department of Health (DoH},
employers and the unions); at Chamber level; and at
individual mining company level. Most interventions
are at individual company level with advecacy and

some projects at the tripartite and Chamber levels.

Initiatives at tripartite and Chamber levels are

summarised in table 1 above.

Tripartite initiatives

Tripartite inftiatives continue through the MHSC. In
2003, the tripartite industry partners set targets for
the elimination of silicosis and NIHL by 2013 and
committed to a Tripartite Action Plan. The Tripartite
Action Plan has elements such as improving the
culture of health and safety, building capacity,
promoting an industry that is constantly striving
fo gain more knowledge around these diseases

and Improving the health and safety of wotk
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environments. The MHSC is responsible for the
implementation of the plan. The MHSC, as part of
its broader mandate to improve health and safety
on the mining industry, has extensive programmes
on research, policy and legislative information,
Employers took part in the silicosis roadshows
organised by the MHSC in 2000,

The incdustry’s response to HIV/AIDS is led
by the Mining Industry Tripartite HIV and AIDS
Committee, chaired by the minister of the DMR.
The commitiee’s response s encapsulated in a
number of appreaches: the 2003 Declaration of
Intent, the 2006 HIV and AIDS Summit resolutions
and the implementation plan adopted after the
summit. The plan encompasses various facets
such as prevention, care and support, research
and human rights. A mining HIV/AIDS summit is
scheduled for October 2010.

Chamber initiatives

The Chamber's approach to the TB epidemic

U
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emphasises the elimination of silicesis and
reduction of HIV/AIDS, which are the key drivers of
the TB epidemic. Refinementis to TB programmes
are also part of the strategy to control TB. The
Chamber’s Group Environmental Engineer (GEE)
committee and the Health Policy Committee (HPC)

lead these initiatives.

Members of the GEE committee identified control
of dust as critical and established a working group
to advise members on ways to improve dust

control.

The working group identified fwo major areas
of concern, namely the sampling strategy and
silica analysis techhigues. A position paper was
prepared to clarify the misconceptions around
silica analysis. The group also made a huge
contribution towards the revised DMR Airborne
Pollutant guideline that addresses the sampling
strategy concern. The MHSC is currently reviewing
the guideline. The MOSH dust team is a member
of the working group and provides valuable input.
The MOSH team is in the process of demonstrating
the fogger leading practice in the coal sector and
has commenced with the next leading practice

- footwall and sidewall treatment.

Through its representation on the HPC, the
Chamber held extensive consultations with the
DoH on TB ceontrol during the year under review.
This was part of the process of developing strategic
engagements on the subject and to foster & better
understanding of the ways in which TB is controlled
in the industry and improve co-operation in areas

where improvement is needed.

A TB task team was estabiished by the Chamber
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in 2009. Employers committed to and are

implementing the following strategies agreed upon
at the HPC.

* Collating data on TB to ensure that statistics
for the industry are available centrally

¢ Conducting annual audits of company TB
programmes, using the TB review tool

* Providing a continuum of care when
miners are isolated during TB treatment, by
providing:
* a referral letter to the nearest public

facility or country

providing, where reguired, treatment for

the remainder of the period

reviewing the patient's condition, on

completion of the treatment, and again

a year later '

¢ Providing Isoniazid (INH) prophylaxis for HIV

positive people and for those with silicosis

* Using Teba to support completion of TB

treatment.

The HPC also decided to integrate care for
TB and HIV/AIDS as far as possible, since there
is a 73% HIV co-infection rate in TB patients in
South Africa, making separation of these diseases
virtually impossible. It is foreseen that over time
experience in the integration of these two diseases

will improve.

The industry agreed to support government’s
HIV counselling and testing (HCT} campaign in
collaboration with the South African Business
Coalition for HIV and AIDS (SABCOHA).

The Chamber hosted a successful parallel

session on 1B and the mining industry at the South

Mk chamber of mines of south africa
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African TB conference held in Durban from 1 to 4

June 2010. The aim of the session was to:

= provide an overview of the context,
prevalence and response to TB in the mining
industry

e present leading practices and successes in
control of TB

* explore challenges that stiil persist and pos-
sible approaches for improving TB control

e build partnerships on control of TB in the

mining industry.
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Case studies from Goldfields, Anglo Platinum
and MOSH were shared with the audience.
These were follqwed by a panel discussion with
various stékeholders such as the NUM, AIDS
(ARASA),
the National Institute for Occupational Health
(NIOH) and Aurum Institute. Although the work

Rights Advocacy Scuthern Africa

done by mining companies was appreciated,

it was recognised that various challenges
still persist in the management of TB in the

industry.

M

annual report 2002 - 2010
1A T —



annual report 2009 - 2010

Control of noise

The GEE established a working group on noise
control and is awaiting a decision from the MHSC
to revise the guldeline on noise management.
Although the adoption of the electric rock drill,
which is the pilot project of the MOSH noise team,
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appears to be slow owing to the huge concomitant
financial implications, the leading practice on
the hearing protection device selection tool and
training and awareness is attracting much intsrest.
The demonstration of the practice is on track and

the tool will be available for adoption soon.

Compensation for occupational
diseases

The Occupational Diseases in Mines and Works
Act, No.78 of 1973 (ODMWA), as amended, governs
the compensation for occupational diseases
contracted whiie in the employ of controlled
mines and controlled works. Compensation

for occupational diseases in non-controlled
mines is regulated under the Compensation for
Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act, No. 130

of 1993 {COIDA).

The proposed integration of compensation
legislation was delayed, as the Department of
Labour is no longer tabling this discussion. A
formal word from government is awaited regarding

the future of compensation systems.

The Chamber continues to provide advice to the
Compensation Commissioner for COMWA. A key
area of concern is the 2006 valuation of the fund,

and a report is awaited.

Ex-Mineworker Project

The objectives of the project, conceived in 2004

and started in 2008, are:

« to esiablish occupational health centres at
identified government hospitals to provide

medical examinations to former mineworkers

" —
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e to strengthen the cerlification and
compensation claims process

* t{o promote sustainable economic projects.

The project is running and sites in Nongoma and

Mthatha are being established,

Funding for the second year of the pilot site In

St Benedict’s Hospital, Nongoma, KwaZulu-Natal

k ended in June 2010. Following several setbacks,
the site is now fully operaticnal and being run by

the provincial government. Valuable lessons were

learnt and the experience gained will be used on

the other sites.

Two sites were identified in the Eastern Cape,
but only the one in Mthatha was successfully
activated. The Mthatha site involved the renovation
of the old Sir Henry Elliot hospital. It is expected to
be running in September 2010.

The promotion of socio-economic projects

was a 'great success, with almost 1 500

i farmers reached through the project in
Nongoma. The support provided ranges from

increasing agricultural production, the creation

of market linkages, capacity building and

technical training, the extension of credit

facilities and the introduction of a land rental

programme. A similar project is being set up in
Mthatha.

The board of the Ex-Mineworker Project identified
the sites well ahead of time to enable bstter
planning by the provincial departments. With a full
roll~out plan in place, there should be minimal time

lost in the establishment of sites.

MHSC committees
The Health Unit participates in a number of
MHSC  committees, including the Mine
Occupational Health Advisory Committes and its
technical advisory task teams, the Occupational
Medicine and Hygiene Technical Task Teams and

the Safety in Mines Research Advisory Council
(SIMRAC).
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Occupational hygiene activities

Members of the GEE committee attended a
strategic workshop in 2008, to identify areas of
concern in ventilation/hygiene and to formulate a
strategic plan to address these concerns, Besides
silicosis and noise control, the following areas were

identified and working groups established:

Qualifications

The Chamber is in the process of phasing out
the current Chamber gqualifications. The working
group is liaising with tertiary institulions to design a
formal tertiary qualification. The technical reference
group within the Mining Qualifications Authority
{MQA)} is making good progress on the lower level

qualifications.

Legislation
Two guidelines were revised during the vear:

s Guideline for a Mandatory Code of Practice

for Flammabie Gas in Mines other than Coal

¢« Guidefine for a Mandatéfy Code of Practice
for Flammable Gas in Coal Mines.

Both documents were forwarded to the Mining

Regulatory Advisory Commitiee and Legal Drafting

Committee for finalisation and it is expected that

they will be promulgated before the end of 2010,

The Guideline on Afrborne Pollutants should be
completed within the next couple of months and
the revision of the Noise Guideline will commence

S0o0n.

A proposal was forwarded to SIMRAC to
undertake research on diesel particulate matter
and vibration to set occupational exposure limits

for the South African mining Industry.
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Other occupational health
activities

Medico-legal investigation of mine
deaths

In July 2002, the HPC noled several incidents
where there was uncertainty around the roles of
the DMR and mining companies on medico-legal
examinations of mine deaths. Several meetings
were held with the chief inspector of mines and it

was agreed that work should be done to:

¢ clarifythe roles of all stakeholders in medico-

legal examinations for deaths on mines

* agree on procedures to be followed

+ review the DMR guideline on medico-legal

examinations.

A workshop of all stakeholders was heid in
Novernber 2009, that provided valuable material
for the development of a guidance note on
medico-legal examinations of mine deaths. A task
team undertook to draft the guidance note. The
document is almost compiete and a workshop will
be held in the latier part of 2010 to review it. Once
approved, this guidance note will clarify the roles
of all stakeholders, offer a procedural system in the
event of such deaths and improve communication

between all role-players.

Conclusion

The year under review was one of great activity in
consolidating work initiated by the TB task team.
The control of silica dust and noise continue to be 3
priority for Health and we will continue contributing
to, and monitoring progress in reaching the 2013

industry milestones,

M«/(' chamber of mines of south africa
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+ Implementation
of wage
agreements

he Chamber
and the unions
signed two-year
agreements on wages
and conditions of service
for gold and coal in
2009, thus no centralised

negotiations took place in

the period under review.

Instead, attention was
directed at the implementation of the provisions
of the wage agreements. While a number of
the issues were addressed at company level,
several must be dealt with collectively under
the auspices of the Chamber. These include the

following:

Winding engine drivers

In the gold negotiations in 2008, there were
demands specifically relating to winding engine
drivers. These were considered under the guidance
of independent facilitation in a process that ran
parallei to the main negotiations. After intensive
discussion, it was agreed that two main issues
needed to be addressed, namely, the training of
leaner winding engine drivers and adeguate rest
breaks because of rapid shift changeovers. A
workshop to deal with the former issue took place
in February 2010. The latter issue was also initially
addressed in February, at which time it was agreed

that this matter would be investigated further
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at shaft level and thereafter a feedback session
would take place. The feedback session took place
on 1 June 2010. The unions indicated that they
approved of the steps taken by the companies, but
requested that the union structures at operaticnal
level be involved in the exercise. It was agreed
that all the necessary steps to comply with the

provisions of the agreement had been taken.

Promotion of home ownership in the
coal industry

In the 2009 round of negotiations on wages and
conditions of service, it was agreed that a multi-
party task team should be appointed for the coal
industry to consider ways of effectively promoting
home ownership. 1t was also agreed that
government, for examﬁle, the National Treasury
and the Department of Human Settlements,
should be involved in the task team where
appropriate. The unions reported that there is a
dire shortage of housing in proximity to collieries
and that consguently any available housing is
priced beyond the reach of most employees. The
building of new houses is impeded by the inability
of local authorities to provide infrastructure, in
particular electricity,

The task tearﬁ is exploring ways of promoting
home ownership. it also investigated subsidies

the

Settlements and the Housing Guarantee Fund

provided by Department of Human
to which President Zuma made reference in his
February State of the Nation address. President
Zuma undertook to create a R1-billion housing
guarantee fund to accommodate those who earn

too much to gualify for a government housing

_MMJ
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subsidy, but too little to access a mortgage
from a financial institution. Some of the employees
in the coal sector fall into this category. Possible

tax incentives are also being investigated.

Personal protective equipment

In 2002, NUM submitted a demand on protective
clothing forfemale employees working underground
tc both the gold and coal employers. Agreement
was eventually reached that a joint gold and coall
task team should be established to investigate
protective clothing for female employees working
underground or in opencast collieries. The parties
agree thai the provision of suitable personal
protective eguipment (PPE} for female employess,
that does not compromise health and safety,
presents numerous chalflenges. Such challenges
include

the design of two-piece overalls,

sourcing  safety shoes, gumboots and
gloves in small sizes and helmet design. NUM
is particularly concerﬁed about underwear for
female employees that can withstand the harsh
underground working conditions, The task yeam
was not able fo agree on the issue of whether or
not underwear for female employees could be
classified as PPE and thus should be provided
by the employer. The iask team was alsc not
able to find a legal solution to this question. It
was agreed that research on the issus is required.
To this end a jeint proposal, in kne with agreed
terms of reference, was submitted to the MHSC.
The MHSC agreed to undertake an investigation
into underwear and the broader issue of PPE for

women.
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Monuments and museums

Engagement with the unions arocund a mining
museum in Johannesburg and the erection of
mining monuments in a number of locations with
significant mining links are on going. The task
team dealing with this matter is visiting various
museums to view their facilities and artefacts. it
has already been to the Workers Museumn and
Museum Africa and will be visiting the Apartheid
Museum, the Cullinan Diamond Museum and the

Talana Coal Museum in KwaZulu-Natal.

Merger of the Mineworkers
Development Agency (MDA) and Teba
Development

Discussions about the proposed merger of the
MDA and Teba Development are continuing.
In his 2009 budget speech, the minister of
finance indicated that government wili consider
establishing an agency, to be jointly managed
by business, labour and government, to invest in
economic development in mining towns or labour-
sending areas affected by retrenchments. Teba
Development’s managing director and the chief
executive of the MDA, together with the project’s
facilitator, have begun to engage the DMR on the
feasibility of ’Ehe'merged entity becoming such an

agency.

Core Condition Codes for Miners and
Artisans

Updating of the Core Condition Codes for
Miners and Artisans, both gold and coal, was
finalised early in 2010. This had not been done for

several years and furned out to be & rather large

M
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undertaking, since many praciices and conditions
had either changed or simply fallen away. The
codes must reflect relevant provisions in the wage
agreements concluded over the last decade, as
well as new legisiation enacted after they had last

been revised.

Bargaining council

A major focus of debate between the Chamber and
NUM, Solidarity and UASA during the latter part of
2009 and in 2010 was the issue of a bargaining
council in the mining industry. There is a long
history of collective bargaining in the gold and coal
sectors. For this reason, the discussions are more
advanced in thesea sectors than in some of the other
commuodities. in order not to delay the discussions
while other sectors are brought on board, it was

agreed that gold and coal would forge ahead while
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the other commodities would lag somewhat in

separate processes,

Alsorelatively advanced are the debates amongst
the mining contracting companies that will be
housed in a separate sub-council of the bargaining
council. However, while the largest contractors
are members of the Chamber, there is a large
number, particularly small contractors, that are
not. Therefore, under the auspices of the Chamber,
the Association of Mining Contracting Companies,
together with the unions, commissicned a survey
of the contracting companies. This produced
much needed information about the contracting
landscape, about which very little was known. The
Chamber's Industrial Relations Service has since
pursued engagement on the bargaihing council

with some of the contracting companies that are

Ml e
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not members of the Chamber since, if the members
of a bargaining council are sufficiently represented,
agreemenis that are reached in a council can
be extended to all the contracting companies
regardless of whether or not they were party to the

negotiations that led to their finalisation.

Traditionally, negotiations in the platinum sector
are conducted at company level and wages and
conditions are not standard across the commodity.
A survey of the platinum sector was underiaken
as information was needed on the number of
employees in the sector as a whole for purposes
of determining representivity as required by the
Department of Labour (Dol). The Department will
not agree to extend agreements to non-parties if
those companies that are party to the bargaining
council are not sufficlently representative of the

sector as a whole.

A first draft of a constifution for a bargaining
council for gold, coal and contractors was
prepared and is being studied by the employers
and the unions. This draft constitution is based on
the so-called “principles document” that records
the agreements reached during a lengthy period
of negotiations between the Chamber and the
unions. While goed progress is being made, there
are still some very important matters that have
to be finalised. Foremnst amongst these are the
exemptions procedures, issues relating to smaller
companies, the dispute resolution function and
thresholds for membership of the counci for both
unions and employer organisations. A bargaining
council would have important ramifications for the

industry, particularly for smaller companies, and
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it is critical that the final exemption criteria are

balanced and fair so thai overly onerous wages
and conditions negotiated at the centre are not

imposed on smaller companies.

Quarterly round tables with the unions

Agreement was reached that the Chamber and the
unions would hold guarterly mestings to discuss
matters thai impact on the future of mining in
South Africa generally, and issues relevant to the

indusirial relations sphere in particular.

Several themes emerged during the course of the
discussions. Foremost amongst these is the need
for the parties to build a sustainable and on going
refationship. The point was made that systematic
engagement only takes place every two years
during the wage negotiations. This environment
is confrontational and not conducive te building
real relationships. There should, therefore, be
more frequent and open engagement on issues
that affect the mining industry as a collective.
Further, the parties need a different content to
their engagements and also a different mindset.
The mining industry, particularty in gold, faces
many challenges and overcoming such challenges
would stand a greater chance of success if the

parties work together on collective soiutions.
Other issues that have been raised, include:
e ihe need to develop innovative solutions to
common challenges
¢ the timing of the wage negectiations and the

large number of demands presenied by the

unions

= the benefits of engaging on the state of the
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mining indusiry prior to negotiations

» the feasibility of a course on mining industry

negotiations

* the possibilty of a different formula

being used to arrive at reasonable wage
increases.

A standing item on the agenda s the
implementation of the wage agreements. Issues
such as transformation, parficularly regarding
women in mining, Fanakalo and a protocol to

govern bargaining were also addressed.

MIGDETT

MIGDETT comprises representatives from the DMR,
the unions, the Chamber and the South African

Mining Development Association (SAMDA). After
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a period of relative inactivity, in 2010 MIGDETT
re-started its work with renewed vigour, focusing
on the formulation of a growth and transformation

strategy for the South African mining industry.

MIGDETT targets were set in respect of
employment equity. The objective is to achieve, by
2014, aminimum of 40% hiétorical]y disadvantaged
South Afticans in a number of occupational
categories at the management level, including top

management.

Housing and living conditions were the subject
of considerable debate during the negotiations
on the declaration. Ultimately, it was agreed that
the industry would strive to achieve a target of
one person per room by 2014. 1t also undertook
to convert hostels inte family accommodation by
2014 and to promecte home ownership amongst

emplcyees.

Amendments to labour legislation

Amendments to the Employment Equity Act (EEA),
the Labour Relations Act (LRA) and the Basic
Conditions of Employment Act (BCEA), including
provisions relating to labour brokering, were the
subject of considerable debate in Nedlac, which
established a number of task teams to deal with

the matter.

The task teams completed their deliberations
on a discussion document prepared by the Dol
and their reports were submitted to the minister
of labour. The Dol drafted the amendment bilis
and these will be sent to cabinet after a regulatory
impact assessment has been completed. The

departmeni set a deadline of August 2010 for
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submission of the regulatory assessment report
by the external business environment specialists

contracted to undertake the assessment.

The Industrial Relations Adviser served as the
chief negotiator for employers in all the Nedlac
processes, other than the one dealing with |abour
brokers. She will again take on this role when the
bills are referred back to Nedlac for negotiation by

the stakeholders.

Future of the labour courts

On 3 May 2010, the Department of Justice and
Constitutional Development (DOJ) explained the
content of its latest version of the Superior Couris

Bill to Nedlac and soughi written comments on

the Bill. Busa submitted comments as requested. .

On 21 May 2010, the DOJ again met with Nedlac
and informed Nediac that it was going to publish,
for public comment, the Superior Courts Bill and
a Constitution Amendment Bill in the Government
Gazette iater that day. The DOJ alsc informed
Nediac that it had taken some of the concerns
raised by Nedlac at the previous meeting on board
and had addressed them in the published version
of the Superior Courts Bill. One of the key issues
that was addressed, was the right of representation
in the Labour Matters Special Division by the
same parties who are currently able to represent

disputing parties in the labour courts.

Nedlac met again on 18 June 2010, The DO.J
mentioned that the minister had met with the newly
appointed judge president {(JP} of the labour courts
to obtain his and his judges’ views on the future of

ihe labour couris. Nedlac indicated that it would
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like to meet with the new JP of the labour oouﬁs to

hear the judges’ views on the future of the labour

courts. This meeting took place on 25 June 2010,

In essence, the judges support the proposal to
retain the current labour specialist court in the
form of the Labour Matters Special Division of the
High Court with national jurisdiction. They also
welcomed the recognition in the Bill that labour
court judges shouldh be afforded the same tenure
and conditions of employment afforded to judges
of the High Court. However, the judges believe
that a labour court ought not to comprise listed
judges of the General Divisions of the High Court
{as provided in the Superior Courts Bill), but that
the court ought to be established as a separate,
functional division of the High Court, comprising
judges permanently appointed to that court. They

are thus in favour of the current system in terms
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of which judges are appointed to the labour court
alone, The judges are also of the view that the
current Labour Appeal Court ought to be retained
as a separate specialist court with the status of the
Supreme Court of Appeal, i.e., with appeals from
that court being directed only to the Constitutional
Court.

Currently, the DOJ is processing the responses it
recelved from the public in respect of the two bills.
Itis also taking cognisance of the written responses
it received from both Busa and organised labour. In
addition, it is engaging with the JP of the labour
courts and with the rest of the judiciary. Thereafter,

further engagement with Nedlac will take place.

The industrial relations adviser represented
employers in the one-a-side Nedlac task team that

dealt with this matter.

Mineworkers’ Provident Fund (MPF)

Considerable engagement took piace around the
propesals by the MPF to investigate the feasibiity

of self-administration.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Pw(), was instructed
by the Chamber and NUM to prepare a report
on the issue of administration, including that of
self-administration by the MPF  Of particular
importance is PwC’s recommendation that the
MPF should seriously consider co-sourcing as
an administration mode] as opposed to either a
complete outsourcing model (which is the current
mode! with Momentum as the administrator)
or a complete seff-administration model. As
regards the major issue of unciaimed benefits,

PwC recommends that the MPF shoutd consider
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the separation of the unclaimed benefits into a
separate fund and thereafter outsource this fund
to a specialist service provider. This would provide
specific focus and drive in clearing the backlog of
claims in an agreed timeframe based on agreed

performance criteria. The Chamber and NUM

provided the MPF’s principal officer with the PwC

report for circulation o all the members of the
MPF’s board of trustees. In addition, the Chamber
and NUM met with the board of trustees to discuss

the report. While the MPF's trustees must remain

M
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completely independent, it was asked that they
take into account the recommendations made by

Pw(G in their deliberations on self-administration.

Community Development Forum
In 2008, the Chamber established a Community

Development Forum and responsibility for this

structure was assignedto IRS. The forum comprises
senior representatives of the companies charged

with community development initiatives and the
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implementation of social and labour plans.

Previous liaison with the Department of Land
Reform and Rural Development focused on sharing
information on the department’s community
development initiatives and serious attention was
given, during discussion in 2010, to exploring
possible collaboration between the department
and the mining companies, particularly in labour-
sending areas. Attention would be on the labour-
sending areas in the Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-
Natal initially, but the scope of this initiative would

be broadened in the future.

Interaction took place with the Platinum
Producers’ Forum that operates very successfully
on collaborative projects in the Rustenburg area.
The platinum mines realise that they can achieve
better results with their community development
projects if they work together. The coal and gold
companies are considering if such forums for their

commoedities might deliver similar results,

ILO Study on the use of sanctions
by labour inspectorates

Professor Paul Benjamin was commissioned
by the International Labour Organisation {ILO)
to prepare a paper on the use of sanctions by
labour inspectorates'in South Africa. The study
wiil cover enforcement and the use of sanctions
under the Occupational Health and Safety Act,
the BCEA (including sectoral determinations), the
EEA as well as labour-related laws administered
by other departments such as the Mine Health
and Safety Act. Part of the research project

includes ascertaining the views of organisations
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representing employers and workers on the use
of sanctions and the manner in which labour

inspectors administer them.

Other interaction
Busa and Nedlac

The industrial relations adviser chairs the
Busa Standing Commitiee on Social Policy and
the senior policy analyst is a member thereof.
The' lalter Is also one of the employer
representatives on the L.abour Market Chamber of

Nedlac.

Judicial Services Commission

The Nedlac parties are accorded the right to
participate in meetings of the Judicial Services
Commission when this body meets to interview
and appoint judges for the labour court., Each

stakeholder to nominate one

is permitted
representative to serve in this capacity; the
Chamber’s industrial relations adviser represents

employers.

Tripartite Technical Committee on
HIV/AIDS

The main representative on this Technical
Committee is the Chamber's health adviser, but
IR8 participates in meetings as some of the issues

discussed have industrial refations implications.

Interaction with Chamber members

IRS .administers the Chamber's Labour Policy
(LPC).

sehior industrial relations and human resources

Committes This structure comprises
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managers nominated by the companies across
all the commodities and includes representatives
of the mining contracting companies that are
members of the Chamber. i meets monthiy
to discuss flabour-related policies and issues
and also industrial relations issues that have
an impact on the mining industry. Where
required, the collective positions developed by IRS
and mandated by the LPC are fed into national
debates, either by the Chamber itself or through

Busa.

In addition to providing a collective bargaining and
advocacy service, the Chamber’s IRS also assists
members with gueries and provides information on
iabour-related matters. It also produces a quarterly
Labour Policy Digest, which contains articles on

topical labour policy issues.

Most Influential Women in
Business and Government

At a function at Gallagher Estate held on Friday,
30 July 2010, Dr Elize Strydom, the Chamber’s
industrial relations adviser, was presented with
the CEQ Magazine’s 2010 Most Influential Women
in Business and Government (mining category)

award.

IRS team

In August 2010, IRS was pleased to welcome
Phillemon Motlhamme as a member of the team.
He is a lawyer by training and comes from the
platinum indusiry. He will serve as the Chamber’s

assisiant industrial relations adviser,
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Companies
Act, 2008 and
regulations

he new
Companies Act
of 2008 was
passed into law in April
2009, but is not yet in
force. An Amendment Bil
was pubiished for public

comment in July 2010.

¥ The proposed changesto
= the Act were prepared by

the Department of Trade
and Industry on the initiatives of Busa (of which the
Chamber is a member) and other industry bodies,
Regulations are also being drafted to facilitate the
administrative processes provided for. in the Act.
At this stage, there is no indication as to when it is
anticipated the Act and its Regulations wilt come
into force, but it is unlikely to be in 2010,

Industry retirement funds and
unclaimed benefits’ distribution

Mines 1970s Pension and Provident
Funds

The Chamber administers the Mines 1870s
Pension and Provident Funds. With effect from
1 January 2004, the Mines 1970s Pension Fund
declared a surplus distribution to members in
terms of the Pension Funds Act. Although the
cut-off date for applications for a share of surplus
closed in September 2005, the frustees of the
Pension Fund, in consultation with the fund’s

statutory actuaries and appointed auditors,
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resolved to continue to accept new applications

for a share of surplus, which is ongoing.

Both the pension and the provident funds have
beén cenverted to unclaimed benefits funds, as
neither fund has active members. The funds’
assets are invested for growth and protection
against market volatility. Tracing initiatives
continue unabated io find and pay members
and beneficiaries the unclaimed benefits and
surpiuses due to them, both in South Africa
and its neighbouring countries of Mozambique,

Swaziland, Lesotho and Malawi.

Trustees appointed to industry
retirement funds

The Chamber nominates trustees to the boards
of wvarious mining industry ‘ retirement funds,
including the Sentinel Mining Industry Retirement
Fund, Mine Employees Pension Fund, the
Mineworkers Provident Fund, the Mines 1970s
Pension and Provident Funds and the Chamber
of Mines Retirement Fund. As at 30 June 2010,
the combined assets under management of these

retirement funds approximated R69-billion.

The Chamber, with the boards of trustees and
administrators of. the funds, continues to engage
with government, trade unions, industry forums
and local communities on various matters of
concern to them, and in particular, to identify
beneficiaries and distribute unclaimed benefits to

those who gualify.

Mineworkers Provident Fund

The Chamber and the NUM, as joint sponsors of

the Mineworkers Provident Fund, commissioned
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a report from audit firm PwC in March 2010, into

the process and objectives of the Mineworkers
Provident Fund’s stated intention of moving to a self-

adrinistration platform.

With the support and co-operation of the fund, its
current administrators, Momentum, and its beard
of frustees, the final report was delivered to the
Chamber, NUM and the fund at the end of June 2010.
The report offered constructive advice to the board
and the officers of the fund on best practice in fund
administration using various models, as well as useful
guidance to stakeholders in their mutual initiatives
to enhance service delivery to the fund’s members,

beneficiaries and participating employers.

The fund’s transition to a self-administered and
co-sourced administration platform is currently
underway and should be operational by 1 January
2011,

Teba Bank and Teba Bank
controlling companies

The Chamber and NUM are trustees of the Teba
Fund, which in turn is the sole shareholder of both
the Teba Bank and the Teba Bank Conirolling
Cbmpany. In this capacity, the Chamber nominates
non-executive directors to the board of the bank to
participate in the oversight of the bank’s services
and its regulatory relationship with the Scuth African

Reserve Bank.

The bank provides pension-backed home lcans
to some of the mining industry retirement funds to
which the Chamber appoints trustees and fulfils
a vital role as paymaster and “Workers Bank of
Choice” io the mining industry. The bank’s service

and product offering to its target market continues
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o be enhanced and expanded in consultation with

its stakeholders.

Moratorium on short term
insurance guarantees for mining
rehabilitation

The MPRDA requires that mines make financial
provision for the rehabilitation of their mines as
a license condition. In the first half of 2009, the
DMR announced a moratorium on the acceptance
of short-term insurance guarantees for financial
provision from mining houses, whiist continuing
to accept hank guaraniees as a form of financial
provision.

White progress has been made in the year under
review by some insurers to agree upon forms of
guarantee acceptable to the DMR, the market
remains small and restricted. To assure members
of a full and competit%vé rénge of options for
financial provision as contemplated by the MPRDA,
interactions continue between the Chamber and
the DMR to find agreement on suitable forms of
financial guarantee to be made available to both

large and small mining companies in South Africa,

MHSA and regulations

Mine Health and Safety Amendment
Act of 2008

The Mine Health and Safety Amendment Act
(MHSA) came into force an 30 May 2009, except
for Sections 16 and 26. (These two sections contain
certain controversial provisions, whichthe Chamber
contends are unconstitutienal)) By not Inciuding
these secticns, effect was given to an agreement
reached betwesn the DMR, the Chamber and

organised labour in the mining industry in terms

Ml
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of which the DMR minister would have introduced
a new amendment Bill into parliament later in
2008, to amend the two sections and address the

constitutional concerns raised by the Chamber.

The amendment Bill was not prepared and at
a meeting with the DMR minister on 1 July 2010,
she indicated that she was against a piecemeal
amendment of legislation. She said that one should
look at the MHSA holistically and that the parties
should go back to their areas of concern and link

those to the DMR’s areas of concern.

At the time of writing this report, it was unclear
what process or time frame would be followed to
identify and address the areas of concern of the

different parties and to prepare a new draft bill.
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Enforcement guidelines

While the Chamber and its members fully
support effective enforcement on the MHSA,
setious concemns about unfair and inconsistent
enforcement actions arose during the ysar under
review. These concerns particularly related to
work stoppages by inspectors under Section 54
of the MHSA, which the industry believes could
negatively impact on the competitiveness and
sustainability of the industry, as well as on the
morale of workers. Furthermore, mines could
challenge Section 54 stoppages through legal
processes, which would have a negative impact on
the relationship between the industry and the DMR.
The Chamber became aware that the Mine Health
and Safety Inspectorate (MHSI) was preparing a
national enforcement pelicy. guideline aimed at
ensuring fair and consistent enforcement actions.
The Chamber prepared a draft enforcement policy
guideline that it provided to the MHSI as input into

its document.

At a mesting with the DMR minister on 1 July
2010, the Chamber urged that the guideline be
finalised as a matter of urgency and then submitted
to the MHSC for consideration. The industry
was told that the DMR was in the final stages of
finalising the document and the minister requested
her officials to ask the regions to consuit with DMR

head office before issuing Section 54 sioppages.

Conveyor belt regulations

The conveyor belt regulations came into force on
1 February 2008. The industry identified various
issues relating to the practical implementation
of the regulations. The Chamber heid several
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meetings with officials from the DMR, at which the
industry’s concerns were discussed and where
it was acknowledged that amendments to the
regulations would be required to address some of
the industry’s concerns. At a meeting with the chief
inspecior of mines on 17 August he agreed that
amendments to the regulations wouid be drafted

far consideration within the MHSC structures.

Shafts and winder regulations

Most of the old Minerals Act regulations were
replaced by regulations under the MHSA. One
exception is the regulation relating to shafts and
winders. Following a process that has taken a few
years, proposed new shafts and winder regulations
were clrculated during July 2010 to the MHSC
stakeholders for comment. Chamber members
provided comment. The draft regulations will now
be revised in the jight of these comments, before

being finalised later in 2010.

Protection of employees against risks
of illegal mining

Because of the numerous risks to employees and
other persons created by the activities of illegal
miners and those persons who assist them, the
Chamber proposed at the MHSC that Section 84
of the MHSA be amended to include prohibiticns
on various specific activities underiaken by illegai
miners and persons who assist them. The MHSC
agreed that the matter be considered by MRBAC,
MRAC appointed a special task team to formulate
recommendationst. Atthe time of writing thisreport,

the task team was finalising its recommendations
to MRAC.,
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MPRDA
MPRDA Amendment Act, 2008

The MPRDA Amendment Act was published in the
Government Gazette in April 2009. It is to come
into effect on a date to be fixed by the president by
prociamation in the Government Gazette. No such

date has been decided upon.

Some of the provisions of the Amendment Act
are of concern to the Chamber. The Amendrment
Act will also implement an agreement between the
DMR and the DEA in terms of which environmental
matters in the m.ining industry would ultimately be

dealt with under NEMA, after a transitional period.

Cn 17 August, the minister announced that, as
part of 2 number of initiatives aimed at improving
the legislative and administrative challenges
being experienced by the South African mining
industry, amendmenis would be drafted to the
MPRDA to address various shortcomings that had

been identified. The DMR was hoping to take an

g
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Amendment Bill to cabinet in about October for

approval.

MIGDETT working group on the
regulatory framework

As part of the MIGDETT process, stakeholders
were requested to identify concerns relating to
the regulatory framework thai negatively affect
internaticnal competitivenass, investor confidence
and economic growth. In January 2010, the
Chamber submitted a list of its concems to the
other stakeholders, 1t was then agreed to appoint
a regulatory framework working group to consider
the concerns raised and to make recommendations
aimed at addressing these concerns. The working
group held two meetings in June 2010 énd a report
was submitted to the principals. The report of the
working group will form the basis for the draft
amendments to be submitted to the MPRDA as
announced by the DMR minister on 17 August
2010.

Sub-divisions on new prospecting or
mining rights

The need to sub-divide and register sub-divisions
on new prospecting or mining rights arises from,
amongst others, empowerment deals that were
concluded during the transitional period. Often
such empowerment deals contempiated sub-
division of the new, converted rights and cessions
of parts of the new rights. Despite advice by senior
counsel that the DMR minister and the Mineral
and Petroleum Titles Registration Office have the

right to grant and register such sub-divisions, they
declined to do so.
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Representatives of the Chamber and the DMR
met on 9 December 2008, at which meeting
the DMR indicated that it believed that the legal
opinion it had been given was incorrect. The DMR
indlcated, howevet, that despite its view of the legal
position, it was prepared to consider requests for
sub-division on a case-by-case basis. The DMR
officials requested that the Chamber write a letter
to the DMR, setiing out its problems and concerns
and ways in which these concerns could be
addressed, whereafter it would respond in detail to

the Chamber’s concerns.

The letterwas senttothe DMRon 15 January 2010.
In the letter the Chamber set out comprehensive
arguments as to why such sub-divisions could and
should be granted and registered and asked for
another mesting to be held to discuss the contents
of the letter. Despiie numerous attempts during the
first half of 2010 to arrange a meeting, the Chamber
was unable to do so. The Chamber intends raising
this matter as one of the issues it would ltke to have
addressed in the new MPRDA Amendment Bill,
which will be drafted later in 2010,

Anti-corruption activities

To facilitate business’ participation in the National
Anti-Corruption Forum (NACF) and to deal with
other aspects of corruption as far as it relates to
or affects business, Busa established an anti-
corruption working group. Originally the business
sector’s anti-corruption efforts were co-ordinated
through Business Against Crime, but Busa took
over this function a few years ago. An official from
the Chamber’s Legal Department senves on Busa's

anti-corruption working group.
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Many anii-corruption activities and initiatives
were undertaken by Busa’s anti-corruption working
group, however, whenever input or participation
was required from the mining industry the correct
person to deal with the matter could never be
identified. |n May 2010, the Chamber therefore

requested members fo

its executive council
nominate people in their own companies as the
contact person with whom the Chamber could liaise
on anti-corruption matiers. This request was aimed
at increasing the number of mining companies
that could be engaged on anti-corruption matters.
In addition, there are anti-corruption initiative
undertaken by Busa's anti-corruption working
group that could well be of interest to Chamber

members.

Various nominations were received in response
to the Chamber's request and it is hoped that in
future Chamber members will benefit from
and provide input into Busa's anti-corruption

aclivities,

Draft taxation laws amendment
bills, 2010

Two draft taxation laws amendment bills were
released for comment in May 2010. These bills
recommended amendments to, amongst others,
the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Rovalty
Act and the Mineral and Petroleum Royalty
(Administration) Act. Although these amendments
are aimed at clarifying ambiguities relating to the
calculation and payment of rovalties, some of the
ammendments would have serious unintended
negative consequences. The Chamber compiled

comprehensive comments on the draft bilis and
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submitted these to SARS and National Treasury.
Parliament’s Standing Committee on Finance
aiso held public hearings on the bills on 1 June
2010 and the Chamber submitted a copy of its
comments to the standing committee. Following
extensive interaction with National Treasury, various
amendments to the bills, which addressed most of
the Chamber’s concerns, were agreed. (For more
detail see the report under Economic Policy.) The
revised Taxation Laws Amendment Bills were

introduced into parliament on 24 August 2010.

lilegal mining and theft of
precious metals

There have been various reports in the press recently
on the activities of illegal miners. These activities
and the theft of precious metals pose a serious
risk to the sustainability of the affected gold and
platinum mines. Not only is there a direct financial
loss to the mining company concerned, there
are alse knock-on financiaj losses to employees
and the state (such as reduced employment and
taxes). Another problem is the threat created by
llegal mining activities to the health and safety of

legitimate employees and other persons,

Illegal miners continue fo threaten security
personne! and émp|oyees at mines — as well as
the SAPS. They are also demanding that mines
make payments to them to avoid being targeted,
including fargeting people and assets. More and
more homemade bombs are found and security
personnel and the SAPS have come under fire,
Criminal mining has become a serious problem

and the safety of mining employees is now a major

M
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Two initiatives were agreed between the mining
industry, law enforcement agencies and the DMR.
The first was the establishment of two regional
forums in the Welkom and Barberton areas, to
deal with the problems of illegal miners in those
specific areas. To address the concern about
regional syndicates, it was agreed to establish
a team on the West Rand and a specific project
was proposed. The second initiative was to create

a special task team to address the problem at

525
national level. It was agreed that this task team
would form part of the special task force of the
National Precious Metals Forum (NPMF}, which
forum was especially established to initiate a co-
ordinated approach to combat precious metals’
theft. One initiative of the NPMF was to create
a special task force, consisting of investigators
from the SAPS and the mining industry, to
investigate senior syndicate members active in
precious metals theft syndicates at national and
international level. This ongoing initiative has
achieved some excellent success over the last

few vears.

The SAPS component on the NPMF made
presentations to senior SAPS and government
personnel arcund the problems and measures
being undertaken to address iliegal mining.
In March 2010, a meeting was held with all
the relevant law enforcement and intelligence
structures to co-ordinate government efforis
against ilegal mining. This led to the establishment
of a multi-agency in July 2010, under the
leadership of the Directorate for Priority Crime
Investigations (HAWKS). Besides the national
approach, international activites are also
underway to assist in addressing the problem.
These between the

include  discussions

governments of South Africa, Zimbabwe
and Mozambique, and discussions with the
European Police Office and the European Union,
Discussions have also been initiated with the

United Nations to the

ultimately regulate

possession and

trade of precious metals

internationatly.
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he Chamber
extends its deep-
est sympathy to
the loved ones of the 167
mine workers who died in
2009. We know that their
loss causes great pain
and suffering in homes
throughout southern

L Africa.

The Chémber remains

committed to the ideal of

zero harm in the mining
industry. All its efforts are aimed at avoiding death
and injury In mining. The Chamber’s objective is a
wotid-class safety record and it works closely with
its tripartite partners in government and labour to
achieve this objective. The Chamber participates,
as a member of the MHSC, in the implementation
of the Tripartite Action Plan on Health and Safety,

to which mining industry leaders agreed in 2008,

Safety performance

The mining industry has made notable safety
improvements since the tripartite agreement on
safety in 2003. Figure 1 shows that the industry’s
fatality frequency rate {a global henchmark
indicator indicating the fatalities per million hours
worked) improved by 45% from 0.29 to 0.16.
During the same period, the number of fatalities
fell by 38% from 270 to 167. Unfortunately, no

improvement was made in 2009.

Figures 2 and 3 reflect the trends for the gold
and non-gold sectors. The levelling of mining’s

performance in 2009, strengthened the industry’s

INDUSTRY TARGET: ZERQ RATE OF FATALITIES |
AND INJURIES

resolve to accelerate implementation of the 2008

Tripartite Action Plan on Health and Safety.

The health and safety culture

The mining industry fosters a culture of care, dignity
and respect. To assist industry in this process, the
MHSC is developing a culture transformation frame-
work under the theme “chanéing minds, changing
mines”. A group of national and international ex-
perts were appointed to undertake the research that

would form the foundation of this frarnework,

Figure 1: Industry fatality frequency rates
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Table 1: Key actions from the 2008 Tripartite Action Plan on Health and Safety

Promoting reciprocal learning

Learning from the pockets of excellence in the
industry provides a huge opportunity to accelerate
improvements in health and safety performance.
The Chamber launched the MOSH (Mining industry
Occupational Safety and Health) Learning Bub in

Figure 2: Gold fatality frequency rates
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Action

20089 to facilitate reciprocal learning.

Teamswere establishedtodealwithdocumenting,
testing and promoting léading practices in the
industry. These teams focus on the critical risks
o the industry, namesly, falls of ground, noise and

dust. A secretariat of specialists supports the

Figure 3: Non-gold fatality frequency rates
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teams in their work. During the year under review,

a transport and machinery team was established.

The leading practice adoption system focuses
strongly on people, because pecple are key to
the effective and sustained adoption of leading
practices. Tools were developad to ensure workers

participate in the process.

Leading practices, which are being promoted,
relate to entry examinations and ensuring safer,
quieter rockdrills and dust suppression systems.
The improvements that these practices bring to

health and safety are significant.
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Building capacity in health and
safety

The industry is commitied to the development of
safety skills and aims to train 40 000 health and
safely representatives and union shop stewards.
The MHSC and the MQA have identified gaps in
the existing skills programmes and innovative

training methods are being explored as traditional

classroom-based methods  have  serious
limitations.
Critical and up-to-date technical skills are

reqguired to ensure a healthy and safe mining
environmeni. The MQA has appointed a team of
experts to review and update rock engineering

learning material.

Improving research and
development |

The challenges the industry faces require world-
class research and more effective implementation
of the research findings. The Chamber is working
with other stakeholders to estabiish a Centre of

Excellence on mine health and safety.

The MHSC continuss to oversee an annual
health and safety research programme valued
at approximately R5C-milllon. The Chamber is
a participant in the struciures that oversee the
programme. The overall research programme is
funded by the industry through a levy on companies
that is related to their safety and health risk.

The research process is based on a
comprehensive needs analysis that is informed by
the safety performance of the industry. New safety
research into seismicity in the platinum sector is

being considered.
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Society 4

he Chamber believes that the mining in-
dustry can make a sustainable contribu-
tion to the development of the South Af-

rican economy.

The Chamber participates in policy issues on
mining and sustainable development. Sustain-
ability was a key theme in the development of a
Strategy for the Sustainable Growth and Meaning-
ful Transformation of the SA Mining Industry led by
the DMR.

The Chamber also participated in the sustaina-
ble development werking commitiee of the Mining
Industry Growth and Development Task Team, at
which it proposed that a multi-stakeholder forum to
deal with derelict and ownerless mines be estab-

lished. Such a partnership approach to community
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Environment
development would have a greater and more sus-
tainable impact based on sustainable development
principles. Inputs were based on the Sustainability

Fact Base that the industry commissioned during
2009.

The Chamber was a key contributor to the mining
report to the United Nations Commission on Sus-
tainable Development. The Chamber was also in-
volved in the development of the National Strategy

on Sustainable Development.

The Chamber contributes to worldwide mining
and sustainable development issues through its
association member of the ICMM. The ICMM is a
leadership group aimed at improving the sustain-

able development performance of mining compa-

M

nies.
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Advocacy and

lobbying
kils Develop-
ment main-

tained its lead-
ership role on matters
relating to education and
skills  development on
behalf of the business
' community and the min-
ing industry in particular.

The year under review

brought major structural
chanhges in education and skills development in
government, especially with the creation of new
ministries, The announcement of new ministries by
the State President and the allecation of the Skills
Development Portfolio to the new Department of
Higher Education and Training (CHET), resulted in
minimal legislative and policy changes as the new
minister and his perscnnel needed to reorganise
their legislative functions. it became important
for Skills Development to utilise this transiticnai
pericd 1o create a strong relationship with the new

minister and senior staff of the DHET.

Skills Development therefore engaged with
the minisiry of education and senior government
officials to reposiiion the role of the National Skills
Authority (NSA) and accelerate the establishment

of the Quality Council for Trades and Occupations

(QCTO). This engagement led to a raised profile for -

the NSA and the minister prioritised the funclions of
the NSA, Skills Development has since become the

first point of call when the minister and the director-

w0

general need the views of business on matters

relating to education and skills development.

The sconomic downturn prompted the social
partners at Nedlac to explore measures to reduce
its impact on employment. The Chamber made
significant coniributions on behalf of the business
constituency at Nedlac, when the training lay-
off scheme was desighed and implsmented as a
measure of reducing large-scale retrenchments.
The Chamber remained as part of the Nedlac task
team that monitored the implementation of the

training lay-off scheme.

The Chamber coentinues to chair Busa's sub-
committee on education and training and has
injitiated debates and collaborative efforts at Busa,
produced mandates and policy positions that
were used when engaging at Nedlac and various
other platforms with senior government and labour

officials.

Human Resouces Development
Council of South Africa
(HRDC-SA)

The HRDC-8A was launched under the auspices of
the Presidency and wili be chaired by the deputy
president. Senior business leaders are members of
this council and the Chamber represents business
on its technical working group (TWG@G). The TWG has
followed up on various initiatives that were started
and implemented by the Joint Initiative on Priority
Skills Acquisition {(JIPSA) through the formation of
task teams. The Chamberrepresents business onthe
task team responsible for skills development. This
task team aim to assist the HRDC-SA In designing

and advising on skilis development strategies.
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To date, the task teams have commented on the
economic analysis of various sectors that provided
input to the DHET by the varicus Sector Education
and Training Authorities (SETAs), in preparation for

developing their sector skills plans.

National Skills Authority (NSA)

The Chamber plays a key role as a convenor
of the business constituency at the NSA. The
led by the
Chamber, forwarded proposals to the minister on

business members of the NSA,

repositioning the NSA as the ultimate authority in
skills develecpment in Scuth Africa. The minister
accepted these proposalis and put mechanisms
in place to reposition the NSA. The NSA is now

separate from the DHET as an adviser o the
minister,
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The SETA landscape

Early in 2010, thé Chamber led the NSA’s special
committee on the SETA landscape. This commitiee
conducted public hearings on behalf of the NSA
on the proposed SETA landscape. The proposal
by the special committee was adopted by the
NSA and finally submitted to the minister for his
consideration. The new SETA landscape for 2011
to 2015, will be anncunced by the minister at the
Skills Sumimit in September 2011, The NSA recently
reviewed the constraints for dishursing grants
in the National Skilis Fund (NSF) and proposed
regulations for creating capacity within the NSF
for fund disbursements, The NSF will soon have
a dedicated executive officer and will use varicus

mechanisms for disbursing grants beyond the

1\
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single route of the SETAs. The changes to the NSF
operations were strongly influenced by the role of
the business constiiuency at the NSA-led by the
Chamber.

Framework for the National Skills
Development Strategy (NSDS I1i)

The DHET released a proposed framework for the
NSDS 1 (2011 to 2016) for public comment, after
consultation with the NSA. The NSA agreed to the
release of the proposed framework, on condition
that it would consider all submissions and then

advise the minister accordingly.

Busa, led by a Chamber representative as the
chairpersen of the sub-committee on education
and training, took the opportunity to comment
The

Chamber is proud to be involved in writing most

on the proposed framework for NSDS il

of the comments on the NSDS lil Framework that
were eventually approved as Busa’s submission.
The NSA is yet to review the public comments and
advise the minister. The business constituency
will play a critical role in drafting the advice to the

minister.

South African Qualificatons
Authority (SAQA)

Therole of the Chamber as business representative
onthe SAQA Board has contributed to repositioning
SAQA as the apex of the quality councils. The
business representatives played a key role
in organisational redesign at SAQA, after the
promulgation of the new National Qualifications

Framework {NQF) Act.

SAQA continued its role of registering unit
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standards and qualifications on the NQF, however,
business was instrumental in broadening the scope
of SAQA to include an on-line career guidance
service as well as a campaign and advocacy on the
NQF with the approval of the minister. The career
guidance service of SAQA was officially launched
by the minister.

SAQAembarked onaspecialresearchprogramme
on the social uses of artisan qualification and the
Chamber encouraged its members to participate in
this research through focus group discussions with
managers and learners, The research highlighted
the quality practices applied during training of the
various categories of arisans and also showed
the importance of the link between theoretical
and workplace learning in the apprenticeship

programme.

The Chamber continues to participate in the
Quality and Standards-setting commitiee of SAQA
to ensure continuity of registration of occupational
qualifications on the NQF, whilst processes are
underway to establish the Quality Council for
Trades and Occupations (QCTO) and assist it
to function optimally. The Chamber is also fully
involved in the establishment of the QCTO.

QCTO

The QCTO responsible for quality assurance of
qualifications at NQF levels 1 t¢ 10 for trades and
occupations, was officially launched in February
2010, A Chamber representative was nominated
the beoard of QCTO. Since its

establishment, QCTO has finalised its constitution,

o serve on

- drafted a policy on the occupational sub-framework

and adopted an operational plan, The QCTO board

LN
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has alsc endorsed the implementation of the
Foundational Learning Competence, which is a
requirement for occupational qualifications at NQF
levels 2 to 4.

Employers have considered the reguirements
for designing qualifications and guality assurance
as proposed by QCTO. Their inputs will inform
the QCTQO board input when participating at
MQA during the process of developing policy and

guidelines for occupational qualifications.

Foundational Learning
Competence (FLC)

The FLC is the literacy and numeracy competence
that workers will be required to have to operate
optimally in any workplace reguiring NQF level
2 to 4 quaiffications, Thé Chamber successfully
enceouraged its members to participate in two
pilots programmes to test the curriculum and
assessment of the FLC. These successful pilots

influence the policy direction of the FLC.

Skills development challenges

Functional literacy and numeracy remain key
chalienges in the mining industry, aithough there
is a decline in the number of employees who are
functionally #lliterate and without basic numeracy
skills. Low levels of literacy and numeracy are a
major stumbiing block for many employees who
cannot be trained for promotional oppottunities. A
recent survey on the educational levels of the total
workforce shows that 48.9% of employees have
a school qualification below grade 8 and 15.4%
of these have no schocling. This is a significant

improvement when compared to 2006 figures,
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when 58.8% of employees held a grade 8 and
beiow qualification. The Chamber continues to
encourage its members to urge its employees to

enlist for literacy and numeracy programmes.

The global shortage of artisans has a negative
impact cn the minihg industry. The premium for
employing artisans is increasing and the duration for
declaring a person a fully competent artisan is not
less than five years, although it takes at least three
years for a person to get an artisan qualification
after entering with an appropriate thecretical
gualfication. The phasing out of Nated or N-
courses, reduced the number of candidates in
artisan iraining programmes. This has resulted

in a serious shortage of artisans. Employers
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continue to make proposals to its social partners
at MQA to ensure collaboration and increase in the
number of candidates entering the artisan training

programmes.

Further Education and Training (FET)

The N-courses were substituted by the National
Certificate (Vocational) (NCV) provided by FET
colleges atlevel 2in 2002 and levei4in 2010, These
programmes were not a direct replacement of the
N-courses, hence successful learners could not
easily enter into an apprenticeship programme. The
poor results in the NCV were exacerbated by poor
guality provision and poor management at the FET
colleges. The DHET initiated an FET rounditable to
engage stakeholders in exploring ways of solving
FET problems. This process will culminate into an
FET summit of all stakeholders and the DHET to

make proposals on ways of improving the FET
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The Chamber was involved in the process

system in South Africa.

of identifying problems in the FET system and
of influencing the proposals to improve the
situation for the benefit of the industry as a whole.
This process resulted in the DHET deciding to
reintroduce the N1 to N3 courses, with the view
of creating a pool of candidates who are ready o
enter the apprenticeship programme. The NCV
programmes will also be reviewed to align them

with artisan training where necessary.

Mining Charter obligations

A recent survey on the status of compliance with
the Mining Charter, with specific reference io
skilis development, shows that employers have
set up mechanisms to create an opportunity
for employees to participate in various skills
development programmes. The gradual decline in
low literacy levels is employers’ testimony of the
effort to assist workers. The challenge remains
with those employees who do not voluntarily eniist

in these programmes.

A recent review of the Charter by the DMR led
io a recommitment to sustainable growth and
meaningful iransformation of South Africa’s mining
industry. This new commitment requires employers
te conduct two skills audits by 2014 and assess
institutional and organisational capacity. This
commitment further requires employers to increase
their training expenditure gradually each year to
a minimum of 5% of payroll per annum by 2004,
Employers continue to measure themselves
annually against these commitments to improve

the competence levels of their employees.
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MQA

[t is the Chamber's mission to play a leading
role in influencing policy and implementation
plans at the MQA for the benefit of employers
in their attempt to improve the skills of employees
in the mining industry. This is achieved by
being the key convenor of employers and by
soliciting employer inputs to be forwarded
to the MQA. The Chamber participated in
the various the
MQA 1o in  the
design of workplace skills plans (WSP) and
(ATR)
The new WSP forms were adapted to align with

committes  structures  of

influence the improvement

annual training reports’ requirements.
the requirements of the Occupational Framework
of Organisations. These forms help companies link

their training plans directly tc occupations.

Discretionary grants

Employers continue to influence the allocation of
discretionary grants to various skills development
projects in the MQA. Employers undertook an
analysis of the MQA's discretionary grant allocation
budget for the period 2010/2011 to determine the

spread of funds to varlous projects as follows:

¢ 73% of the discretionary grant is spent
on fraining that results in an occupational
qualification, wherein 40% of thigs grant is
spent on higher education qualifications
and 33% is spent con further education and
fraining programmes

= 15% is spent on programmes that support
training, 3% on legislative requirements
and the remainder on other stakeholder

requirements.
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Management information system

Employers have for some time been struggiling
to comply with MQA system requirements with
regard to:

= submissicn of WSPs and ATRs

s registration of learners on the MQA data

sysiem

e verification of employer information

¢ accessing of MQA data (unit standards and

qualification).

The system’s problems rendered the MQA
inefficient and put employers at risk of losing
their mandatory and discretionary granis. The
Chamber initiated an MQA-employers systems
end-user forum to address all the problems and
request the MQA's assistance. The MQA has since
permanently adopted this forum and it continues
to meet quarterly to attend to any system
probiems encountered by end-users. Since the
establishment of this forum, the list of problems is
shrinking gradually and the MQA |-Share system is

becoming more efficient.

Support to the mining industry’s

Roadmap to Zero Harm Strategy

The 2008 Mine Health and Safety Summit required
the MQA to support the Roadmap to Zero Harm
Strategy that was signed by afl social partners.
The MOA was specifically requested to support
by designing qualifications and programmes
that would improve the quality and standard of
the training of safety representatives. The MQA
allocated funds and set up a multi-disciplinary team

whose objective was to

¢ ensure that the content of the skills

Mi¢
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programmes was relevant and placed at
appropriate levels for the learning required

¢ ensure that the learning material met the
outcomes of the skills programmes and took
into account the needs of learners

* advise on the selection and release of
learners for training purposes

+ give guidelines for the delivery and

assessment of the skills programmes.

The Chamber played a critical role in co-ordinating
the nomination of the employer representatives
on the muiti-disciplinary team, as well as the
identification of appropriately qualified writers of
the safety learning material. The programme was
successfully implemented and will continue into the

hext financial year.

Phasing out Fanakalo

The use of Fanakalo was identified as a coniribut-
ing factor to poor communication in those sectors
of the industry where it is used as a means of com-
munication and a contributing factor in high acci-
dent rates. The mining industry agreed to phase
out the use of Fanakalo. Employers proposed that
research be conducted to determine:

+ the exdent of use of Fanakalo in the sector

» the impact of Fanakalo on safety

'+ the willingness and ability of users of

Fanakalo to learn another language

¢ the costs and resources required to phase

out Fanakalo,

The outcome of this research will be used to
develop an appropriate action plan that is supported
by all stakeholders. The research commenced at
the end of 2009 and it is anticipated that it will be

140

concluded in the second half of 2010.

L.earning Material Development
Project

The Chamber continues to co-ordinate and deliver
MQA learning material through the Learning
Materials Development Project, This has become
the flagship programme of the Skills Development
Unit since it has delivered beyond the expectation
of the MQA. The success of this project resulted
in the MQA expanding the scope of work of
the project to include learning material for the
Foundatienal Learning Competence and NQF level
& Rock Engineering learning material to be used at

universities.

At the end of this reporting period, 1 419 unit
standards had been allocated to accredited training
providers for learning material development across
the different disciplines. Total quantities in number
of learning packs, approved by the technical review
groups as at July 2010 compared to 2009, are

shown in table 1 on page 141.

Personal Digital Assistant (PSA)
data development

The success of the Learning Material Development
Project led to the Chamber being requested to
co-ordinate the development of data for use with
the PDA for the process of assessment of learner
competence in the sector against unit standards.
Progress of the PDA project is reflecied in table 2
on page 141.

Chamber of Mines certificates

Chamber certificates are critical In the set of
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HAME OF CERTIFICATE

gualifications required for persons to be allowed to

work in certain designated areas. In some cases this
certificate is an entry reguirement for a person to
write the examinations to receive the Government
Certificate of Competence.

Stakeholders have agreed that the provision of
tuition and issuing of the certificates equivalent
to those of the Chamber must be provided by
accredited institutions of learning. The Chamber
has set in motion a process of transferring the

issuing of these certificates to accredited learning

Table 3

A5 AT

142

ULY 2008 AS AT JULY 2009 AS AT JULY 2010 |

Y

institutions, including the MQA. The Chamber
will continue to issue these certificates until the
accredited institutions are ready to start providing
equivalent programmes in 2012, Even after this date,
the Chamber examinations will continue until 2015,
when the first examinations of the new dispensaticn
will be written. The administration of the Chamber
examinaticns will be transferred from UNISA to the
MQA as from 2012. The demand and completion
rates of learners in the Chamber qualifications on a

year-to-year basis is represented in table 3 above.
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CHAMBER OF MINES OF SOUTH AFRICA
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
The following reports and statements are presented:
Executive Council’s responsibility for financial reporting 145
Independent auditor’s report 146
Balance sheet 147

L Income statement 147
Statement of changes in equity 147
Cash flow statement 148
Accounting policies 148 - 150
Notes to the annual financial statements 1650 — 154
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CHAMBER OF MINES OF SOUTH AFRICA
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

Executive Council’s responsibility for financial reporting

The Executive Council of the Chamber of Mines of Scuth Africa (hereafter "the Chamber”) is
responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and preparation and integrity
of the financial statements and related information. The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, The
Chamber's independent external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have audited these financial
staternents and their unquaiified report appears on page 146.

The annual financial statements are prepared cn a going cencern basis. Nothing has come
to the attention of the Executive Councll to indicate that the Chamber wili not ramain a going
concern for the foresesable future.

Approval of annual financial statements

The Annuai Financial Statements as set out on pages 147 1o 1564 were approved by the Executive
GCouncil on 15 September 2010 and are signed on their behalf by:

A

Mr S Nkosi Mr MG Diliza
President Chief Executive

chamber of minas of south africa 145 NM-’ annual report 2009 - 2010




independent auditor’s report to the members
of the Chamber of Mines of South Africa

We have audited the annual financial statements of the Chamber of Mineg of South Africa which comprise the balance
sheet as et 30 June 2010, the income statement, the statement of changes in equity and cash fiow statement for the year
then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatcry notes, as set out on pages 147 to 154,

Executive Councii Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Executive Council is responsibie for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with South Afican
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner reguired by the Labour Relations Act in South Africa. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether dus to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstancas.

Auditors Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in

" accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical reguirements

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whesther dus to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statemants in order o
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accountin'g principles
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates mads by management, as well as svaluating the overal: financial
statement presentation.

We belleve that the audit evidence we have cbiained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Opinion

in cur opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Chamber of
Mines of South Africa at 30 June 2010, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the vear then endsd in
accordance with South African Staternents of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner required by the
Labour Relations Act In South Africa. ‘

o — s .

Deloitte & Touche
Per A J Zoghby
Partner
Johannesburg

15 September 2010
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Incorme statement for thie year ended 3

Deprecnanon L
Operatlng deﬂcﬂ
intersst. Income
Pr@jeé’c-income'- '

14 931 983 : (7 062 250)

: Balance at 1 July 2008 :
_'Decrease in pro ject fund\ng “for the year
. _Transfer from prOJect funds -

34 353 804
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Bank and cash

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

chamber of mines of south africa

22 923 878

18 891 137

12 755 561

9 959 590

7991 894

3 163 034

26 518 594
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Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010

Balance as at 30 June 2010
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174 413

9163531

248 400
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Balance as at 30 June 201

Bank andash
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27 832 557

17 649 473

3847 942

45 770 019

5 386 696

e

52 468 024

13 620 674

(13 751 896)

12900 574

15 664 740

3 848 302

44 244 954

3 206 513

L

49 462 321

{9073 104)

8134 130
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Supporting Documents:

Agenda

Meeting Attendance Register

Annexure A: Project Steering Committee & Project Workgroup
Minutes of previous meeting held on 10 November 2014
Project Action List as at 10 November 2014

MC Charter Project Plan
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Minutes Action List

Actions

Responsible

Date

Welcome & Introduction

The Chairperson, Me. Irene Singo welcomed ali present at the MC
Charter Project Steering Committee. She introduced Heinrich
Mundt, and Me. Beverly Williams, from Entsika Consulting as the
newly appointed project manager and project administrator on the
MC Charter Project.

Info

Attendance List and Apologies

The attendance register was circulated and apologies were noted
for the DG, Dr. Thibedi Ramontja and Me. Ansia Daniel, the
appointed Project Director from Entsika Consulting.

Info

Purpose of Meeting and Acceptance of Agenda

Me. Irene Singo stated that the purpose of the Project Steering
Committee meeting will be to review progress on the Mining Charter
project and governance of the Mining Charter project. The members
that will be presented on the Mining Charter Project Steering
Committee and Project Workgroup were agreed upon as per
Annexure A attached herewith.

Info

The Agenda for the meeting was accepted as presented.

Progress Made:

The CFO gave feedback on the progress made to date and
confirmed the appointment Heinrich Mundt from Entsika Consulting
as the project manager of the Mining Charter Project as well as

Beverly Williams, the appointed project administrator.

Info

1S confirmed that a decision was made to implement a web based
system as a Management Information System for the Mining Charter
data and that two service providers were invited to present possible
web base solutions to the project steering committee. She confirmed
that the decision was based on the risk identified with the capturing
of data in Excel and the limitations that Excel present on reporting
going forward.

Info

HM confirmed that a meeting was held with the Chamber of Mines
on 6 November 2014 after which the DG and members of the

Info

mineral resources
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Minutes Action List

No

“Actions

-1-Responsible

Date

project steering committee was provided with feedback on the

issues as identified in a meeting held on 7 November 2014.

4.1

Process Mapping — Mining Charter

A process map outlining the suggested Web based process to be
followed was circulated to all members.

Info

4.2

Critical Decisions

The CFO confirmed that the following key decisions need to be
taken by the steering committee based on the outcome of the
Chamber of Mines stakeholder meeting.

Date of Submission

HM stated that the mining company representatives that attended
the Chamber of Mines meeting were of the opinion that the
submission date of 15 December 2014 as proposed by DMR was
unrealistic considering the limited time and due process that need to
be followed by the mining companies involved. It was therefore
suggested by the DG that 23 January 2015 will be proposed as the
alternative date for the mining companies to submit the Mining
Charter Templates/ Questionnaire’s for 2012 and 2013.

The suggested date of 23 January 2014 was deliberated and
accepted as the final submission date for mining companies to
present the completed 2012 and 2013 Mining Charter Templates.

It was agreed that mining companies will present the Mining Charter
templates relevant to 2014 by 31 March 2015 unless information
can be provided earlier.

Info

Revision of Mining Charter Questionnaires

HM stated that the representatives at the Chamber of Mines
meeting requested the Department to align the Mining Charter
questionnaires exclusively to the requirements as stipulated in the
Mining Charter. Examples of issues as raised were provided to the
members, which included information not relevant to compliance to
the Mining Charter and aggregated reporting instead of detail
reporting.

Info

mineral resources
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Minutes Action List

No

‘Actions

Responsible -

Date.

It was agreed that the project task team will review and amend the
templates and questionnaire’s to address the issues as raised by
the Chamber of Mines and also to align questions to what is relevant
to the Mining Charter only. It was further agreed that the
questionnaires will be amended to allow for aggregated reporting
where and if possible. The project task team must provide feedback

on the progress made at the next Steering Committee meeting.

Task Team

171117514

Presentation of Web Based Prototypes

T

Two companies, introduced by Entsika Consulting were invited to
present a prototype of the proposed web-based solution to the
steering committee after which the proposed solutions as presented
presentations were deliberated in detail by the members of the
steering committee.

Info

It was agreed that the web base prototype presented by Mr Loot van
Rensburg was the most suitable to the requirements although
concerns were raised by certain steering committee members, on
the approach to be followed with the web base system rather than

the Excel route given the time and cost involved.

The following agreement was reached by the project steering
committee:

e To continue with the sourcing and development of the
proposed web base solution.

e To further investigate the legal requirements in terms of the
law in hosting the data on the Web. Mr Pieter Alberts was
invited to the steering committee to give his input on the
matter.

¢ To set up a meeting and involve the CSIR in the provision of
a possible web base solution.

e Ensure that the revised template questionnaires are
available on the web base system within the agreed timeline
(10 working days) given the strict deadline of the project.

Task Team

Ongoing

mineral resources
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Minutes /Action List

No - Actions
| Responsible | - Date
6. Project Communication
It was agreed that the Project Task Team will continue to engage Task Team TBA
with other stakeholders, including organised labour following the
meeting held with the Chamber of Mines.
Also that a follow up meeting will be scheduled with the Chamber of
Mines to consult and provide feedback on the issues as raised
during the 1t meeting.
The Project Office must map the timelines, given the revised date
. X . . , Project Office | 17/11/14
and provide the steering committee with a project plan
7. Way Forward
Decisions Taken:
- The final date of submission of Mining Charter
Questionnaire has been concluded as 23 January 2015.
- The task team should revise the Mining Charter Task Team 17/11/14
Questionnaire and provide feedback at the next meeting
- The Department to source and continue with the Ongoing
development of a web based solution instead of Excel
database.
- The task team to set up a meeting and involve the CSIR in Task Team TBA
the development of a web based solution
- The task team to involve and consult with all remaining Task Team TBA
stakeholders, including organised labour on the matter.
- The task Team with PA should investigate the legal Task Team Ongoing
requirements for the hosting of data on the web.
- The Project Office to map the project timelines and provide Project Office | 17/11/14
a draft project plan for review and approval.
8. New Matters:
No additional matters were added to the Agenda

Document Name: 1_Dmr Steer Com Minutes_10nov14 Template

mineral resources

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA M

i1

A Page S\Of 6




Kb/

BRIEFING NOTES REGARDING THE MEETING HELD BETWEEN CHAMBER OF
MINES AND DMR ON MINING CHARTER TEMPLATES.

1. Introduction

The Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) and Chamber of Mines (COM) held a
meeting on the 06 November 2014 in order to discuss the Mining Charter Templates. At
the meeting, a number of comments and inputs were made which were largely taken into
consideration and subsequently incorporated into the revised templates.

The follow-up meeting was held at the Chamber of Mines offices on the 25 November
2014, to highlight the changes in the revised Mining Charter Templates. Then the revised
templates were presented to the Chamber of Mines at the said meeting, and the following
was further noted (as per Charter Elements):

Employment Equity:

COM raised a concern and suggested that a separate spreadsheet/template on Senior
Management be developed to cater for those companies having expanded organisational
structures in order to avoid duplication of reporting at Senior Management (Exco level).

With regard to the column on Foreign Nationals, the COM has suggested that the
Department must remove the column on African and Non-African but rather to remain
only as Foreign Nationals.

Human Resources Development:

Members of Chamber raised a concern to differentiate between Artisanship, Apprentice
and Learnerships for the reporting purpose.

COM suggested that there should be a separate column for skills programmes on the
template.

Mine Community Development;

In a case of Social and Labour Plans still in process of reviewal,

The question was raised pertaining to the Social and Labour Plan which are still in review
process and had not yet been approved.

i



The DMR responded that the companies are entitled to and must report on the
commitments made, as per their approved Social and Labour Plans.

Housing and Living Conditions:

No comments were raised

Ownership:

With regard to the Full Shareholder Rights spreadsheet, it was agreed that the column
for “Management Control” should be replaced by “Management Fees”.

It was further agreed that there should be a column for “Other Broad-Based Structures”
which will cater for structures such as Family Trust, etc.

Procurement:
It was agreed that a column for “BEE Entities percentage” should be inserted/created.

There was a concern raised whether audited financial statement would be focusing on
financial year or calendar year.

Furthermore, the COM raised that multinationals audited financial statements reflect also
international project/ operations.

The DMR maintained that audited financial statements are credible statements.

Sustainable Development:

Though there were no remarks raised, however there was mutual consensus that any
other matter on this element will be raised with the COM representative.

Suggestions on the System:

With regard to the system (web based system), the companies have expressed their
willingness to partake in piloting phase of the system (including Sasol).

The companies raised concern on whether the system will allow for uploading of
spreadsheets and documents.

M
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The question was also raised if the system would allow two or more individuals working
on different Charter element/spreadsheet at the same time.

2. Wayforward

e Chamber of Mines will submit a written document detailing further comments and
inputs on the Mining Charter Templates within fwo days from the date of the
meeting (therefore due date is 27 November 2014).

e The DMR will prepare a clarification document/guideline with regard to the
templates and their population thereof.

¢ With regard to the timelines on the submission of the populated templates, the
DMR mentioned that the issue will be raised at the MIGDETT Technical Task Team
meeting on the 26 November 2014.
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Agenda of Meeting

MINING CHARTER PROJECT STEERING COMMITTEE MEETING

Agenda of Meeting

DEPARTMENT OF ¥

ESOURCES

Date: 2014/11/17 09hoo - 11hoo
Venue: DG Boardroom, DMR Building, Pretoria
Dr Thibedi Ramontja DG Me. Rebone Nkambule RN
Mr. Joel Raphela DDGJR | Me. Cathy Leso CL
Attendees: | Mr. Mosa Mabuza DDG MM | Me. Ditsietsi Morabe DM
(Steering | Me. Irene Singo IS Me. Motlatso Kobe MK
Committee) | Me. Malefshane Kola MK Mr. Heinrich Mundt HM
Me. Nkhesani Masekoa NM Me. Ansia Daniel AD
Apologies:
Chairperson

No.

Item

1. Welcome and Introduction

Responsible

Person

Attendance List and Apologies

2
3. Confirmation of the Agenda
4

Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting

5. Project Action Log

5.1 | Mining Charter Questionnaire Revision and Validation

5.2 | Web Based System Implementation

5.3 | Stakeholder Engagement / Communication
5.4 | Legal Requirements

6. Project Plan with Timelines

7. Moloto Involvement (MC Templates) — Scope of Work

8. Validation of List of Mining Companies

9. Mining Charter Questionnaire Guidelines

10. | New Matters

10.1

10.2

10.3

Document Name:Meeting Agenda_T0001
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11. | Confirmation of Date & Time for Next Meeting:

Date: Monday, 17 November 2014

Time: 09hoo - 11hoo

Venue: DG Boardroom, DMR Building

¢
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Minutes:Action List

ARTMENT OF MINERAL

Meeting Project Steering Committee Meeting

Supporting Documents

e Agenda

e Meeting Attendance Register

e Minutes of previous meeting held on 17 November 2014
e Project-Action/Risk Log as at 17 November 2014

e Mining Charter Project Plan (Draft Only)
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Minutes /Action List

Welcome & Introduction

Responsible

The DG, Dr Thibedi Ramontja welcomed all present at the Mining
Charter Project Steering Committee.

Info

Attendance List and Apologies

The attendance register was circulated and apologies were noted for

Me. Ansia Daniel, the Project Director from Entsika Consulting.

Info

Purpose of Meeting and Acceptance of Agenda

The purpose of the Steering Committee meeting will be to review

progress and ongoing governance on the Mining Charter Project.

Info

The Agenda for the meeting was reviewed and the following
amendment was made to the Agenda:

Remove Agenda point 7. “Moloto Involvement (MC Templates) —
Scope of Work”.

Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting

The Minutes of the Steering Committee meeting held on
10 November 2014 was circulated per e-mail for review to all steering
committee members. The minutes of the Steering Committee

meeting were accepted as presented without any changes.

Info

Matters Arising from Previous Meetings

Project Action Log

HM referred to the attached Project Action Log and stated that all
actions from the previous meetings will be logged against the person
responsible. All outstanding actions will continuously be tracked for
progress until the action is completed. The following actions were

noted during the meeting held on 10 November '14:

Info

5.1

Mining Charter Questionnaire Revision and Update

HM stated that the Work Group reviewed and updated the Mining
Charter Questionnaires as agreed during the previous meeting. He
confirmed that all questionnaires were completed, except for BBBEE
and Procurement. He explained that the Work Group stated that they
require input from, BM whom was on leave during last week in order
to finalise these Questionnaires.

Work Group | 17/11/14
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Actions

HM confirmed that the Work Group will meet immediately after the
Steering Committee meeting to finalise the outstanding Mining
Charter questionnaires.

RN stated that input will be required from Moloto to finalise the Info
templates. She confirmed that Moloto developed the formulas
required to calculate the score card. This statement was supported
by TM. HM further confirmed that the formulas used for the
caiculation of the score card will be required in the design of the web-

based questionnaires.

It was agreed that Moloto need to deliver the formulas used to DMR IS 18/117'14
as part of the hand-over of the deliverables. MK requested that the
handover of the formulas should be included in the Terms of
Reference (ToR) for Moloto. Also that Moloto should be informed of
the current processes and consequent review and update of the
Mining Charter questionnaires and their contractual obligations going
forward.

It was agreed that the Work Group should continue to finalise the DDG’s 21111714
Mining Charter questionnaires. Also that the templates need to be
sighed off by the DDG’s once completed. The final updated Mining
Charter questionnaires will be handed over to Moloto to incorporate
the formulas.

5.2 | Web-based System Implementation

HM confirmed that a meeting was held with CSIR on Wednesday, 12 info
November 2014 regarding their possible involvement in the
development of a web-based system. He said that the CSIR
demonstrated a prototype which is available but confirmed that the
CSIR indicated that they will not be able to develop a working
solution within the strict timelines required. Also that the system as
presented by the CSIR is currently not web-based, although they are

planning to do so in the near future.

HM said that a decision was therefore made by DMR to invite Info
companies to submit proposals for the implementation of a web-
based system.
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HM stated that the ToR was issued on Friday, 14 November 2014

and confirmed that the closing date for submission is 17 November

14, after which internal processes will be followed in the appointment
of a preferred supplier.

24/11/'14

5.3

Stakeholder Engagement / Communication

HM confirmed that the planned follow-up meeting with the Chamber
of Mines scheduled for last week did not transpire due to the
unavailability of a number of mining company representatives.

He confirmed that a follow-up meeting is proposed for 24 November
'14 by the Chamber of Mines, which need to be confirmed. The DG
indicated that he will attempt to intervene to secure an earlier
meeting.

Work Group

24/11/14

It was agreed by all present that the stakeholders involved should not
be allowed to derail the process as long as the Mining Charter

questionnaires are aligned to the requirements of the Mining Charter.

Info

HM stated that a stakeholder feedback meeting was held with UASA
and Solidarity on Thursday, 13 November '14. He presented the
members of the steering committee with minutes of the meeting,

summarising the matters discussed and outcome of the meeting.

Info

HM confirmed that stakeholder feedback meetings stili need to be
scheduled with SAMDA and NUM.

Work Group

2111114

NM requested the DG to intervene in securing a meeting with NUM
as some difficulty was experienced in this regard.

DG

21111714

5.4

Legal Requirements

HM said that the legal requirements to host the web-based system
still need to be confirmed and finalised. He confirmed that follow-up
discussions will be scheduled with Mr Pieter Alberts to conclude this

matter. Feedback will be provided at the next meeting.

HM

24111714

Project Plan with Timelines

HM said that the project plan was completed but stated that some
difficulty was experienced with accessing and printing the document.
He confirmed that IT indicated that they will resolve the matter
directly after the meeting.

HM

17/11714
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Actions

HM agreed to circulate the project plan to members of the steering

committee for review and comment once available.

HM responded to a question raised by MK, asking on which date the Info
Mining Charter Questionnaires will be ready for submission to the
mining companies for completion.

HM stated that the plan as it currently stands indicate 8 December HM 08/12/14
‘14 as the date to submit the Mining Charter questionnaires. HM
confirmed that the proposed date as per the project plan took into
account the finalisation of the Mining Charter questionnaires and
formuias, the development of the web-based system, for which ten
(10) working days are allowed according to the ToR. Also included in
this timeline is the testing of the system.

The DG requested HM to involve some of the mining companies in HM 5/12/'14
the testing of the system. HM indicated that some companies,
present at the Chamber of Mines meeting confirmed that they will

assist in testing the system.

7. Validation of List of Mining Companies

HM confirmed that a list of mining companies was received from RM Work Group | 21/11/14
including names of senior people per company to whom the Mining
Charter questionnaires will be circulated. He said that the Work
Group will purify the list in order to confirm the completeness thereof
and finalise all mining companies involved. The Work Group to sign-

off the final list of Mining Companies involved.

8. Mining Charter Questionnaire Guidelines

HM stated that guidelines should be developed for certain areas of Work Group | 18/11/'14
the Mining Charter questionnaires, to guide the mining companies in
completing the templates. RM confirmed that guidelines were
developed by Moloto which were handed over to DMR.

The Work Group was requested to review and update the existing

guidelines in refation to the reworked questions.

s
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4 February 2015

Chamber of mines response to DMR regarding the Mining Charter ownership template

The Chamber and its members wish to thank the DMR for the opportunity to provide input into the
Mining Charter template — ownership component. This document summarises our areas of
disagreement, proposals and requests as raised in the meeting yesterday, and adds to these based on
the web based template we received this morning.

The following represents the collated proposals from companies:

A. Continuing consequences — the exclusion of past transactions

The Chamber and its members strongly disagree with the exclusion of previous transactions concluded
post the implementation of the MPRDA in which HDSA shareholders exited for value as this
amounted to empowerment. Even though BEE companies have sold out, or ESOPS have vested, the
exiting of those assets was not within the control of the mining companies and so companies should
not be prejudiced in this assessment process. Its exclusion represents incomplete information capture
and would result in misleading results. We recommend that companies be allowed to include these
transactions, on the basis that they complied with the requirements of the Mining Charter at the time.

B. Timing of % reported on: at point of transaction and current %

Linked to the previous area of disagreement, companies should be afforded the space to indicate
value at the point of the transaction, not only current value. Presentation of these results should
indicate both outcomes, to ensure all aspects of the efforts of companies to achieve meaningful
empowerment is appropriately captured.

Original price: This is not available in all instances (e.g. sometimes the BEE entity contributed
mineral resources which were not valued or the parties merely did a JV without an original purchase
price). Should one include capital expenditure by the BEE company into the mine? A volume
based measurement approach may be instructive.

We recommend the template should capture value of empowerment at the time of the transaction as
this represents the economic value transferred.

C. Transparency of process

Companies request the ability to understand how the collation occurred and understand how the
methodology employed. Given the inter-related issues of asset sales, and how the internal company
structures/transactions feed into company total is critical to the outcome. E.g. JV assets, with multiple
owners and BEE partners, BEE partners owning equity of SA and non-SA assets. To ensure issues
pertaining to double counting or under counting is avoided. We request the methodology be disclosed
and that companies receive individual (private) feedback on application of the methodology to itself
prior to release of results.

COUNCIL OF THE CHAMBER: M Teke (President), Ms KT Kweyama (Vice President), G Briggs (Vice President),
A Bam,MCutifani, P Dunne, J Evans, N Froneman, T Goodlace, C Griffith, G Heale,N Holland, MJ Houston, B Magara, N Mbazima,
X Mkhwanazi(Dr), D Matlou,RMoodley, M Mothoa, SA Nkosi, M O’Hare, B Petersen, S Phiri, N Pienaar,

N Pretorius, A Sangqu, MP Schmidt, BSibiya, PWSteenkamp, SVenkatakrishnan.
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D. Request for projections

Companies are restricted from provided projections on its businesses and is closely regulated in terms
of JSE and international exchanges. Companies strongly disagree with all requirements for projections
relating to their businesses. (e.g. projected vesting dates) In some instances, it requires projections of
commodity prices, etc, which takes us back to the concern raised in the previous point. We propose
any requests for projections be eliminated.

E. Current value

Companies as rule, do not provide forecasts of its business. Hence, the request for value to be provided
at the time of the transaction or the point of grant or conversion of rights. This is especially relevant
for purposes of collation, where different companies would make different assumptions on Rand
exchange rate and commodity prices, yielding very different outcomes. For transaction purposes,
external independent third parties are used to provide valuations, it is not done by the companies
internally. The current % HDSA ownership can be presented to ensure DMR can assess performance,
without the values being presented.

F. Outstanding debt and Net value

The mining companies who have sold assets to BEE partners and community trusts cannot demand
information relating to their balance sheet situation. BEE companies should provide this. It is not
possible to allocate present debt to original transactions where the BEE company has multiple assets
and debt facilities. Some BEE companies did not use their dividends for debt repayment — should the
dividends taken be deducted from the debt outstanding?

Even in the instance where the company has provided guarantees, the relationship lies between the
BEE company and the banks, it is not always possible for the company to access that information.
Furthermore, BEE partners have independent business, with varying interests and the companies have
no say nor knowledge on how that is utilized. This is effectively requesting information pertaining to
Net Value and is not in terms of the agreement of the Mining Charter. We recommend it be removed.

G. Demographic representation

There are many instances for companies where the BEE entity provided an undertaking to its
HDSA status and demographics. Information on demographics is very difficult to obtain. This
changes over time. It is proposed that only the HDSA% at the date of the transaction be evaluated,
where possible. Demographics information on individual HDSA groups is rarely available,
specifically the broad-based empowerment trusts. It would be impractical to ask BEE entities to do
detailed research on their demographics and the changes over time. It is recommended that total %
be allocated per transaction, but demographic requirement be removed. Alternatively the DMR may
place these regulatory requirements of disclosure on the BEE companies.

H. Principles applied to Assessment

Assessing companies only based on the flow through principle does not take account of the modified
flow-through principle. In addition, certain BEE transactions were concluded prior to the introduction
of the Amended Charter and the Mining Codes and the DMR endorsed these transactions based on the
principle of HDSA majority ownership and control. This principle should continue to apply in respect
of transactions concluded at that point in time. In addition, the BEE companies’ decision to adopt a
certain controlling stake, to allow themselves to partner with others that may add value to its company,
is not in the control of companies. It is often the result of funding mechanisms, which ensures the
effectiveness of the transaction and allows for transfer of skills. We recommend use of the word

economic interest.
o
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I. Marketing fees

Not applicable in the context of ownership. It forms part of the business operations at asset and equity
level. We propose it be removed.

J. Trickle dividend

This relates to a component of the ownership and the capitalisation of entities as part of those
transactions. Ownership represents the economic participation in an entire operational asset and trickle
dividend viewed in isolation may unduly benefit some companies and prejudice other companies,
when looked at in isolation. E.g. the existence of trickle dividend does not suggest economic value has
been transferred, it is completely independent of overall value of ownership. The reverse also applies,
1.e. the absence of a trickle dividend does not mean no economic value was transferred. We
recommend it be removed.

Process/structure issues

A ‘SAVE” function that allows for review of results entered, so that authorized person may
ultimately use a separate “SUBMIT” function. It is likely that different people may capture
different components and it would be useful to have the flexibility to i) first review and check
captured information, ii) allow different users to capture information and go back to complete or
allow other users to also capture information.

Are the companies with a number of mining rights going to be provided with individual user
names and passwords per mining right? We recommend consideration of link between
transactions and mining rights. E.g. The template seeks to only establish the current values of
the BEE transactions as at the date of measurement, thereby excluding the BEE shares vested
and benefits of rights offerings as per the conditions of the Mining Rights. It is recommended
that a table outlining the BEE status at the time of the granting of Mining Right be inserted and
information with respect to the sale of shares and benefits be covered.

Further consideration could be given to accommodate commodity specific submissions, per
transactions, with allowance for units of production. This may streamline the process and remove
the complexity of collation with company cross holdings, JVs, international assets and asset-
level to equity




